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NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

October 21, 2008
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS:

Notice is hereby given that a special meeting of holders (the "Shareholders") of class "A" common voting 
shares (the "Onefour Shares") of Onefour Energy Ltd. (the "Corporation") will be held at 9:00 a.m. (Calgary 
time) on October 21, 2008 at the offices of Bennett Jones LLP, Suite 4500, 855 – 2nd Street S.W., Calgary, 
Alberta, Canada (the "Meeting") for the following purposes, namely:

1. to consider, and if thought advisable, pass, special resolutions of the Shareholders approving:

(a) the asset purchase and sale agreement between the Corporation and Galleon Energy Inc. 
("Galleon") dated September 11, 2008 (the "Purchase Agreement"), whereby substantially 
all of the assets of the Corporation will be sold to Galleon, a copy of which is attached as 
Appendix A to the accompanying management information circular and proxy statement 
dated September 29, 2008; and

(b) an amendment to the articles of incorporation of the Corporation to consolidate the Onefour 
Shares on the basis of one (1) new Onefour Share (each a "Post Consolidation Onefour 
Share") for each 4,027,846 Onefour Shares held prior to the consolidation (the 
"Consolidation") and a mandatory re-purchase by the Corporation of all fractional interests 
in a Post Consolidation Onefour Share.

2. to transact such other business as may properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Particulars of the matters referred to above are set forth in the accompanying management information circular 
(the "Information Circular").

A Shareholder may attend the Meeting in person or may be represented thereat by proxy.  Shareholders who 
are unable to attend the Meeting in person are requested to date, sign and return the enclosed instrument of 
proxy, or other appropriate form of proxy, in accordance with the instructions set forth in the Information 
Circular.  An instrument of proxy, to be valid and acted upon at the Meeting or any adjournment 
thereof, must be deposited at the offices of the Corporation's counsel, Bennett Jones LLP, located at 
4500, 855 - 2nd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 4K7 (Attention:  Richard Stone) or by 
facsimile at (403) 265-7219 (Attention:  Richard Stone), not less than forty-eight (48) hours (excluding 
Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) prior to the time of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.  A 
proxyholder need not be a Shareholder.  If a Shareholder receives more than one (1) proxy form because such 
Shareholder owns Onefour Shares registered in different names or addresses, each proxy form should be 
completed and returned.

Only Shareholders of record at the close of business on September 29, 2008 (the "Record Date") are entitled 
to notice of, and to vote at, the Meeting or at any adjournment thereof, except that a transferee of Onefour
Shares after the Record Date may, not later than 10 days before the Meeting, establish a right to vote at the 
Meeting by providing evidence of ownership of Onefour Shares and requesting that his or her name be placed 
on the shareholder list for the Meeting in place of the transferor.

DATED at Calgary, Alberta, Canada this 29th day of September, 2008.

By Order of the Board of Directors of Onefour Energy Ltd.

(signed)  "Barry Borak"
Acting President
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MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR

FOR THE

SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

October 21, 2008

Introduction

This management information circular (the "Information Circular") is furnished in connection with the 
solicitation of proxies by and on behalf of the management of Onefour Energy Ltd. ("Onefour" or the 
"Corporation") for use at the special meeting of the holders ("Shareholders") of its class "A" common 
shares (the "Onefour Shares") scheduled to take place on October 21, 2008 (the "Meeting") and any 
adjournment thereof.  No person has been authorized to give any information or make any 
representation in connection with any matters to be considered at the Meeting other than those 
contained in this Information Circular and, if given or made, any such information or representation 
must not be relied upon as having been authorized.

The information pertaining to Galleon Energy Inc. ("Galleon") contained in this Information Circular 
has been provided by Galleon.  Although Onefour has no knowledge that would indicate that any of 
such information is untrue or incomplete, Onefour does not assume any responsibility for the accuracy 
or completeness of such information or the failure by Galleon to disclose events which may have 
occurred or may affect the completeness or accuracy of such information but which are unknown to the 
Corporation.

The information pertaining to the Corporation contained in this Information Circular has been 
provided by the Corporation.  Although Galleon has no knowledge that would indicate that any of such 
information is untrue or incomplete, Galleon does not assume any responsibility for the accuracy or 
completeness of such information or the failure by the Corporation to disclose events which may have 
occurred or may affect the completeness or accuracy of such information but which are unknown to 
Galleon.

All summaries of, and references in this Information Circular to, the asset purchase and sale agreement dated 
September 11, 2008 between Onefour and Galleon (the "Purchase Agreement") are qualified in their entirety 
by reference to the complete text of the Purchase Agreement, a copy of which is attached as Appendix A to 
this Information Circular.  Shareholders are urged to read carefully the full text of the Purchase
Agreement.

All capitalized terms used in this Information Circular but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings set 
forth under "Glossary of Terms" in this Information Circular.  Information contained in this Information 
Circular is given as of September 29, 2008 unless otherwise specifically stated.

Forward-looking statements

This Information Circular, including documents incorporated by reference herein, contains forward-looking 
statements. All statements other than statements of historical fact contained in this Information Circular are 
forward-looking statements.  Readers can identify many of these statements by looking for words such as 
"believe", "expects", "will", "intends", "projects", "anticipates", "estimates", "continues" or similar words or 
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the negative thereof or other comparable terminology.  These forward-looking statements may include, without 
limitation, statements with respect to:  the future financial position, business strategy, proposed acquisitions
and dispositions, budgets, projected costs and plans and objectives of or involving Onefour, Galleon or any of 
their respective affiliates; capital expenditures; access to credit facilities; capital taxes; income taxes; 
commodity prices; administration costs; expectation of future production approval rates; components of cash 
flow and earnings; the timing of the Meeting and for listing of any newly issued shares on stock exchanges and 
the timing thereof.  Actual events or results may differ materially.  Forward-looking statements are based on 
the estimates and opinions of Onefour's and Galleon's management at the time the statements were made.  In 
addition, forward-looking statements may include statements attributable to third party industry sources.  
There can be no assurance that the plans, intentions or expectations upon which these forward-looking 
statements are based will occur.  Forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions, including those discussed below and elsewhere in this Information Circular.  Although it is 
believed that the expectations represented in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, there can be no 
assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct.  Some of the risks which could affect future results 
and could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements contained 
herein include, but are not limited to: the impact of general economic conditions, industry conditions, 
governmental regulation, volatility of commodity prices, currency fluctuations, imprecision of reserve 
estimates, environmental risks, the inability to meet listing standards, the inability to obtain required consents, 
permits or approvals, competition from other industry participants, the lack of availability of qualified 
personnel or management, stock market volatility and the inability to access sufficient capital from internal and 
external sources, and the risk that actual results will vary from the results forecasted and such variations may 
be material.  Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list is not exhaustive.

The reader is further cautioned that the preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
GAAP, and the preparation of the unaudited projected net asset summary, requires management to make 
certain judgments and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.  
Estimating reserves is also critical to several accounting estimates and requires judgments and decisions based 
on available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data.  These estimates may change, having 
either a negative or positive effect on net earnings as further information becomes available, and as the 
economic environment changes.  Statements relating to "reserves" are deemed to be forward-looking 
statements, as they involve the implied assessment, based on certain estimates and assumptions, that the 
reserves described exist in the quantities predicted or estimated, and can be profitably produced in the future.

The information contained in this Information Circular, including the documents incorporated by 
reference herein, and the discussion of risk factors included herein or incorporated by reference herein 
identifies additional factors that could affect the operating results and performance of the Corporation 
and Galleon.  You are urged to carefully consider those factors.

The forward-looking statements contained herein are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary 
statement.  The forward-looking statements included in this Information Circular are made as of the date of 
this Information Circular and neither Onefour nor Galleon undertakes any obligation to publicly update such 
forward-looking statements to reflect new information, subsequent events or otherwise unless so required by 
applicable securities laws.

Advice to Beneficial Holders of Onefour Shares

The information set forth in this section is of significant importance to many Shareholders, as a number of
Shareholders do not hold Onefour Shares in their own name.  Shareholders who do not hold their Onefour
Shares in their own name should note that only proxies deposited by Shareholders whose names appear on the 
records of the Corporation as the registered holders of Onefour Shares can be recognized and acted upon at the 
Meeting.  If Onefour Shares are listed in an account statement provided to a Shareholder by a broker, then in 
almost all cases those Onefour Shares will not be registered in the Shareholder's name on the records of the 
Corporation.  Such Onefour Shares will more likely be registered under the name of the Shareholder's broker 
or an agent of that broker.



3

Although you may not be recognized at the Meeting for the purposes of voting Onefour Shares registered in 
the name of your broker or other intermediary, you may attend at the Meeting as a proxyholder for the 
registered holder and vote your Onefour Shares in that capacity.  If you wish to attend the Meeting and vote 
your own Onefour Shares, you must do so as proxyholder for the registered holder.  To do this, you should 
enter your own name in the blank space on the applicable form of proxy provided to you and return the 
document to your broker or other intermediary (or the agent of such broker or other intermediary) in 
accordance with the instructions provided by such broker, intermediary or agent well in advance of the 
Meeting.

See "General Proxy Information" in this Information Circular.

Currency

All dollar amounts set forth in this Information Circular are in Canadian dollars, except where otherwise 
indicated.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

The following is a glossary of certain terms used in this Information Circular, including the Summary hereof, 
and the Appendices.

"ABCA" means the Business Corporations Act (Alberta), R.S.A. 2000, c. B-9, as amended, including the 
regulations promulgated thereunder;

"Adamant BAR" means the business acquisition report filed July 22, 2008 on SEDAR with respect to 
Galleon's acquisition of Adamant;

"Assets" means substantially all of the assets of Onefour, which are to be sold to Galleon pursuant to, and as 
defined in, the Purchase Agreement;

"Beneficial Shareholders" has the meaning ascribed thereto under the heading "Voting of Onefour Shares –
Advice to Beneficial Holders of Onefour Shares";

"Board of Directors" means the board of directors of Onefour Energy Ltd.;

"boe" means barrel of oil equivalency and is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily 
applicable at the burner tip, of six thousand (6,000) cubic feet per barrel (6 Mcf: 1 bbl) of natural gas to barrels 
of oil equivalence and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead;

"Business Day" means any day, other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a statutory holiday in Calgary, Alberta;

"Canadian GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in Canada applied on a consistent basis;

"Cash Consideration" means six million ($6,000,000) dollars, being the amount of cash payable by Galleon 
to Onefour as partial consideration for the Assets, subject to adjustment pursuant to the terms of the Purchase 
Agreement;

"Closing" means the completion of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, if approved at 
the Meeting;

"Consolidation" means (i) the proposed consolidation of Onefour Shares on the basis of one (1) Post 
Consolidation Onefour Share for every 4,027,846 Onefour Shares held prior to the Consolidation; and (ii) the 
mandatory re-purchase by the Corporation of all fractional interests in a Post Consolidation Onefour Share, all 
as further described in this Information Circular;
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"Consolidation Resolution" means the special resolution of Shareholders whereby the Shareholders will be 
asked to approve or reject the Consolidation, the full text of which is attached as Appendix B hereto;

"Corporation" or "Onefour" means Onefour Energy Ltd.;

"Court" means the Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta;

"CRA" means the Canada Revenue Agency;

"Dissent Rights" means the rights of a Shareholder pursuant to Section 191 of the ABCA to dissent to the 
Purchase Agreement Resolution and to be paid the fair value of its Onefour Shares in respect of which the 
holder dissents, all in accordance with Section 191 of the ABCA;

"Dissenting Shareholders" means registered Shareholders who validly exercise and have not withdrawn their 
Dissent Rights;

"ExAlta BAR" means the business acquisition report filed March 28, 2008 on SEDAR with respect to 
Galleon's acquisition of Exalta Energy Inc;

"Fractional Interest" means, a Shareholder's interest in a fraction of one (1) Post Consolidation Onefour 
Share, pursuant to the terms of, and subsequent to, the Consolidation;

"Fractional Share Consideration" means the aggregate consideration, consisting of cash and Galleon Shares,
to be paid by Onefour to Shareholders in exchange for their Fractional Interests;

"Galleon" means Galleon Energy Inc.;

"Galleon AIF" means the Annual Information Form of Galleon for the year ended December 31, 2007, as filed 
on SEDAR on March 28, 2008;

"Galleon Class B Shares" means class B shares in the capital of Galleon;

"Galleon Share Valuation Date" means the effective date of the Consolidation, at which time the fair market 
value of the Galleon Shares will be calculated based on the five (5) day volume weighted average trading price 
of the Galleon Shares on the TSX for the purposes of the valuation of the Corporation, the Consolidation, and 
the distribution of the Fractional Share Consideration;

"Galleon Shares" means class A shares in the capital of Galleon Energy Inc.;

"Huff B.V." means The Huff Alternative Netherlands, B.V.;

"Information Circular" means this management information circular and proxy statement of the Corporation
dated September 29, 2008 mailed by the Corporation to Shareholders in connection with the Meeting;

"insider" has the meaning ascribed thereto by the Securities Act;

"Instrument of Proxy" means the instrument of proxy accompanying this Information Circular to be 
completed by Shareholders if they wish to appoint a proxy to vote their Onefour Shares at the Meeting;

"Letter of Transmittal Form" means the letter of transmittal form accompanying this Information Circular 
pursuant to which, inter alia, a Shareholder is required to deliver such Shareholder's certificates representing 
Onefour Shares to the Corporation;

"Meeting" means the special meeting of Shareholders to be held on October 21, 2008 at the offices of Bennett 
Jones LLP, Suite 4500, 855 – 2nd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta and any adjournment or postponement thereof;
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"Net Average Daily Sales Volume" means the total quantity, in boe, of Petroleum Substances (as that term is 
defined in the Purchase Agreement) produced from the Assets during the period from August 1, 2008 to and 
including August 31, 2008 based upon tank truck tickets, pipeline tickets, and/or bills of lading for loaded sales 
volumes of such Petroleum Substances, divided by 31 days;

"NI 45-102" means National Instrument 45-102 – Resale of Securities;

"NI 51-101" means National Instrument 51-101 - Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities;

"Non-Resident" means a person who, for the purposes of the Tax Act and any applicable tax treaty or 
convention, is not, and is not deemed to be resident in Canada;

"Non-Resident Holder" means a Shareholder who is a Non-Resident and who does not use or hold, and is not 
deemed to use or hold, Onefour Shares in connection with carrying on a business in Canada;

"Notice of Meeting" means the notice of the Meeting which accompanies this Information Circular;

"Onefour Shares" means the class "A" common shares in the capital of Onefour, as constituted on the date 
hereof;

"Parties" means Onefour and Galleon and "Party" means either one of them;

"person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, association, trust, joint venture, unincorporated 
organization and any government, government department or agency or political subdivision thereof;

"Post Consolidation Onefour Shares" means the class "A" common shares in the capital of Onefour as 
constituted subsequent to the Consolidation;

"Purchase Agreement" means the asset purchase and sale agreement dated September 11, 2008 between 
Onefour and Galleon whereby Onefour agreed to sell and Galleon agreed to purchase the Assets, the full text 
of which is attached as Appendix A hereto;

"Purchase Agreement Resolution" means the special resolution of Shareholders whereby the Shareholders 
will be asked to approve or reject the sale of the Assets and the transactions contemplated by the Purchase 
Agreement, the full text of which is attached as Appendix B hereto;

"Purchase Price" means the price to be paid by Galleon in exchange for the Assets.

"Record Date" means September 26, 2008, being the record date for determining a Shareholder's right to vote 
at the Meeting;

"Resident" means a person who for the purposes of the Tax Act and any applicable income tax treaty or 
convention is, or is deemed to be, resident in Canada at the relevant time;

"Resident Holder" means a Shareholder who is not a Non-Resident for purposes of the Tax Act;

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act (Alberta), R.S.A. 200 c. S-4, as amended, including the regulations 
and rules promulgated thereunder;

"SEDAR" means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval which can be accessed at 
www.sedar.com;

"Share Consideration" means 215,000 Galleon Shares issuable by Galleon to Onefour as partial consideration 
for the Assets pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement;

www.sedar.com;
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"Shareholder" means, prior to the Consolidation, a holder of Onefour Shares, and subsequent to the 
Consolidation, if approved, a holder of Post Consolidation Onefour Shares;

"Special Resolutions" means collectively, the Purchase Agreement Resolution and the Consolidation 
Resolution;

"Tax Act" means the Income Tax Act (Canada), R.S.C. 1985, c. 1. (5th Supp), including the regulations 
promulgated thereunder, as amended from time to time;

"Transaction" means, collectively, the purchase and sale of the Assets pursuant to the Purchase Agreement 
and the Consolidation;

"Transmittal Deadline" means 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on October 20, 2008;

"TSX" means the Toronto Stock Exchange; and

"WRH" means WRH Energy Partners II, LLC.

ABBREVIATIONS

Crude Oil Natural Gas
bbls Barrels
bbls/d barrels per day Mcf thousand cubic feet
boe barrels of oil equivalent MMcf million cubic feet
boe/d barrels of oil equivalent per day Mcf/d thousand cubic feet per day
Mbbls thousands of barrels Mcfe thousand cubic feet equivalent
Mbbls/d thousands of barrels per day
Mboe thousands of barrels of oil equivalent

M$ thousands of dollars

Barrel of oil equivalency

The term barrels of oil equivalent or boe may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation.  A boe 
conversion ratio of six thousand cubic feet per barrel (6 Mcf: 1 bbl) of natural gas to barrels of oil 
equivalence is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip 
and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead.  

Thousand cubic feet of gas equivalency

The term Mcfe may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation.  An Mcfe conversion ratio of one 
barrel of oil to six thousand cubic feet of natural gas (1 bbl: 6 Mcf) equivalence is based on an energy 
equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value 
equivalency at the wellhead.
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GENERAL PROXY INFORMATION

This Information Circular is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the management of the 
Corporation for use at the Meeting for the purposes set forth in the accompanying Notice of Meeting.

Solicitation of proxies by management

Solicitation of proxies will be primarily by mail, but may also be by telephone, facsimile, electronic or other 
oral or written means of communication by the directors, officers and employees of the Corporation, at no 
additional compensation.  The cost of the solicitation of proxies by management will be borne by the 
Corporation.

Appointment of proxy

The persons named in the accompanying Instrument of Proxy are directors and/or officers of the Corporation.  
A Shareholder submitting an Instrument of Proxy has the right to appoint a person or company other 
than the persons designated in the Instrument of Proxy (who need not be a Shareholder) to represent 
such Shareholder at the Meeting.  To exercise this right, the Shareholder must strike out the names of the 
management designees and insert the name of the desired representative in the blank space provided in the 
Instrument of Proxy or submit an alternative appropriate form of proxy.

Signing and submitting the Instrument of Proxy

The Instrument of Proxy must be in writing and must be executed by the Shareholder or the Shareholder's 
attorney authorized in writing or, if the Shareholder is a corporation, under its corporate seal or by a duly 
authorized officer or attorney of the corporate Shareholder.  An Instrument of Proxy signed by a person acting 
as attorney or in some other representative capacity should indicate such person's capacity following his or her 
signature and should be accompanied by the appropriate instrument evidencing the qualification and authority 
to act (unless such instrument has previously been provided to the Corporation).

An Instrument of Proxy will not be valid unless it is deposited at the office of the Corporation's counsel, 
Bennett Jones LLP, Suite 4500, 855 - 2nd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 4K7 (Attention:  
Richard Stone) or by facsimile at (403) 265-7219 (Attention: Richard Stone) not less than forty-eight (48) 
hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) before the time of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Revocation of proxy

A Shareholder who has submitted an Instrument of Proxy may revoke it by delivering an instrument in writing 
executed by such Shareholder or by such Shareholder's attorney authorized in writing or, if the Shareholder is a 
corporation, under its corporate seal or by a duly authorized officer or attorney thereof, to: (a) the office of the 
Corporation, 800, 510 – 5th Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 3S2 (Attention:  President), at any time 
up to and including the last business day preceding the day of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof; or 
(b) the chair of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.  An Instrument of Proxy 
may also be revoked by the Registered Holder personally attending at the Meeting and voting such 
Shareholder's Onefour Shares or in any other manner permitted by law.

Voting of proxies and exercise of discretion by proxyholders

The persons named in the Instrument of Proxy will vote the Onefour Shares in respect of which they are 
appointed in accordance with the direction of the Shareholders appointing them.  In the absence of such 
direction, the Onefour Shares will be voted FOR the matters referred to in the Notice of Meeting and in 
this Information Circular.

The Instrument of Proxy confers discretionary authority on the persons named therein with respect to 
amendments or variations to matters identified in the Notice and with respect to other matters which 
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may properly be brought before the Meeting.  At the time of printing this Information Circular, 
management of the Corporation knows of no amendments, variations or other matters to come before the 
Meeting, other than those matters referred to in the Notice of Meeting.  If any new matters or variations or 
amendments to the matters referred to in the Notice of Meeting properly come before the Meeting, the persons 
named in the Instrument of Proxy will vote on such matters in accordance with their best judgment.

VOTING OF ONEFOUR SHARES

Voting securities

As at September 26, 2008 (the "Record Date") there were 65,283,493 Onefour Shares issued and outstanding.  
Each Onefour Share carries the right to one (1) vote at any meeting of the Shareholders.  Other than the 
Onefour Shares, there are no other securities of the Corporation issued and outstanding which would entitle the 
holder thereof to vote at the Meeting.

Record date

Only Shareholders of record at the close of business on the Record Date are entitled to receive notice of, 
and to vote at, the Meeting or any adjournment thereof, except that a transferee of Onefour Shares after the 
Record Date may, not later than 10 days before the Meeting, establish a right to vote at the Meeting by 
providing evidence of ownership of Onefour Shares and requesting that his or her name be placed on the 
shareholder list for the Meeting in place of the transferor.

Advice to Beneficial Shareholders

The information set forth in this section is of significant importance to many Shareholders, as a substantial 
number of Shareholders do not hold Onefour Shares in their own name.  Shareholders who do not hold their 
Onefour Shares in their own name (referred to herein as "Beneficial Shareholders") should note that only 
proxies deposited by Shareholders whose names appear on the records of the Corporation as the registered 
holders of Onefour Shares can be recognized and acted upon at the Meeting.  If Onefour Shares are listed in an 
account statement provided to a Shareholder by a broker, then, in almost all cases, those Onefour Shares will 
not be registered in the Shareholder's name on the records of the Corporation.  Such Onefour Shares will more 
likely be registered under the names of the Shareholder's broker or an agent of that broker.  Onefour Shares 
held by brokers or their agents or nominees can only be voted upon receipt of the instructions of the Beneficial 
Shareholder.  Without specific instructions, a broker and its agents and nominees are prohibited from voting 
Onefour Shares for the broker's clients.  Therefore, Beneficial Shareholders should ensure that either: 
(a) instructions respecting the voting of their Onefour Shares are communicated to the appropriate person, be it 
the Shareholder's broker or agent of the broker well in advance of the Meeting; or (b) that the Onefour Shares 
are duly registered in their name.

Although a Beneficial Shareholder may not be recognized directly at the Meeting for the purposes of voting 
Onefour Shares registered in the name of his or her intermediary (or an agent of the intermediary), a Beneficial 
Shareholder may attend the Meeting as a proxyholder for the registered Shareholder and vote the Onefour
Shares in that capacity.  Beneficial Shareholders who wish to attend the Meeting and indirectly vote their 
Shares as proxyholder for the registered Shareholder should enter their own names in the blank space on the 
instrument of proxy or voting instruction form provided to them by their broker (or agent) and return the same 
to their broker (or the agent of the broker) in accordance with the instructions provided by such broker (or 
agent), well in advance of the Meeting.
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

To the knowledge of the directors and executive officers of Onefour, no person or company beneficially owns, 
or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, Onefour Shares carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attached 
to all the issued and outstanding Onefour Shares as at the date hereof, except for the following:

Name Onefour Shares
Percentage of Onefour Shares Owned, 

Controlled or Directed

WRH Partners II, LLC(1) 41,666,666 63.82%

Note:
(1) Onefour Shares are indirectly held through the following entities in the following numbers and percentages: (i) Huff B.V.

(37,638,820 Onefour Shares / 57.65%); and (ii) Huff-Onefour L.P. (4,027,846 Onefour Shares / 6.17%).

MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON AT THE MEETING

At the Meeting, Shareholders will be asked to vote on two (2) special resolutions (collectively the "Special
Resolutions"): (i) the Purchase Agreement Resolution will ask Shareholders to approve the sale of the Assets 
to Galleon pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement; and (ii) the Consolidation Resolution will ask
Shareholders to approve a consolidation of the outstanding Onefour Shares on the basis of one (1) Post 
Consolidation Onefour Share for every 4,027,846 Onefour Shares held immediately prior to the Consolidation 
and a mandatory re-purchase by the Corporation of each Fractional Interest.  Both the Purchase Agreement and 
the Consolidation are described in more detail below.  The full text of the Special Resolutions can be found at 
Appendix B attached hereto.

To be passed, each of the Special Resolutions must be approved by at least 66⅔% of the votes cast by 
Shareholders voting at the Meeting either in person or by proxy.

Summary of the Purchase Agreement and the Consolidation

On September 11, 2008, Onefour and Galleon executed and delivered the Purchase Agreement setting out the 
terms and conditions relating to the sale of the Assets to Galleon.

The following summary of the Purchase Agreement is qualified in its entirety by the text of the Purchase 
Agreement attached hereto as Appendix A.

Purchase Price

The Purchase Agreement provides for the sale by Onefour and the purchase by Galleon of the Assets in 
exchange for the Share Consideration and the Cash Consideration.

Conditions to Closing

The Purchase Agreement requires that Closing be completed on or prior to October 22, 2008.

The obligation of Galleon to complete the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, including the 
purchase of the Assets from the Corporation, is subject to the following conditions precedent for the exclusive 
benefit of Galleon:

(a) the representations and warranties of the Corporation set forth in the Purchase Agreement 
shall be true and correct in all material respects and all obligations and covenants of the 
Corporation in the Purchase Agreement that are to be performed or complied with by the 
Corporation prior to or at the Closing Time (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) shall have 
been performed or complied with in all material respects;
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(b) at the Closing Time, the Corporation shall have duly delivered the agreements, certificates 
and other instruments and documents required pursuant to the Purchase Agreement;

(c) no Governmental Authority (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) shall have issued an 
order, decree or ruling or taken any other action restraining, enjoining or otherwise 
prohibiting the completion of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement 
which has not been vacated or dismissed prior to the Closing Time;

(d) at or before the Closing Time, TSX Approval (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) shall 
have been issued on terms and conditions satisfactory to Galleon, acting reasonably;

(e) on or before the Closing Date (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) Shareholder approval 
with respect to the Purchase Agreement Resolution and the Consolidation Resolution shall 
have been obtained; and

(f) at or before the Closing Time, all approvals and authorizations in respect of the transactions 
contemplated by the Purchase Agreement required to be obtained prior to Closing shall have 
been obtained on terms acceptable to the Galleon acting reasonably.

The obligation of the Corporation to complete the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, 
including to sell and convey the Assets to Galleon, is subject to the following conditions precedent for the 
exclusive benefit of the Corporation:

(a) the representations and warranties of Galleon set forth in the Purchase Agreement shall be 
true and correct in all material respects, and all obligations and covenants of Galleon in the 
Purchase Agreement that are to be performed or complied with by Galleon prior to or at the 
Closing Time shall have been performed or complied with in all material respects;

(b) at the Closing Time, Galleon shall have duly made and delivered the payments, agreements, 
certificates and other instruments and documents required pursuant to the Purchase 
Agreement;

(c) no Governmental Authority shall have issued an order, decree or ruling or taken any other 
action restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the completion of the transactions 
contemplated by the Purchase Agreement which has not been vacated or dismissed prior to 
the Closing Time;

(d) on or before the Closing Time, Shareholder approval with respect to the Purchase Agreement 
Resolution and the Consolidation Resolution shall have been obtained; and

(e) at or before the Closing Time, all approvals and authorizations in respect of the transactions 
contemplated by the Purchase Agreement required to be obtained prior to Closing shall have 
been obtained on terms acceptable to the Corporation acting reasonably.

Deposit

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Galleon has paid a deposit of $920,350.00 (the "Deposit") which amount 
is held by Bennett Jones LLP in trust to be released to the either the Corporation or Galleon in accordance with 
the terms of the Purchase Agreement.  If Closing occurs as contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, the 
Corporation and Galleon will direct that the Deposit, including any applicable interest thereon (the "Deposit 
Interest") be released to the Corporation as part of the Cash Consideration.  If the Purchase Agreement is 
terminated prior to Closing, the Corporation and Galleon shall direct Bennett Jones LLP to release the Deposit 
and the Deposit Interest as contemplated in the Purchase Agreement.
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Termination

If any of the conditions precedent for the benefit of Galleon in Clause 3.1(a) of the Purchase Agreement (as
summarized above) have not been satisfied, complied with or waived by Galleon at or before the time 
specified in the Purchase Agreement, Galleon may terminate the Purchase Agreement by written notice to the 
Corporation prior to the Closing Time. Following any such termination of the Purchase Agreement by 
Galleon, the Corporation and Galleon shall instruct Bennett Jones LLP to return the Deposit, together the 
Deposit Interest, to Galleon.

If any of the conditions precedent for the benefit of the Corporation in Clause 3.2(a) of the Purchase 
Agreement (as summarized above) have not been satisfied, complied with or waived by the Corporation at or 
before the time specified in the Purchase Agreement, the Corporation may terminate the Purchase Agreement 
by written notice to Galleon prior to the Closing Time.  If the Corporation terminates the Purchase Agreement 
as a consequence of the conditions precedent relating to the representations and warranties or the required 
closing deliveries of Galleon not having been satisfied or complied with as contemplated by the Purchase 
Agreement, and provided that Galleon did not concurrently have the right to terminate the Purchase 
Agreement, then the Corporation and Galleon shall instruct Bennett Jones LLP to release the Deposit, together 
the Deposit Interest, to the Corporation and the Corporation shall be entitled to retain the Deposit and the 
Deposit Interest as liquidated damages.

Non-completion fee

Onefour will be required to pay $920,350.00, plus GST, if applicable to Galleon if at any time after the date of 
execution of the Purchase Agreement and prior to termination of the Purchase Agreement, any of the following 
occur:

(a) the Board of Directors fails to recommend that the Shareholders vote in favour of the 
transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement; withdraws, modifies or changes any of 
its recommendations, approvals, resolutions or determinations referred to in Clause 7.4(a) of 
the Purchase Agreement in a manner adverse to the transactions contemplated by the 
Purchase Agreement or to Galleon, or shall have resolved to do so, or fails to promptly 
reaffirm any of its recommendations, approvals, resolutions or determinations referred to in 
Clause 7.4(a) of the Purchase Agreement upon request from time to time by Galleon to do so;

(b) the Board of Directors shall have recommended that the Shareholders deposit their Onefour 
shares under, or vote in favour of, or otherwise accept a Take-Over Proposal (as defined in 
the Purchase Agreement);

(c) Onefour accepts, recommends, approves or enters into an agreement with respect to a 
Take-Over Proposal (other than under the Purchase Agreement) or a confidentiality 
agreement contemplated by Clause 7.5(b)(v) of the Purchase Agreement prior to completion 
of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement;

(d) prior to the date of the Meeting, another bona fide Take-Over Proposal is publicly announced 
or made to all or substantially all of the Shareholders or to Onefour and at the date of the  
Meeting such Take-Over Proposal shall not have expired or been withdrawn; and the 
transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement are not approved by the Shareholders 
at the Meeting;

(e) the Purchase Agreement Resolution has not been passed on or before October 22, 2008; or

(f) Onefour shall have taken any action or have failed to take any action that results in Onefour 
being in breach of any of its covenants, agreements, representations or warranties made in the 
Purchase Agreement (without giving effect to any materiality qualifiers contained therein) 
which breach individually or in the aggregate causes or would reasonably be expected to 
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cause a material adverse change in respect of Onefour or materially impede the completion of 
the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement or the Reorganization (as defined 
in the Purchase Agreement), and Onefour fails to cure such breach within three Business 
Days (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) after receipt of written notice thereof from 
Galleon.

Purchase Price adjustments

The total amount of consideration under the Purchase Agreement payable by Galleon in exchange for the 
Assets will be reduced by an amount equal to the product of: (i) the amount, if any, by which the Net Average 
Daily Sales Volume is less than 100 boe/d; and (ii) $90,000 per boe/d.  This adjustment will be reflected in the 
amount of the Cash Consideration paid at Closing.  Management currently anticipates that the Purchase Price 
will not be adjusted as a result of the production adjustment.  The effective date of the Purchase Agreement is 
September 1, 2008 and Galleon will be entitled to all net revenues occurring between September 1, 2008 and 
the anticipated date of Closing, October 22, 2008.  Management expects the adjustment in relation to the 
effective date to result in a decrease of $265,200 in the amount of cash payable by Galleon at Closing. The 
actual amount of the adjustment however, may be higher or lower than that amount.

Shareholders wishing to review more information in relation to the Purchase Agreement should refer to the 
copy of the Purchase Agreement attached hereto as Appendix A.

Structure of the Corporation immediately after completion of the transactions contemplated by the 
Purchase Agreement

COMPLETION OF THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED THEREIN REPRESENTS THE SALE OF SUBSTANTIALLY ALL OF THE 
ASSETS OF THE CORPORATION.  Subsequent to the closing of the transactions contemplated by the 
Purchase Agreement (the "Closing"), the Corporation's only assets will be 215,000 Galleon Shares, the Cash 
Consideration (as adjusted at Closing) and those assets that are excluded from the sale to Galleon pursuant to 
the Purchase Agreement.  Based on the estimates described below, the projected value of the Corporation's 
assets immediately subsequent to the Closing and prior to the payment by the Corporation of its outstanding 
bank debt and accrued interest, are $8,606,894; and its projected liabilities are $4,924,464.

Basis for calculating the value of a Onefour Share

For the purposes of providing the projected information contained in this Information Circular, the price of 
$10.25 per Galleon Share has been used which represents the TSX posted closing price per Galleon Share on 
September 26, 2008.  Accordingly, at the time of the printing of this Information Circular the aggregate 
consideration for which the Assets are to be sold is valued at $7,938,550, consisting of the Cash Consideration 
of $5,734,800, which takes into account management's current estimate for net revenues to which Galleon is 
entitled between the effective date of the Purchase Agreement and the date of Closing, of $265,200, and the 
Share Consideration at a deemed value of $2,203,750.  Assuming this valuation method, the chart below 
illustrates the estimated net assets of the Corporation: (i) immediately prior to the Closing; (ii) immediately 
after the Closing; (iii) immediately subsequent to the discharge of the Corporation's bank debt; and 
(iv) immediately subsequent to the Consolidation and the re-purchase of Fractional Interests (other than in 
relation to Huff B.V.).

The chart reflects management's projected estimates of the actual net asset value for Onefour based on the 
realizable cash value of Onefour's assets and liabilities.  The values indicated are estimates based on 
management's best estimates, and incorporate the consideration receivable by Onefour for the sale of the 
Assets pursuant to the Purchase Agreement.  The estimates reflect events and changes in the value of Onefour's 
Assets that occured subsequent to June 30, 2008 and have not been prepared in accordance with Canadian 
GAAP.
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Estimated Net Asset Summary

Projected Net Asset Summary
(i) 

Prior to Closing
(ii) 

Post Closing

(iii) 
Post Discharge of 
Bank Debt and 

Prior to 
Consolidation

(iv) 
Post Consolidation
and Re-purchase 

of Fractional 
Interests(10)

Cash(1) 0 5,734,800 2,240,958 1,801,972

Galleon Shares at $10.25 per share 0 2,203,750 2,203,750 1,406,526

Huff B.V. Fractional Interest(11) - - - 72,659
Oil & gas properties —Senex(2) 8,203,750 0 0 0
Oil & gas properties — all other(3) 33,500 33,500 33,500 33,500

Corporate shell value(4) 220,276 220,276 220,276 220,276
Other assets(5) 149,368 149,368 149,368 149,368

Total assets 8,606,894 8,341,694 4,847,852 3,684,301

Bank debt(6) (3,450,000) (3,450,000) 0 0

Accrued interest to Closing (43,842) (43,842) 0 0

Estimated Transaction Expenses(7) (530,000) (530,000) (530,000) (530,000)
Other Current Liabilities(8) (700,000) (700,000) (700,000) (700,000)
ERCB deemed liability, net(9) (200,623) (200,623) (200,623) (200,623)
Re-purchase of Huff B.V. 
Fractional Interest(11) 0 0 0 (72,659)
Total Liabilities (4,924,464) (4,924,464) (1,430,623) (1,503,282)

Net assets 3,682,429 3,417,229 3,417,229 2,181,019(11)

(1) Assumes adjustment at closing of $265,200, which reflects management's estimate of Galleon's entitlement to net revenues between the 
effective date of the Purchase Agreement, September 1, 2008 and the date of Closing, October 22, 2008.

(2) Based on the price determined in the Purchase Agreement and includes the Berkley Receivable.

(3) Represents estimated value of reserves at Pendor .  Dixonville reserves were assigned no net value due to the costs associated with well re-
entry, production equipment and road construction.

(4) The Corporation has various loss carry forwards that may have value; however, the ability to realize on this value is uncertain.

(5) Other assets, at estimated liquidation value, are as follows:

Other Assets
Estimated 

Realizable Value Reason
Royalty deposit 17,280 

Leaseholds 65,280 Based on the current market rate for the acreage; deemed to be 
prospective

Field Equipment 14,335 Salvage value

Brian Johnston receivable 52,473 Estimated as collectible 

Totals 149,368
(6) Estimate from September 12, 2008 bank statement.
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(7) Transaction expenses are estimated to include the following:
Severance/compensation 145,000 
Professional fees 385,000 

Total 530,000
(8) Includes expected cost to resolve outstanding litigation including professional fees.

(9) This amount represents a deposit to the Energy Resources Conservation Board ("ERCB") in relation to environmental liabilities for the 
properties not being sold.  This liability increases at an estimated rate of approximately $5,000 per month based on historic increases; the 
estimate is through the middle of December, 2008.

(10) Assumes pro-rata distribution of Galleon Shares.

(11) For the purposes of the projected net asset summary, the Corporation is shown as deferring the payment of the Huff B.V. Fractional Interest 
of $72,659 and including a liability equal to the same amount payable to Huff B.V.  Accordingly, the post Consolidation net asset value of 
the Corporation (to which WRH will be entitled by virtue of owning the two (2) remaining Shareholders, Huff B.V. and Huff-Onefour L.P.) 
will equal the value of WRH's indirectly held interest in the Corporation prior to the Consolidation.

The projected net asset summary above shows the approximate net asset value available to be distributed to the 
Shareholders immediately prior to the Consolidation to be $3,417,229, which represents a value per Onefour 
Share of $0.0523.

THE CALCULATIONS CONTAINED HEREIN ARE INTENDED TO BE ILLUSTRATIVE ONLY AND 
WILL VARY TO THE EXTENT: (I) THAT THE CASH CONSIDERATION IS ADJUSTED AT CLOSING
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT; (II) THAT THE VALUE 
OF THE GALLEON SHARES FLUCTUATES BETWEEN SEPTEMBER 26, 2008 AND THE GALLEON 
SHARE VALUATION DATE; AND (III) THAT THE ACTUAL VALUES OF THE ASSETS AND 
LIABILITIES CHANGES BETWEEN THE DATE OF THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR AND THE 
CONSOLIDATION.

THE CORPORATION HAS MADE ITS BEST EFFORTS TO ASSESS THE VALUE OF THE 
REMAINING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES. NO ASSURANCE CAN BE GIVEN THAT THE ACTUAL 
VALUE OF THE ASSETS, INCLUDING THE AMOUNTS AVAILABLE TO SATISFY THE 
LIABILITIES, WILL CORRESPOND TO THE ABOVE ESTIMATES.  THE ACTUAL VALUES OF THE 
ASSETS AND THE LIABILITIES MAY BE GREATER THAN OR LESS THAN THE AMOUNTS 
STATED ABOVE.

THE ACTUAL NET ASSETS OF THE CORPORATION WILL BE DETERMINED ON THE DATE OF 
THE CONSOLIDATION FOR THE PURPOSES OF CALCULATING THE FRACTIONAL SHARE 
CONSIDERATION PAYABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS FOR THE MANDATORY RE-PURCHASE OF 
THEIR FRACTIONAL INTERESTS.

Approval of the Purchase Agreement

Pursuant to the requirements of the ABCA, to be passed, the Purchase Agreement Resolution and the sale of 
substantially all of Onefour's assets pursuant thereto must be approved by at least 66⅔% of the votes cast by 
Shareholders, voting at the Meeting either in person or by proxy.  WRH, which indirectly owns or controls 
63.82% of the outstanding Onefour Shares, intends to cause those Onefour Shares held by WRH to be voted in 
favour of the Purchase Agreement Resolution.

Consolidation of Onefour Shares

Subsequent to the closing of the purchase and sale of the Assets pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, and as 
soon as is practicable, the Corporation proposes to complete the Consolidation (the Consolidation and the 
closing of the Purchase Agreement together constituting the "Transaction") whereby the Onefour Shares will 
be consolidated on the basis of 1 whole Post Consolidation Onefour Share for each 4,027,846 Onefour Shares 
held immediately prior to the effective time of the Consolidation and all Fractional Interests will be re-
purchased by the Corporation.  Completion of the Consolidation and the mandatory re-purchase of the 
Fractional Interests is contingent upon Shareholder approval of the Purchase Agreement Resolution, 
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the Consolidation Resolution and the completion of all transactions contemplated by the Purchase 
Agreement.

The Corporation currently has 65,283,493 Onefour Shares issued and outstanding.  Prior to the Consolidation, 
no Shareholder owns 4,027,846 or greater Onefour Shares other than Huff B.V. and Huff-Onefour L.P. which 
hold 37,638,820 and 4,027,846 Onefour Shares respectively.  If the Consolidation is completed, all 
Shareholders other than Huff-Onefour L.P. will be entitled to a Fractional Interest.  Huff B.V. will be 
the holder of approximately 9.345 Post Consolidation Onefour Shares and will have its Fractional 
Interest re-purchased by the Corporation and Huff-Onefour L.P. will be the holder of one (1) whole Post 
Consolidation Onefour Share.

Treatment of Fractional Interests

The Corporation does not intend to issue certificates for Fractional Interests upon completion of the 
Consolidation.  Assuming that there are no Dissenting Shareholders, all Shareholders other than Huff-Onefour 
L.P. will be entitled to a Fractional Interest as a result of the Consolidation.  As part of the Consolidation, 
Onefour intends to re-purchase all Fractional Interests on a mandatory basis pursuant to paragraph 35(1)(b) of 
the ABCA.

On the date of the Consolidation, and immediately prior to the filing of articles of amendment to give effect to 
the Consolidation, management of Onefour will determine the net asset value of the Corporation and the 
aggregate Fractional Share Consideration.

The aggregate Fractional Share Consideration (excluding the amount to be paid to Huff B.V. for the re-
purchase of its Fractional Interest) will be equal to 36.18% of the net asset value of the Corporation on the date 
of the Consolidation as determined by the Board of Directors, acting reasonably and in good faith, and will be 
comprised of cash and up to 77,787 Galleon Shares (being 36.18% of the Galleon Shares received by Onefour 
pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement).  The aggregate value of the cash and Galleon Shares 
payable to Shareholders (other than Huff B.V.) who are entitled to a Fractional Interest for the mandatory re-
purchase of their Fractional Interests will be equivalent to 36.18% of the net asset value of the Corporation 
immediately prior to the Consolidation.

Immediately subsequent to the Consolidation, each Shareholder entitled to a Fractional Interest will be entitled 
to receive, as consideration for its Fractional Interest, its pro-rata share of the Fractional Share Consideration.  
The value of the Galleon Shares will be determined at the time of the Consolidation based on the five (5) day 
volume weighted average trading price per Galleon Share on the TSX on the Galleon Share Valuation Date.  If 
a Shareholder is entitled to receive a combination of cash and Galleon Shares, fractional Galleon Shares will 
not be issued but will be rounded down to the nearest whole number of Galleon Shares, with any fractional 
portion thereof paid in cash based on the determined price per Galleon Share.

In order to receive either (i) in the case of a Resident Shareholder, the Galleon Shares and cash; or (ii) in the 
case of a Non-Resident Shareholder, the cash, to which it is entitled, a Shareholder must fill out and submit, to 
the address set forth therein, the Letter of Transmittal Form on or before the Transmittal Deadline, together 
with the certificates evidencing such Shareholder's Onefour Shares held prior to the Consolidation (unless such 
Onefour Share certificates are held by the Corporation).

Fractional Interests of Resident Shareholders

Shareholders who are Residents will be entitled to receive a combination of cash and Galleon Shares as 
consideration for the re-purchase of their Fractional Interests.

Fractional Interests of Non-Resident Shareholders

Shareholders who are Non-Residents will be entitled to receive cash only as consideration for the re-purchase 
of their Fractional Interests.
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WHERE A SHAREHOLDER HAS NOT SUBMITTED A LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL FORM, FOR THE 
PURPOSES OF DETERMINING THE COMPOSITION OF THAT SHAREHOLDER'S ENTITLEMENT TO 
FRACTIONAL SHARE CONSIDERATION, SUCH SHAREHOLDER WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE 
INDICATED TO THE CORPORATION THAT IT IS A RESIDENT HOLDER OR NON-RESIDENT 
HOLDER AS CURRENTLY RECORDED IN THE CORPORATION'S SHAREHOLDER REGISTER.
NOTWITHSTANDING THIS DETERMINATION, THE CORPORATION WILL WITHHOLD AND 
REMIT THE APPLICABLE WITHHOLDING TAX TO THE CRA AS IF SUCH SHAREHOLDER WERE 
A NON-RESIDENT HOLDER.

EACH SHAREHOLDER'S ENTITLEMENT TO THEIR PRO RATA FRACTIONAL SHARE 
CONSIDERATION WILL BE AUTOMATICALLY SENT TO THE ADDRESS SHOWN ON THE 
REGISTER OF SHAREHOLDERS MAINTAINED BY ONEFOUR UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED 
PURSUANT TO A DULY COMPLETED AND SUBMITTED LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL FORM.  ALL 
SUCH ENTITLEMENTS THAT ARE RETURNED TO VALIANT TRUST COMPANY AS 
UNDELIVERABLE SHALL BE HELD BY VALIANT TRUST COMPANY FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE 
APPLICABLE SHAREHOLDER PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF AN AGREEMENT TO BE ENTERED 
INTO BETWEEN ONEFOUR AND VALIANT TRUST COMPANY.  THE TERMS OF SUCH 
AGREEMENT WILL PROVIDE THAT ANY ENTITLEMENT TO A PRO RATA PORTION OF THE 
FRACTIONAL SHARE CONSIDERATION NOT PAID TO THE APPLICABLE SHAREHOLDER PRIOR 
TO THE DATE THAT IS FIVE YEARS LESS ONE DAY FROM THE DATE OF THE CONSOLIDATION 
SHALL BE RETURNED TO THE CORPORATION OR FORFEITED TO THE GOVERNMENT IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW.  ON SUCH DATE, THE APPLICABLE SHAREHOLDER 
SHALL CEASE TO HAVE ANY RIGHT OR CLAIM OF ANY KIND OR NATURE WITH RESPECT TO 
THEIR ENTITLEMENT TO THEIR PRO RATA FRACTIONAL SHARE CONSIDERATION AND THEIR 
ENTITLEMENT TO THEIR PRO RATA FRACTIONAL SHARE CONSIDERATION SHALL BE 
DEEMED TO HAVE BEEN SURRENDERED FOR NO CONSIDERATION TO ONEFOUR.

Sample calculations of a Shareholder's entitlement to consideration for re-purchase of its Fractional Interest

Based on the above net asset summary, which estimates the net asset value per Onefour Share at $0.0523 and 
assigns a deemed value to the Galleon Shares of $10.25, a Shareholder that owns 500,000 Onefour Shares will 
be entitled to Fractional Share Consideration having a value of $26,172, which Fraction Share Consideration 
will be paid as follows:

(a) in the case of a Shareholder that duly delivers on or before the Transmittal Deadline his 
Onefour Shares together with a properly completed Letter of Transmittal Form that indicates 
he is a Resident Holder, the Shareholder will receive 1,647 Galleon Shares having a deemed 
value of $16,881.75 (being the Shareholder's pro rata share of the Share Consideration) and 
$9,290.25 in cash;

(b) in the case of a Shareholder that is shown on the register of Shareholders maintained by 
Onefour to be a Canadian resident that does not duly deliver his Onefour Shares together with 
a properly completed Letter of Transmittal Form on or before the Transmittal Deadline, the 
Shareholder will be entitled to receive 1,647 Galleon Shares having a deemed value of 
$16,881.75 (being the Shareholder's pro rata share of the Share Consideration) and $2,747.25 
in cash (being $9,290.25 minus $6,543, which represents an amount equal to 25% of $26,172 
that will be withheld and remitted to the CRA to satisfy any withholding obligations of 
Onefour).  To obtain any amounts withheld and remitted to the CRA which the Shareholder is 
otherwise entitled to under the Tax Act, the Shareholder will need to complete the necessary 
filings with the CRA; and

(c) in the case of a Shareholder that either (i) duly delivers on before the Transmittal Deadline his 
Onefour Shares together with a properly completed Letter of Tranmittal Form that indicates 
he is a Non-Resident Holder; or (ii) does not duly deliver his Onefour Shares together with a 
properly completed Letter of Transmittal Form on or before the Transmittal Deadline and 
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such Shareholder is shown on the register of Shareholders maintained by Onefour to be a 
Non-Resident Holder, the Shareholder will be entitled to receive $19,629 in cash, being 
$26,172 minus $6,543 (which represents an amount equal to 25% of $26,172 that will be 
withheld and remitted to the CRA to satisfy any withholding obligations of Onefour).  To 
obtain any amounts withheld and remitted to the CRA which the Shareholder is otherwise 
entitled to under the Tax Act, the Shareholder will need to complete the necessary filings with 
the CRA.  A Non-Resident Holder may also submit a clearance certificate to the Corporation 
in the required time to avoid the withholding of any funds by the Corporation ("Shareholders 
Not Resident in Canada - Section 116 Certificate Requirements").

Structure of the Corporation subsequent to the Consolidation

Immediately following completion of the Consolidation, the Corporation will have ten (10) Post Consolidation 
Onefour Shares issued and outstanding, held by Huff B.V. and Huff-Onefour L.P. which shall hold nine (9)
and one (1) Post Consolidation Onefour Shares, respectively.  The Corporation's assets will consist of (i) those 
Galleon Shares and that amount of cash not paid to Shareholders (other than Huff B.V.) to re-purchase their 
Fractional Interests; and (ii) those assets not sold to Galleon pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement.  
The Corporation will remain liable for certain liabilities as set forth above, including an obligation to 
repurchase the Huff B.V. Fractional Interest.  As the sole shareholders of the Corporation, Huff B.V. and Huff-
Onefour L.P. shall bear the valuation risk to the extent that the actual proceeds from liquidation of the 
remaining assets and liabilities differs from the amount estimated.

WRH indirectly holds 63.82% of the issued and outstanding Onefour Shares through Huff B.V. and Huff-
Onefour L.P.  The Transaction has been formulated such that subsequent to the completion of the purchase and 
sale of the Assets pursuant to the Purchase Agreement and the Consolidation, WRH, through its ownership of 
Huff B.V. and Huff Onefour L.P. (who will be the sole remaining Shareholders of Onefour) will be indirectly 
entitled to assets having a value equal to 63.82% of the net asset value of Onefour as calculated immediately 
prior to the Consolidation (which amount accounts for the Fractional Interest of Huff B.V.).  Shareholders 
other than Huff B.V. and Huff-Onefour L.P. will be paid cash and Galleon Shares equal to 36.18% of the net 
asset value of Onefour as calculated immediately prior to the Consolidation.

THE PURPOSE OF THE CONSOLIDATION IS TO REDUCE THE NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS OF 
ONEFOUR TO TWO (2) SHAREHOLDERS: HUFF B.V. AND HUFF-ONEFOUR L.P., TO ALLOW ALL 
OTHER SHAREHOLDERS TO RECEIVE COMPENSATION FOR THEIR ONEFOUR SHARES AND
REALIZE THEIR TAX LOSSES FROM THEIR INVESTMENT IN ONEFOUR, AND TO PROVIDE FOR 
A DISTRIBUTION OF THE CORPORATION'S ASSETS IN A TAX EFFICIENT MANNER.

Approval of the Consolidation

Pursuant to the requirements of the ABCA, to be passed, the Consolidation Resolution must be approved by at 
least 66⅔% of the votes cast by Shareholders, voting at the Meeting either in person or by proxy.  WRH, 
which indirectly owns or controls 63.82% of the outstanding Onefour Shares, intends to cause those Onefour 
Shares held by WRH to be voted in favour of the Consolidation Resolution.

Background to, and reasons for the Transaction

Over the past eighteen (18) months the Corporation has suffered from management's inability to successfully 
carry out Onefour's original business plan and from a lack of access to capital to expand Onefour's operations.  
After a successful drilling program in 2005-2006 at Senex, the Corporation's production volume rates in early 
2007 were very disappointing and underperformed industry averages and management's expectations.  
Ultimately the Board of Directors determined to replace management.

In the absence of the liquidity needed to capitalize on the remaining properties, the Board of Directors 
undertook a process whereby it consulted with and approached a number of prospective buyers and financial 
institutions for the purposes of arranging the sale of the assets of the Corporation in order to maximize value to 
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the Shareholders.  Through a lengthy process, the Board of Directors determined that a transaction with 
Galleon provided the most potential value to Shareholders and, accordingly, the Corporation entered into the 
Purchase Agreement.  If the purchase and sale of the Assets pursuant to the Purchase Agreement does not 
close, the Corporation will continue to be confronted with the capital expenditures that are needed to maintain 
the Corporation's business, yet will not have the required funds.  Thus the Board of Directors believes that the 
sale of the Assets to Galleon pursuant to the Purchase Agreement is the best alternative available to maximize 
Shareholder value.

Recommendation by the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has unanimously determined that the sale of the Assets pursuant to the Purchase 
Agreement and the Consolidation are fair from a financial point of view to the Shareholders and are in 
the best interests of the Corporation and the Shareholders and unanimously recommends that the 
Shareholders vote in favour of both the Purchase Agreement Resolution and the Consolidation 
Resolution.

Right to dissent

Shareholders have a statutory right granted under Section 191 of the ABCA to dissent to the Purchase 
Agreement Resolution.  The following description of the rights of Dissenting Shareholders is not a 
comprehensive statement of the procedures to be followed by a Dissenting Shareholder who seeks payment of 
the fair value of such holder's Onefour Shares and is qualified in its entirety by the reference to Section 191 of 
the ABCA.  A Dissenting Shareholder who intends to exercise the right to dissent and appraisal should 
carefully consider and comply with the provisions of Section 191 of the ABCA, the full text of which can be 
found in Appendix C attached hereto.  Failure to strictly comply with the provisions of that section and to 
adhere to the procedures established therein may result in the loss of all rights thereunder.

A Dissenting Shareholder is entitled, in addition to any other rights it may have, to dissent and to be paid the 
fair value (less any applicable withholdings) of the Onefour Shares held by the holder in respect of which the 
holder dissents, determined as of the close of business on the last Business Day before the day on which the 
resolution from which such holder dissents was adopted.  The foregoing fair value may be more or less than 
the value of the pro rata share of the Fractional Share Consideration to which the Shareholder would 
otherwise be entitled pursuant to the Consolidation.

Only registered Shareholders may dissent.  Persons who are beneficial owners of Onefour Shares 
registered in the name of a broker, custodian, nominee or other intermediary who wish to dissent should 
be aware that they may only do so through the registered owner of such Onefour Shares.  Accordingly, a 
beneficial owner of Onefour Shares desiring to exercise Dissent Rights must make arrangements for the 
Onefour Shares beneficially owned by that Shareholder to be registered in the name of the Shareholder 
prior to the time the written objection to the resolution is required to be received by the Corporation or, 
alternatively, make arrangements for the registered holder of such Onefour Shares to dissent on behalf 
of the Beneficial Shareholder.  In such case, the written objection, described below, should set forth the 
number of Onefour Shares covered by such written objection.

A Dissenting Shareholder must send a written objection to the Purchase Agreement Resolution, which 
written objection must be received by the Corporation c/o its counsel, Bennett Jones LLP, Suite 4500, 
855 – 2nd Street S.W. Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 4K7, Attention: Richard Stone, at or before the 
Meeting.  Only Shareholders who have abstained from voting in respect of a resolution are entitled to 
dissent with respect to such resolution.  No Shareholder who has voted in favour of or against the 
Purchase Agreement Resolution shall be entitled to dissent with respect to the Purchase Agreement 
Resolution.  A Shareholder may not exercise Dissent Rights in respect of only a portion of such holder's 
Onefour Shares, but may dissent only with respect to all of the Onefour Shares held by the Shareholder.

An application may be made to the Court by the Corporation or by a Dissenting Shareholder to fix the fair 
value of the Dissenting Shareholder's Onefour Shares.  If such an application to the Court is made by either the 
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Corporation or a Dissenting Shareholder, the Corporation must, unless the Court otherwise orders, send to each 
Dissenting Shareholder a written offer to pay such person an amount considered by the Board of Directors to 
be the fair value of the Onefour Shares held by such Dissenting Shareholders.  The offer, unless the Court 
otherwise orders, will be sent to each Dissenting Shareholder at least 10 days before the date on which the 
application is returnable, if the Corporation is the applicant, or within 10 days after the Corporation is served 
with notice of the application, if a Dissenting Shareholder is the applicant.  The offer will be made on the same 
terms to each Dissenting Shareholder and will be accompanied by a statement showing how the fair value was 
determined.

A Dissenting Shareholder may make an agreement with the Corporation for the purchase of its Onefour Shares 
in the amount of the Corporation's offer (or otherwise) at any time before the Court pronounces an order fixing 
the fair value of the Onefour Shares.

A Dissenting Shareholder is not required to give security for costs in respect of an application and, except in 
special circumstances, will not be required to pay the costs of the application and appraisal.  On the 
application, the Court will make an order fixing the fair value of the Onefour Shares of all Dissenting 
Shareholders who are parties to the application, giving judgment in that amount against the Corporation and in 
favour of each of those Dissenting Shareholders, and fixing the time within which the Corporation must pay 
that amount payable to the Dissenting Shareholders.  The Court may in its discretion allow a reasonable rate of 
interest on the amount payable to each Dissenting Shareholder calculated from the date on which the 
Dissenting Shareholder ceases to have any rights as a Shareholder until the date of payment.

On the adoption of the Purchase Agreement Resolution and subsequent closing of the purchase and sale of the 
Assets pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, or upon the making of an agreement between the Corporation and 
the Dissenting Shareholder as to the payment to be made by the Corporation to the Dissenting Shareholder, or 
the pronouncement of a Court order, whichever first occurs, the Dissenting Shareholder will cease to have any 
rights as a Shareholder other than the right to be paid the fair value of such holder's Onefour Shares in the 
amount agreed to between the Corporation and the Shareholder or in the amount of the judgment, as the case 
may be.  Until one of these events occurs, the Shareholder may withdraw its dissent, or, if the purchase and 
sale of the Assets pursuant to the Purchase Agreement has not yet closed, the Corporation may rescind the 
Purchase Agreement Resolution, and in either event the dissent and appraisal proceedings in respect of that 
Shareholder will be discontinued.

The Corporation shall not make a payment to a Dissenting Shareholder under Section 191 of the ABCA if 
there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Corporation is or would after the payment be unable to pay 
its liabilities as they become due, or that the realizable value of the assets of the Corporation would thereby be 
less than the aggregate of its liabilities.  In such event, the Corporation shall notify each Dissenting 
Shareholder that it is lawfully unable to pay Dissenting Shareholders for its Onefour Shares in which case the 
Dissenting Shareholder may, by written notice to the Corporation within 30 days after receipt of such notice, 
withdraw its written objection.  If the Dissenting Shareholder does not withdraw its written objection it retains 
its status as a claimant against the Corporation to be paid as soon as the Corporation is lawfully entitled to do 
so or, in a liquidation, to be ranked subordinate to creditors but prior to Onefour's shareholders.

All Onefour Shares held by Shareholders who exercise their Dissent Rights will, if the holders are ultimately 
entitled to be paid the fair value thereof (less any applicable withholdings), be deemed to be transferred to the 
Corporation in exchange for such fair value as of the Closing.  If such Shareholders ultimately are not entitled 
to be paid the fair value for the Onefour Shares held by such Dissenting Shareholder, such Onefour Shares will 
be dealt with pursuant to the Consolidation and mandatory re-purchase of Fractional Interests as described in 
this Information Circular.

The above summary does not purport to provide a comprehensive statement of the procedures to be 
followed by a Dissenting Shareholder who seeks payment of the fair value of its Onefour Shares.  
Section 191 of the ABCA requires adherence to the procedures established therein and failure to do so 
may result in the loss of all rights thereunder.  The full text of that section can be found in Appendix C
attached hereto.  Accordingly, each Shareholder who is considering the right to dissent and appraisal 
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should carefully consider and comply with the provisions of that section, and consult its own legal 
advisor.

Regulatory approvals

Galleon has obtained conditional approval from the TSX for the issuance of the 215,000 Galleon Shares 
issuable to Onefour pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, subject to certain terms and conditions 
set forth in a letter from the TSX to Galleon's legal counsel, Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP, dated 
September 2, 2008.

Seasoning and hold period on Galleon Shares

The Galleon Shares distributed pursuant to the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement and the 
subsequent Consolidation will be subject to a seasoning period and may be subject to a hold period in 
accordance with applicable Canadian securities laws.

With respect to the seasoning period, the Galleon Shares distributed to Shareholders will be freely tradable 
provided that Galleon has been a reporting issuer in a jurisdiction in Canada for the four months immediately 
preceding the date the Galleon Shares are issued (the "Distribution Date") and subject to the criteria set forth 
in section 2.6 of NI 45-102.  As of the date of this Information Circular, Galleon is a reporting issuer in all the 
provinces of Canada.

If subject to a hold period, the Galleon Shares distributed to Shareholders will be freely tradable on the date 
that is four months after the Distribution Date, provided that Galleon has been a reporting issuer in a 
jurisdiction in Canada for the four months immediately preceding the trade and will bear a legend to the effect 
that such Galleon Shares are subject to the hold period.  Such trade will also be subject to the criteria set forth 
in section 2.5 of NI 45-102

Canadian federal income tax considerations

Subject to the assumptions and qualifications set out herein, in the opinion of Bennett Jones LLP, counsel to 
the Corporation ("Counsel"), the following is a fair and adequate summary of the principal Canadian federal 
income tax consequences generally applicable under the Tax Act to Shareholders who receive cash or a 
combination of cash and Galleon Shares in consideration of their Fractional Interest on the Consolidation and 
who, for the purposes of the Tax Act and at all relevant times, deal at arm's length with and are not affiliated 
with the Corporation or with Galleon and who hold their Onefour Shares and will hold their Galleon Shares 
acquired as capital property.  Generally, Onefour Shares and Galleon Shares will be considered to be capital 
property to a Shareholder provided the Shareholder does not use or hold the Onefour Shares in the course of 
carrying on a business of trading or dealing in securities or otherwise as part of a business of buying and 
selling securities or has acquired them in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure or concern in 
the nature of trade.  Since the Corporation is not a public corporation, within the meaning of the Tax Act, and 
the value of the Onefour Shares is primarily attributable to real property or resource property in Canada, 
Onefour Shares will not qualify as "Canadian securities" for the purposes of a capital property election under 
subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act.

This summary is not applicable to a Shareholder that is a "financial institution" or a "specified financial 
institution", within the meaning of the Tax Act, or an interest in which would be a "tax shelter investment", 
within the meaning of the Tax Act.  This summary does not address Canadian federal income tax 
considerations applicable to holders of options to acquire Onefour Shares and does not address all issues 
relevant to Shareholders who have acquired their Onefour Shares on an exercise of an option.  Such 
Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors.  This summary addresses the tax considerations applicable 
to Onefour only to the extent expressly set out in this summary.

This summary is based upon the facts set out in this Information Circular, certificates as to certain factual 
matters provided to Counsel by the Corporation and its officers, the provisions of the Tax Act in force as of the 
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date of this Information Circular, all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act that have been publicly 
announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date of this Information Circular 
(the "Proposed Amendments") and Counsel's understanding of the current administrative and assessing 
policies of the CRA published in writing prior to the date hereof.  No assurance can be given that the Proposed 
Amendments will be enacted as currently proposed or at all.  This summary is not exhaustive of all possible 
Canadian federal income tax consequences and, except for the Proposed Amendments, does not take into 
account any changes in the law, whether by legislative, regulatory or judicial actions, nor does it take into 
account provincial, territorial or foreign tax considerations, which may differ significantly from those 
discussed herein.

This summary assumes that the Galleon Shares will, at all times up to and including the Consolidation, be 
listed on a designated stock exchange, within the meaning of the Tax Act, in Canada (which currently includes 
the TSX).

This summary is of a general nature only and is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income 
or other tax considerations and is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice 
or representations to any particular Shareholder, nor does it describe the tax filing and compliance 
requirements that may apply to any particular Shareholder.  Shareholders should consult their own tax 
advisors in respect of the consequences to them of the Consolidation, including in respect of any choice 
to be made and reflected in the Letter of Transmittal Form having regard to their own particular 
circumstances, including the application and effect of the income and other tax laws of any country, 
province, state, or local tax authority.

Impact to the Corporation of the sale of Assets to Galleon

As a consequence of the sale of the Assets to Galleon, the Corporation will receive approximately $6,000,000 
(subject to adjustment pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement) and 215,000 Galleon Shares.  No part 
of such sale will occur on a tax-deferred rollover basis, with the result that the Corporation will recognize 
income or gain on such sale for the purposes of the Tax Act.  The Corporation has advised Counsel that the 
Corporation has sufficient deductions in computing income, taxable income, or tax payable under the Tax Act
such that the Corporation will not have any tax liability in respect of any income or gain realized by the 
Corporation on the sale of the Assets to Galleon.

Consequences of the Consolidation - General

The Consolidation has been structured so that each Shareholder who is not a Dissenting Shareholder  and who 
does not hold at least 4,027,846 Onefour Shares immediately prior to the Consolidation will, instead of being 
issued share certificates reflecting its Fractional Interest after the Consolidation, dispose of its Fractional 
Interest to the Corporation in consideration for a payment from the Corporation.  In the case of a Resident 
Holder, such payment will be made in the form of a combination of cash and Galleon Shares, as described 
under the heading "Treatment of Fractional Interests".  In the case of a Non-Resident Holder, such payment 
will be made solely in cash.

The fair market value of the Galleon Shares received by the Corporation on the sale of the Assets and then 
distributed to the Shareholders on the Consolidation is a question of fact determined by reference to all 
relevant factors, including trading prices and escrow, trading and other restrictions that may affect the value of 
such shares.  For the purposes of computing any tax consequences, liabilities or filing obligations arising from 
the sale of the Assets to Galleon and the Consolidation, the Corporation has advised Counsel that it intends to 
take the position that the fair market value of any Galleon Shares distributed by the Corporation as payment of 
the purchase price for any fractional Onefour Shares is equal to the five (5) day volume weighted average 
closing price of the Galleon Shares on the TSX immediately preceding the Galleon Share Valuation Date.  The 
Corporation has advised Counsel that it believes such valuation methodology is reasonable; however, the 
Corporation's valuation is not binding on the CRA or on a Shareholder.
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Shareholders Resident in Canada

This portion of the summary is generally applicable only to a Resident Holder.

Disposition of Onefour Shares on Consolidation

A Resident Holder whose Onefour Shares are consolidated and who receives a payment from the Corporation 
(whether in the form of cash, or a combination of cash and Galleon Shares) in consideration of its Fractional 
Interest otherwise issuable to such Resident Holder will, at the time of the Consolidation:

(a) be deemed to have received a taxable dividend (subject to the potential application of 
subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act to Resident Holders that are corporations, as discussed 
below) equal to the amount, if any, by which such payment (i.e., the amount of cash received, 
if any, plus the fair market value of the Galleon Shares received) exceeds the paid-up capital 
of the Onefour Shares for the purposes of the Tax Act.  The Corporation has advised Counsel 
that the estimated paid-up capital per Onefour Share as at June 30, 2008 is $0.81.  Based on 
the value of the Galleon Shares as at the date of this Information Circular, it is not expected 
that any Shareholder will be deemed to have received a taxable dividend.  Any resulting 
deemed dividend will be generally subject to the tax treatment described below under the 
heading "Shareholders Resident in Canada - Taxation of Deemed Dividend"; and

(b) be considered to have disposed of such Resident Holder's Onefour Shares for proceeds of 
disposition equal to the payment received, less the amount of the deemed dividend, if any, 
computed in paragraph (a) above.  Such Resident Holder will realize a capital gain (or a 
capital loss) equal to the amount by which the proceeds of disposition exceed (or are less 
than) the aggregate of the adjusted cost base of the Onefour Shares and any reasonable costs 
of disposition.  Any resulting capital gain (or capital loss) will be generally subject to the tax 
treatment described below under the heading "Shareholders Resident in Canada - Taxation of 
Capital Gains and Capital Losses".

Taxation of Deemed Dividends

A Resident Holder will be required to include in computing its income for a taxation year any dividends 
deemed to be received on, or as the result of the cancellation of, the Fractional Interest.  In the case of a 
Resident Holder that is an individual (other than certain trusts), such dividends will generally be subject to the 
gross-up and dividend tax credit rules in the Tax Act normally applicable to taxable dividends received from a 
taxable Canadian corporation, including, if applicable, those provisions of the Tax Act dealing with eligible 
dividends.  Dividends deemed to be received by an individual (including certain trusts) may give rise to a 
liability for alternative minimum tax.

Generally, dividends deemed to be received by a Resident Holder which is a corporation will be deductible in 
computing its taxable income. A Resident Holder that is a "private corporation" or a "subject corporation", 
within the meaning of the Tax Act, will generally be liable to pay a refundable tax of 33⅓% under Part IV of 
the Tax Act on dividends received (or deemed to be received) on the Onefour Shares to the extent such 
dividends are deductible in computing taxable income for the year.  A Resident Holder that is throughout the 
year a "Canadian-controlled private corporation", within the meaning of the Tax Act, may be liable for a 
refundable tax ox 6⅔% on its "aggregate investment income", which is defined to include dividends that are 
not deductible in computing taxable income.

Subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act provides that, where a Resident Holder that is a corporation would otherwise 
be deemed to receive a dividend and such dividend is deductible in computing its income, in certain 
circumstances, all or a portion of the deemed dividend may be deemed not to be received as a dividend and 
instead may be treated as proceeds of disposition of the Onefour Shares for purposes of computing the 
Resident Holder's capital gain.  Resident Holders that are corporations should consult their own tax advisors 
for specific advice with respect to the potential application of this provision.
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Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses

A Resident Holder will be required to include in computing its income for a taxation year one-half of the 
amount of any capital gain (a "taxable capital gain") arising on a disposition of any Onefour Shares as 
described above.  Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Act, a Resident Holder will be 
required to deduct one-half of the amount of any resulting capital loss (an "allowable capital loss") against 
taxable capital gains realized by the Resident Holder in the year of the disposition, and allowable capital losses 
in excess of taxable capital gains realized in the year of disposition may be carried back and deducted from net 
taxable capital gains realized in the three (3) preceding taxation years or in any future taxation year.

A Resident Holder that is throughout the relevant taxation year a "Canadian-controlled private corporation", 
within the meaning of the Tax Act, may be liable to pay an additional refundable tax of 6⅔% on its "aggregate 
investment income" for the year, which is defined to include taxable capital gains.

In the case of a Resident Holder that is a corporation, the amount of any capital loss otherwise determined 
resulting from the disposition of Onefour Shares may be reduced by the amount of certain dividends 
previously received or deemed to have been received on such shares, to the extent and under the circumstances 
prescribed in the Tax Act.  Similar rules may also apply in other circumstances, including where a corporation, 
trust or partnership is a member of a partnership or a beneficiary of a trust that own such shares.  Resident 
Holders to whom these rules may be relevant should contact their own tax advisors.

Capital gains realized by an individual or a trust (other than certain specified trusts) may give rise to a liability 
for alternative minimum tax under the Tax Act.

Acquisition of Galleon Shares Received

Although no certainty can be provided on the point, based on CRA administrative practice, a Resident Holder 
who receives a payment from the Corporation on the Consolidation and resulting purchase of its Fractional 
Interest in part in the form of Galleon Shares should be considered to have acquired such Galleon Shares for a 
cost equal to their fair market value at the time they are received.  Under the Tax Act, the cost of any Galleon 
Shares held by a Resident Holder will generally be required to be averaged with the adjusted cost base of any 
other Galleon Shares held by such Resident Holder as capital property to determine the adjusted cost base of 
each such Galleon Share for the purposes of the Tax Act at any particular time.

The Galleon Shares will, at any particular time, be qualified investments under the Tax Act for trusts governed 
by registered retirement savings plans, registered retirement income funds, deferred profit sharing plans, 
registered education savings plans, registered disability savings plans, and tax –free savings accounts, provided 
that the Galleon Shares are listed, at that time, on a designated stock exchange in Canada (which currently 
includes the TSX).

Resident Holders who receive dividends on the Galleon Shares will generally be subject to similar tax 
treatment as described above under the heading "Shareholders Resident in Canada - Taxation of Deemed 
Dividends".

Resident Holders who dispose or are deemed to dispose of any Galleon Shares will realize a capital gain (or 
capital loss) in respect of the Galleon Shares so disposed of equal to the amount, if any, by which the proceeds 
of disposition, net of any reasonable costs of disposition, exceed (or are less than) the adjusted cost base to the 
Resident Holder of the Galleon Shares immediately before the disposition.  Any resulting capital gain (or 
capital loss) will be generally subject to the tax treatment described above under the heading "Shareholders 
Resident in Canada - Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses".
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Shareholders Not Resident in Canada

This portion of the summary is generally applicable to a Non-Resident Holder.  Special rules, which are not 
discussed herein, may apply to a Non-Resident Holder that is an insurer carrying on business in Canada and 
elsewhere.

Section 116 Certificate Requirements

Since the Onefour Shares are not listed on a designated stock exchange, within the meaning of the Tax Act, the 
Onefour Shares will constitute taxable Canadian property, within the meaning of the Tax Act, to Non-Resident 
Holders with the result that such Non-Resident Holders will be required to provide notice to the CRA 
regarding the disposition of their Onefour Shares to the Corporation on the Consolidation by applying to the 
CRA for a clearance certificate issued pursuant to section 116 of the Tax Act.  In addition, Non-Resident 
Holders will be required to file an income tax return in Canada for the year of the disposition of the Onefour 
Shares reporting the disposition. Failure to comply with these notification and filing requirements may result in 
penalties being imposed on the Non-Resident Holder.

Non-Resident Holders will be required to provide to the Corporation, prior to the 30th day following the end of 
the month in which the Consolidation takes place, the purchaser's copy of a clearance certificate issued 
pursuant to section 116 of the Tax Act having a certificate limit reasonably acceptable to the Corporation. In 
the event that a Non-Resident Holder does not provide such a clearance certificate to the Corporation prior to 
such date, the Corporation will withhold, and remit to the CRA, an amount equal to 25% of the gross cash 
payment (in addition to any other applicable withholding tax) the Corporation would otherwise make to the 
Non-Resident Holder in payment for its Fractional Interest.

Disposition of Onefour Shares on Consolidation

A Non-Resident Holder whose Onefour Shares are consolidated and who receives a cash payment from the 
Corporation in consideration of its Fractional Interest otherwise issuable to such Non-Resident Holder will, at 
the time of the Consolidation, be deemed to have received a taxable dividend and/or to have realized a capital 
gain or capital loss, as discussed above under the heading "Shareholders Resident in Canada - Disposition of 
Onefour Shares on Consolidation".

Taxation of Deemed Dividends

Dividends paid or deemed to be paid or credited by the Corporation to a Non-Resident Holder will be subject 
to Canadian withholding tax at a rate of 25% of the gross amount of the deemed dividend, subject to any 
reduction in the rate of withholding to which the Non-Resident Holder is entitled under an applicable income 
tax treaty or convention between Canada and the country in which the Non-Resident Holder is resident.  For 
example, where the Non-Resident Holder is a resident of the United States who is fully entitled to the benefits 
of the Canada-US Income Tax Convention (1980) and is the beneficial owner of the dividends, the applicable 
rate of Canadian withholding tax is generally reduced to 15%.

Taxation of Capital Gains

Non-Resident Holders will generally be subject to Canadian tax on any capital gain (or capital loss) realized on 
the disposition of their Onefour Shares on the same basis as described above under the heading "Shareholders 
Resident in Canada - Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses", unless the Non-Resident Holder is 
entitled to relief from such taxation under an applicable income tax treaty or convention between Canada and 
the country in which the Non-Resident Holder is resident.  Since the value of the Onefour Shares is primarily 
attributable to real property or resource property in Canada, Article XIII of the Canada-US Income Tax 
Convention (1980) will not apply to exempt a Non-Resident Holder from taxation in Canada.
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Taxation of Dissenting Shareholders

Shareholders are permitted to dissent from the Consolidation and related transactions. A Dissenting 
Shareholder will be entitled, on the adoption of the Purchase Agreement Resolution and subsequent closing of 
the Purchase Agreement, or upon the making of an agreement between the Corporation and the Dissenting 
Shareholder as to the payment to be made by the Corporation to the Dissenting Shareholder, or the 
pronouncement of a Court Order, whichever first occurs, to be paid by the Corporation the fair value of the 
Onefour Shares held by such Shareholder determined as of the appropriate date, less any applicable 
withholdings.  Dissenting Shareholders who receive such a payment from the Corporation will be considered 
to have had such shares repurchased by the Corporation for proceeds of disposition equal to the amount of the 
payment received, less any interest awarded by a court and will generally be subject to the same tax treatment 
as described above for non-dissenting Shareholders, except for the portion of the payment which represents 
interest.  Any interest awarded by a court to a Dissenting Shareholder who is a Resident Holder will be 
required to be included in the Dissenting Shareholder's income for purposes of the Tax Act for a particular 
taxation year to the extent the amount is received or receivable in that year, depending on the method regularly 
followed by the Dissenting Shareholder in computing income.  Where the Dissenting Shareholder is a Resident 
Holder which is a corporation, partnership or, subject to certain exceptions, a trust, the Dissenting Shareholder 
must include interest in income for a taxation year to the extent that interest accrues to it before the end of the 
taxation year, or becomes receivable or is received before the end of the year (to the extent not included in 
income for a preceding taxation year).

The clearance certificate requirements of section 116 of the Tax Act, as described under the heading 
"Shareholders Not Resident in Canada – Section 116 Certificate Requirements" will apply to any such 
payment in the same manner.  If a Non-Resident Holder receives interest consequent upon its exercise of 
dissent rights, such amount will not be subject to Canadian withholding tax, provided the interest is not 
participating interest.

Additional income tax considerations may be relevant to Dissenting Shareholders who fail to perfect or 
withdraw their claims pursuant to the right of dissent. Any Shareholder who is considering exercising its rights 
of dissent should consult with its own tax advisors.

INFORMATION RELATING TO GALLEON

Galleon was incorporated under the ABCA on March 27, 2003 and is a reporting issuer in each of the 
provinces of Canada.  Currently two (2) classes of shares in the capital of Galleon trade on the TSX: the 
Galleon Shares trade under the symbol GO.A and the Galleon Class B Shares trade under the symbol GO.B.  
Additional information relating to the rights attached to the Galleon Shares and Galleon Class B Shares is 
provided in Appendix D to this Information Circular.

The head office of the Galleon is located at Livingston Place, West Tower Suite 400, 250 – 2nd Street, S.W. 
Calgary, Alberta T2P 0C1.

Galleon has no subsidiaries other than ExAlta Energy Inc., Adamant Energy Inc., 144915 Alberta Ltd. and 
1175176 Alberta Ltd.  Galleon Energy Partnership holds Galleon's producing oil and gas assets.

Shareholders wishing to obtain more information in relation to Galleon and a more detailed description of its 
business and affairs should refer to Appendix D to this Information Circular.

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE CORPORATION

The Corporation was incorporated on January 23, 2004 under the ABCA and filed amended Articles of 
Incorporation on August 3, 2005 increasing the minimum number of directors and removing restrictions on the 
transfer of its shares.

The head office of the Corporation is located at 800, 510 - 5th Street S.W. Calgary, Alberta T2P 3S2.
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The registered office of the Corporation is located at 4500, 855 – 2nd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta T2P 4K7.

The Corporation is a junior oil and gas company engaged in the exploration for, and the acquisition, 
development and production of, oil and natural gas reserves primarily located in the Province of Alberta.

The audited financial statements of the Corporation as at and for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 
2005, together with the notes thereto and the reports of the auditors thereon, and the unaudited financial 
statements of the Corporation for the period ended June 30, 2008 can be found in Schedule A of Appendix E
of this Information Circular.

Shareholders wishing to obtain more information in relation to the Corporation and a more detailed description 
of its affairs should refer to Appendix E of this Information Circular.

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

No current or former executive officer, director or employee of the Corporation is, or has been, indebted to the 
Corporation at any time during the Corporation's most recently completed financial year, except for 
Brian Johnston who, while serving as a director and officer of the Corporation, issued two (2) unsecured 
promissory notes in favour of the Corporation in the aggregate amount of $143,937.24 in connection with the 
purchase of Onefour Shares from the Corporation's treasury.  Interest accrues on the principal amount of the
notes at a rate of 6% per annum and the full amount of the notes is repayable upon the occurrence of a 
Liquidation Event (as defined in such promissory notes).  The closing of the purchase and sale of the Assets 
pursuant to the Purchase Agreement and completion of the Consolidation will result in such promissory notes 
becoming payable in full together with any outstanding interest. Further details relating to these promissory 
notes can be found in the estimated net asset summary appearing above under the heading "Basis for 
Calculating the value of a Onefour Share" in this Information Circular, and the notes relating thereto.

INTEREST OF INFORMED PERSONS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

WRH indirectly holds 63.82% of the issued and outstanding Onefour Shares through the following entities in 
the following numbers and percentages: (i) Huff B.V. (37,638,820 Onefour Shares / 57.65%); and (ii) Huff-
Onefour L.P. (4,027,846 Onefour Shares / 6.17%).  Immediately following completion of the Consolidation, 
the Corporation will have ten (10) Post Consolidation Onefour Shares issued and outstanding, held by Huff 
B.V. and Huff-Onefour L.P. which shall hold nine (9) and one (1) Post Consolidation Onefour Shares 
respectively.  Huff B.V. will also be entitled to Fractional Share Consideration with respect to its Fractional 
Interest of 0.345 of a Post Consolidation Onefour Share as a result of the Consolidation, which is shown in the 
estimated post Consolidation net asset summary as a liability of the Corporation in the amount of $72,659.  
The Corporation's assets will be limited to (i) those Galleon Shares and the amount of cash not paid to
Shareholders to re-purchase their Fractional Interest; and (ii) those assets not sold to Galleon pursuant to the 
terms of the Purchase Agreement.  Subsequent to the Consolidation, as the sole Shareholders of the 
Corporation, Huff B.V. and Huff-Onefour L.P. shall bear the valuation risk to the extent that the actual 
proceeds from liquidation of the remaining assets and liabilities differs from the amount estimated.  

Rather than incur the expense of making partial distributions to the Shareholders while the remaining assets of 
Onefour are liquidated and its liabilities resolved, WRH has agreed to retain its stake in the Corporation, 
allowing the other Shareholders to immediately receive their share of the proceeds from the Purchase 
Agreement, as represented by the Fractional Share Consideration. In addition, a WRH employee who has been 
working as the Acting President, may receive a bonus from the Board of Directors for seeing the 
reorganization through; it is not clear to date the amount of the bonus.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Shareholders can receive copies of the Corporation's annual financial statements by sending a request to 
Onefour Energy Ltd. 800, 510 – 5th Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 3S2 (Attention: President).  
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Additional information with respect to Galleon can be found on-line on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, or on 
Galleon's website at www.galleonenergy.com.

AUDITORS' CONSENTS

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP 

We have read the management information circular dated September 29, 2008 (the "Information Circular") 
of Onefour Energy Ltd. ("Onefour") with respect to the sale of substantially all of the assets of Onefour to 
Galleon Energy Inc. and the consolidation of the outstanding Onefour common shares.  We have complied 
with Canadian generally accepted standards for an auditor's involvement with offering documents.

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned Information Circular of our report to the directors of Onefour on 
the balance sheets of Onefour as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the statements of operations and deficit 
and cash flows for the years then ended.  Our report is dated September 11, 2008.

We also consent to the use in the above-mentioned Information Circular of our report to the directors of 
Onefour on the audited balance sheets of Onefour as at December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the statements of 
operations and deficit and cash flows for the years then ended.  Our report is dated April 10, 2007 (except as to 
Note 14 which is as of September 11, 2008).

Calgary, Alberta (signed) "Deloitte & Touche LLP"
September 29, 2008 Chartered Accountants

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

We have read the management information circular dated September 29, 2008 (the "Information Circular") 
of Onefour Energy Ltd. ("Onefour") with respect to the sale of substantially all of the assets of Onefour to 
Galleon Energy Inc. ("Galleon") and the consolidation of the outstanding Onefour common shares.  We have 
complied with Canadian generally accepted standards for an auditor's involvement with offering documents.

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Information Circular of our report to the shareholders of 
Galleon on the consolidated balance sheets of Galleon as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the consolidated 
statements of earnings, comprehensive income, retained earnings and cash flows for the years then ended.  Our 
report is dated March 10, 2008 (except for Note 11(c) which is as of March 25, 2008).

We also consent to the incorporation by reference in the Information Circular of our report to the shareholders 
of ExAlta Energy Inc. (“ExAlta”) on the balance sheets of ExAlta as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss and retained earnings (deficit) and cash flows for the years 
then ended.  Our report is dated March 27, 2008.

Calgary, Alberta (signed) "Ernst & Young LLP"
September 29, 2008 Chartered Accountants

www.sedar.com,
www.galleonenergy.com
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ASSET PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT made as of the 11th day of September, 2008.

BETWEEN:

ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD., a body corporate incorporated pursuant to the 
laws of the Province of Alberta and having an office in the City of Calgary, 
Alberta, ("Vendor")

- and -

GALLEON ENERGY INC., a body corporate incorporated pursuant to the 
laws of the Province of Alberta and having an office in the City of Calgary, 
Alberta, ("Purchaser")

WHEREAS Vendor wishes to sell the Assets to Purchaser, and Purchaser wishes to purchase the 
Assets from Vendor, subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE the Parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:

(a) "Abandonment and Reclamation Obligations" means all Losses and Liabilities and other duties and 
obligations, whether arising under contract, Applicable Law or otherwise, relating to:

(i) the abandonment of any wells and restoration and reclamation of the surface sites thereof and 
any other lands used to gain access thereto;

(ii) the closure, decommissioning, dismantling and removal of any structures, buildings, 
pipelines, facilities, equipment and other tangible depreciable property and assets, together 
with the restoration and reclamation of the lands on or in which any of the foregoing are or 
were located and any other lands used to gain access thereto; and

(iii) the restoration, remediation or reclamation of the surface or subsurface of any lands other 
than those lands described in paragraphs (i) and (ii) above.

(b) "Acquisition Proposal" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 7.5(b)(i).

(c) "AFEs" means authorities for expenditure, cash calls, operations notices, amounts budgeted pursuant 
to joint operating agreements, unit agreements, mail ballots and similar notices and calls for funds.

(d) "Affiliate" means, with respect to a particular Person, another Person that controls, is controlled by, or 
is under common control with that particular Person.  For the purposes of this definition, a Person 
"controls" another Person (other than an individual) if the first Person:

(i) holds more than 50% of the voting securities of such other Person; or
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(ii) has power to appoint a majority of the board of directors or comparable body of such other 
Person; or

(iii) is entitled to more than 50% of the profits of such other Person or, in the event of a 
dissolution, to more than 50% of the assets of such other Person;

or otherwise has the power to direct or cause the direction of management or policies of such other 
Person, in each case, regardless of whether such right or power is held or exercisable directly or 
though intermediaries or whether such right or power is held beneficially or as a trustee, guardian or 
similar capacity.  In addition, if such other Person is a partnership and all of the partners therein would 
be considered "Affiliates" of each other as provided above in this Clause 1.1(d), such partnership shall 
be deemed to be an Affiliate of each such partner and each other Person that is or would be deemed to 
be an Affiliate of each such partner.

(e) "Agreement" means this Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, including the attached Schedules.

(f) "Applicable Law" means, in relation to any Person, property or circumstance, all laws and statutes, 
including regulations, rules, by-laws, ordinances and other statutory instruments enacted thereunder; 
all judgments, decrees, rulings and orders of courts, tribunals, commissions and other similar bodies of 
competent jurisdiction; all orders, rules, directives, policies and guidelines having force of law issued 
by any Governmental Authority; and all terms and conditions of any Permits; that are in effect as of 
the relevant time and are applicable to such Person, property or circumstance.

(g) "Applicable Securities Laws" means all Applicable Law pertaining to securities and related corporate 
matters in the jurisdictions where Purchaser is a reporting issuer.

(h) "Arbitration Act" means the Arbitration Act (Alberta) or the International Commercial Arbitration 
Act (Alberta), as the case may be.

(i) "Assets" means the Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights, the Tangibles and the Miscellaneous Interests.

(j) "Base Price" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 2.3(a).

(k) "Berkley Receivable" means the amounts due and payable by Berkley Resources Inc. to Vendor 
pursuant to a Joint Operating Agreement dated October 1, 2004 and recorded as accounts receivable in
the general accounting ledger of Vendor;

(l) "BOE" or "Barrel of Oil Equivalent" means, in the case of crude oil and other liquid Petroleum 
Substances, one stock tank barrel thereof, and in the case of natural gas, 6,000 standard cubic feet 
thereof.

(m) "Business Day" means a day, other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a statutory holiday in Calgary, 
Alberta, on which banks are open generally to conduct commercial business in Calgary, Alberta.

(n) "Canadian GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in Canada including the 
principles set forth in the CICA Handbook published by the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants or any successor institute.

(o) "Claim" means any claim, demand, lawsuit, action, proceeding, notice of non-compliance or 
violation, order or direction, arbitration or governmental proceeding or investigation.

(p) "Claiming Party" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 6.6.
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(q) "Closing" means the completion of the Transaction.

(r) "Closing Date" means, subject to Clauses 9.2(e)(ii)(B) and 10.1(e), October 22, 2008 or any other 
Business Day as Vendor and Purchaser may agree, provided that, following Closing, references to the 
Closing Date shall mean the date on which Closing actually occurred.

(s) "Closing Place" means the offices of Purchaser's Solicitors or any other place as Vendor and 
Purchaser may agree.

(t) "Closing Statement" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 2.6(c).

(u) "Closing Time" means 11:00 a.m. on the Closing Date or any other time as Vendor and Purchaser 
may agree.

(v) "Deposit" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 2.7.

(w) "Deposit Escrow Agreement" means the agreements entered into by Vendor, Purchaser and Vendor's 
Solicitors concurrently with the exception of this Agreement, pursuant to where the deposit will be 
held and disbursed.

(x) "Deposit Interest" means any interest actually earned on the Deposit while held by Vendor's 
Solicitors up to the time of the release or application thereof as provided in this Agreement.

(y) "Effective Time" means 12:01 a.m. on September 1, 2008.

(z) "Encumbrance" means a Security Interest, an option to purchase, a right of first refusal, right of first 
offer or other pre-emptive or preferential right to purchase, a farm-out agreement under which earning 
has not occurred, a royalty, a net profits interest, a carried working interest, a right to convert a royalty 
to a working interest on payout of a well, a penalty or forfeiture arising as a result of non-participation 
in a drilling or other operation and any other adverse claim or encumbrance, whether similar or 
dissimilar to the foregoing.

(aa) "Environment" means the components of the earth and includes ambient air, land, surface and sub-
surface strata, groundwater, surface water, all layers of the atmosphere, all organic and inorganic 
matter and living organisms, and the interacting natural systems that include such components.

(bb) "Environmental Liabilities" means all past, present and future Losses and Liabilities, Claims and 
other duties and obligations, whether arising under contract, Applicable Law or otherwise, arising 
from or associated with:

(i) Abandonment and Reclamation Obligations;

(ii) any damage, contamination or other adverse situations pertaining to the Environment 
howsoever and by whomsoever caused and regardless of whether such damage, 
contamination or other adverse situations occur or arise in whole or in part prior to, at or 
subsequent to the date of this Agreement;

(iii) the storage, use, holding, collection, accumulation, assessment, generation, manufacture, 
processing, treatment, stabilization, disposition, handling, transportation, release, emission or 
discharge of Petroleum Substances, oilfield wastes, water, hazardous substances, 
environmental contaminants and all other substances and materials regulated under any 
Applicable Law, including any forms of energy;
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(iv) compliance with or the consequences of any non-compliance with, or violation or breach of, 
any Applicable Law pertaining to the Environment or to the protection of the Environment;

(v) sampling, monitoring or assessing the Environment or any potential impacts thereon from any 
past, present or future activities or operations; or

(vi) the protection, reclamation, remediation or restoration of the Environment;

that relate to or arise by virtue of the Assets or the ownership thereof or any past, present or future 
operations and activities conducted in connection with the Assets or on or in respect of the Lands or 
any lands pooled or unitized therewith, but, in each case, only insofar as the foregoing pertain directly 
to the Assets.

(cc) "ERCB" means the Alberta Energy Resources Conservation Board.

(dd) "Final Statement of Adjustments" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 2.6(d).

(ee) "Galleon Class A Shares" means the shares in the capital of the Purchaser designated in the articles 
of the Purchaser as "Class A Shares".

(ff) "General Conveyance" means an agreement in the form set forth in SCHEDULE E.

(gg) "Governmental Authority" means any:

(i) governmental entity or authority of any nature, including any governmental ministry, agency,
branch, department or official, and any court, regulatory board or other tribunal; or

(ii) individual or body exercising, or entitled to exercise, any administrative, executive, judicial, 
legislative, regulatory or taxing authority or power of any nature;

having or purporting to exercise jurisdiction or power over any Person, property, operation, 
transaction or other matter or circumstance.

(hh) "GST" means the goods and services tax provided for in the Excise Tax Act (Canada) and any other 
tax imposed or levied by the Government of Canada on or in respect of the sale or supply of goods or 
services in addition to or replacement for such goods and service tax.

(ii) "GST Election" has the meaning specified in Clause 2.5(b).

(jj) "Identified ROFRs" means the ROFRs which are identified during the Pre-Closing Period by either 
of the Parties.

(kk) "Included Seismic Data" means all seismic data relating to the seismic lines identified in 
SCHEDULE I, regardless of the form or medium on or in which it is displayed, including observer's 
notes, chainer's notes, surveyor's field notes and any subsequent calculations (survey audit notes, 
SEGP1 data), GPS data, LIDAR data, location shot point maps, physical recordings of the field 
measurements (field tapes), monitor records, any subsequent displays which have been calculated 
from the field measurements (processed CDP stack section digital data), section prints, and 3D bin 
maps.

(ll) "Indemnified Matter" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 6.6.

(mm) "Indemnifying Party" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 6.6.
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(nn) "Information Circular" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 7.4(a).

(oo) "Lands" means the lands identified in SCHEDULE A and, subject to any limitations identified or set 
forth in SCHEDULE A or in any applicable Title and Operating Documents, the Petroleum Substance 
within, upon or under those identified lands.

(pp) "Losses and Liabilities" means all losses, costs, expenses, interest, charges, assessments damages, 
liabilities, fines and penalties, including all reasonable costs incurred in investigating, defending or 
negotiating the settlement or resolution of any Claim or threatened Claim, and specifically including 
reasonable legal and other professional fees and expenses on a "solicitor and his own client" or 
comparable basis, regardless of whether the foregoing arise under or by virtue of common law, in 
equity, under Applicable Law, under contract, negligence, strict liability, breach of duty or otherwise.

(qq) "Major Facilities" means the plant, machinery, equipment, facilities and other tangible depreciable 
property and assets identified or described in SCHEDULE C under the heading "Major Facilities".

(rr) "Miscellaneous Interests" means, subject to the limitations and exclusions below in this definition, 
all of Vendor's right, title and interest in and to all property and rights that pertain directly to the 
Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights or the Tangibles, (but other than the Petroleum and Natural Gas 
Rights and the Tangibles), including:

(i) the Title and Operating Documents and other contracts and agreements and all rights in 
relation thereto, including the Production and Marketing Contracts;

(ii) the Surface Rights;

(iii) the well bores and down-hole casing for the Wells;

(iv) the Permits;

(v) Included Seismic Data;

(vi) the Berkley Receivable; and

(vii) records, files, reports, data, correspondence and other information, including lease, contract, 
well, production and facilities files and records.

However, the Miscellaneous Interests do not include:

(A) any of the foregoing property or rights to the extent that they:

(I) include or pertain to any seismic data other than the Included Seismic Data;

(II) include or pertain to Vendor's proprietary technology, evaluations, forecasts 
or interpretations (whether geological, engineering, economic or otherwise); 
or

(III) are owned or licensed by Third Parties with restrictions that prohibit the sale, 
transfer or disclosure thereof to Purchaser;

(B) any office equipment of Vendor, including all furniture, fixtures, general office 
equipment and office computer equipment and software licenses;
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(C) any deposits or other security related to Permits or any operations or royalties 
pertaining to the Assets; or

(D) Petroleum Substances that are or were in the course of production from the Lands or 
any lands pooled or unitized therewith, but not, as of the Effective Time, beyond the 
point of delivery to the buyer thereof.

(ss) "Net Average Daily Sales Volume" means the total quantity, in BOE, of Petroleum Substances 
produced from the Assets during the period from August 1, 2008 to and including August 31, 2008 
based upon tank truck tickets, pipeline tickets, and/or bills of lading for loaded sales volumes of such 
Petroleum Substances, divided by 31 days.

(tt) "Non Completion Fee" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 7.6.

(uu) "Officer's Certificate" means a certificate given by an officer of Purchaser or Vendor which shall be 
substantially in the form specified in SCHEDULE H.

(vv) "Party" means a party to this Agreement, and "Parties" means both of the parties to this Agreement.

(ww) "Permits" means, all licences, permits, approvals and authorizations granted or issued by any 
Governmental Authorities and relating to the construction, ownership, use or operation of the Assets.

(xx) "Permitted Encumbrances" means:

(i) liens for taxes, assessments and governmental charges that are not due and payable or 
delinquent;

(ii) liens incurred or created in the ordinary course of business as security in favour of a Person 
that is conducting the development or operation of the property to which such liens relate;

(iii) mechanics', builders' and materialmen's liens in respect of services rendered or goods 
supplied for which payment is not yet due and payable or delinquent;

(iv) easements, rights of way, servitudes and other similar rights in land, including rights of way 
and servitudes for highways and other roads, railways, sewers, drains, gas and oil pipelines, 
gas and water mains, electric light, power, telephone, telegraph and cable television conduits, 
poles, wires and cables;

(v) the right reserved to or vested in any municipality or Governmental Authority by the terms of 
any lease, licence, franchise, grant or permit or by any statutory provision, to terminate any 
such lease, licence, franchise, grant or permit or to require annual or other periodic payments 
as a condition of the continuance thereof;

(vi) rights of general application reserved to or vested in any Governmental Authority to levy 
taxes on Petroleum Substances or any of them or the income therefrom, or to control, limit or 
regulate production rates or the operation or use of any property;

(vii) statutory exceptions to title and the reservations, limitations, provisos and conditions in any 
original grants from the Crown of any mines and minerals;

(viii) the terms and conditions of the Title and Operating Documents that have been made available 
by Vendor for review by Purchaser or its representatives prior to the date of this Agreement, 
provided that, any Encumbrance created under or pursuant to any such Title and Operating 
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Documents prior to the date of this Agreement will be a Permitted Encumbrance only if it 
also satisfies another provision of this Clause 1.1(xx);

(ix) any Encumbrance held by any Third Party in respect of which Vendor delivers a release 
and/or discharge, in form and substance satisfactory to Purchaser, acting reasonably, to 
Purchaser at or prior to the Closing Time;

(x) contracts for the purchase, processing, transportation or storage of Petroleum Substances or 
for the contract operation of any of the Assets that are terminable without penalty on 30 days
or less notice;

(xi) all ROFRs arising under or pursuant to any of the Title and Operating Documents; and

(xii) all Encumbrances identified or set forth in a SCHEDULE A.

(yy) "Person" includes any individual, body corporate, partnership (limited or general), trust, trustee, 
executor or similar official, Governmental Authority or other entity.

(zz) "Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights" means all of Vendor's right, title and interest in and to:

(i) rights in, or rights to drill for and to produce, save and market, Petroleum Substances;

(ii) fee simple interests and other estates in Petroleum Substances in situ;

(iii) royalty interests, net profit interests and similar interests in Petroleum Substances or the 
proceeds of the sale Petroleum Substances or to payments calculated by reference thereto; and

(iv) rights to acquire any of the foregoing in paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) above;

but, in each case, only insofar as the foregoing relate to the Lands or any lands pooled or unitized 
therewith.

(aaa) "Petroleum Substances" means crude oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids and other related 
hydrocarbons and any and all other substances related to any of the foregoing, whether liquid, solid or 
gaseous, including coalbed methane, and whether hydrocarbons or not, sulphur.

(bbb) "Pre-Closing Period" means the period from the date of this Agreement to the Closing Date.

(ccc) "Prime Rate" means the rate of interest equal to the annual rate of interest announced from time to 
time by the main Calgary branch of the Royal Bank of Canada as the reference rate then in effect for 
determining interest rates on Canadian dollar commercial loans in Canada.

(ddd) "Production Adjustment" means an amount equal to the product of:

(i) the amount, if any, by which the Net Average Daily Sales Volume is less than 100 BOE per 
day; and

(ii) $90,000 per BOE per day.

(eee) "Production and Marketing Contracts" means those agreements and other arrangements identified 
in SCHEDULE B.
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(fff) "Public Record" means all information filed by or on behalf of the Purchaser with the Alberta 
Securities Commission or any other provincial securities regulatory authority in Canada in compliance 
with, or intended compliance with, any Applicable Securities Laws.

(ggg) "Purchase Price" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 2.3(a).

(hhh) "Purchaser Information" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 7.4(a).

(iii) "Purchaser's Solicitors" means Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP in its capacity as legal counsel to 
Purchaser.

(jjj) "Related Persons" means, in respect to a Party, that Party's Affiliates, together with that Party's and 
its Affiliates' directors, officers, employees and other personnel and agents.

(kkk) "Reorganization" means the reorganization of Vendor involving a consolidation of its outstanding 
shares and, on such consolidation, a distribution to its shareholders in respect of fractional shares, 
which distribution shall include, subject to Closing, a portion of the Share Consideration.

(lll) "ROFR" means a right of first refusal, pre-emptive right of purchase or similar right to acquire the 
Assets or certain of them that may become operative by virtue of the execution of this Agreement or 
the completion of the Transaction.

(mmm) "Security Interest" means a pledge, lien, charge, mortgage, assignment by way of security, 
conditional sale, title retention arrangement or other security interest.

(nnn) "Share Consideration" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 2.4(a).

(ooo) "Specific Conveyances" means all conveyances, assignments, transfers, novations, trust declarations 
and other documents or instruments that are reasonably required or desirable, in accordance with 
normal oil and gas industry practices, to convey, assign and transfer the Assets to Purchaser and to 
make Purchaser a party to, and to novate Purchaser into, the Title and Operating Documents in the 
place and stead of Vendor with respect to the Assets.

(ppp) "Surface Rights" means all rights to occupy, cross or otherwise use or enjoy the surface of the Lands 
or any lands pooled or unitized therewith or any other lands: (i) upon which the Tangibles and the 
Wells are situate, (ii) used in connection with the ownership or operation of the Petroleum and Natural 
Gas Rights, the Tangibles or the Wells, or (iii) used to gain access to any of the Lands (or any lands 
pooled or unitized therewith), the Tangibles or the Wells.

(qqq) "Take or Pay Obligations" means obligations to sell or deliver Petroleum Substances or any of them 
without being entitled in due course to receive and retain full payment for such Petroleum Substances.

(rrr) "Tangibles" means all of Vendor's right, title and interest in and to:

(i) all Major Facilities; and

(ii) all tangible depreciable property, apparatus, plant, equipment, machinery, field inventory and 
facilities used or intended for use in, or otherwise useful in exploiting any Petroleum 
Substances from or within the Lands (whether the Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights to which 
such Petroleum Substances are allocated are owned by Vendor or by others or both) and 
located within, upon or in the vicinity of the Lands (or any lands pooled or unitized 
therewith), including any and all gas plants, oil batteries, buildings, production equipment, 
pipelines, pipeline connections, meters, generators, motors, compressors, treaters, 
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dehydrators, separators, pumps, tanks, boilers, communication equipment and all salvageable 
equipment pertaining to any Wells listed in SCHEDULE A.

(sss) "Tax Act" means the Income Tax Act (Canada) R.S.C. 1985, c.1 (5th Supplement) and the Income 
Tax Application Rules R.S.C. 1985, c.2 (5th Supplement).

(ttt) "Tax Pool Election" has the meaning ascribed to that term in Clause 2.8(a).

(uuu) "Tax Pools" means all Canadian oil and gas property expense or cumulative Canadian oil and gas 
property expense, as the context requires, (as such terms are defined in the Tax Act) associated with 
the Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights.

(vvv) "Third Party" means any Person other than Vendor or Purchaser.

(www) "Thirteenth Month Adjustment" means the accounting procedure performed annually by any 
operator of certain of the Assets for the purpose of redistributing operating expenses, processing fee 
revenues, royalties and gas cost allowances and other costs, expenses or revenues among the owners 
or users of those Assets.

(xxx) "Title and Operating Documents" means:

(i) all leases, subleases, permits and licences (and any replacements, renewals or extensions 
thereof or leases or other instruments derived therefrom) pertaining to the Lands by virtue of 
which the holder thereof is granted certain rights with respect to Petroleum Substances within, 
upon or under the Lands or any lands pooled or unitized therewith or by virtue of which the 
holder thereof is deemed to be entitled to a share of Petroleum Substances removed from the 
Lands or any lands pooled or unitized therewith;

(ii) agreements, instruments and other documents relating to the acquisition, ownership, operation 
or exploitation of the Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights, Tangibles, or the Wells, including:

(A) operating agreements, royalty agreements, farm-out or farm-in agreements, option 
agreements, participation agreements, pooling agreements, unit agreements, unit 
operating agreements, sale and purchase agreements and asset exchange agreements;

(B) agreements for the sale of Petroleum Substances that are terminable on 30 days 
notice or less without early termination penalty or other cost;

(C) agreements pertaining to the Surface Rights;

(D) agreements for the construction, ownership and operation of gas plants, gathering 
systems and other tangible depreciable property and assets;

(E) service agreements for the treating, gathering, storage, transportation or processing of 
Petroleum Substances or other Petroleum Substances, the injection or subsurface 
disposal of substances, the use of well bores or the operation of any Tangibles or 
Wells by a Third Party;

(F) Permits and other approvals, authorizations or licences required under Applicable 
Law.

(yyy) "Title Defect" means a defect, deficiency or discrepancy in or affecting the title of Vendor in and to 
any of the Assets which is such that a knowledgeable and prudent purchaser of the affected Assets 
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would, acting reasonably, refuse to purchase such affected Assets for a price equal to the fair market 
value thereof (determined as if such defect, deficiency or discrepancy did not exist) because of such 
defect, deficiency or discrepancy, but specifically excluding any defect, deficiency or discrepancy 
arising from or as a consequence of:

(i) any interest identified in SCHEDULE A having converted from a before-payout interest to an 
after-payout interest as a result of payout having occurred;

(ii) any defects or deficiencies in title specifically identified in this Agreement;

(iii) any Permitted Encumbrances;

(iv) any missing or unsigned documents in the chain of title to the any of the Assets where:

(A) such document is not reasonably required to confirm the creation, establishment or 
maintenance of such title and the current status of title can otherwise be confirmed 
with reasonable certainty; or

(B) such document represents a reduction of interest in such Assets which is reflected in 
SCHEDULE A;

(v) failure to confirm delay rental payments required to maintain freehold leases as having been 
paid, where the failure to confirm such payments will not result in a termination of the lease; 
or

(vi) Vendor's or any predecessor's interest being a beneficial interest rather than a legal interest.

(zzz) "Transaction" means the purchase of the Assets by Purchaser from Vendor on, subject to and in 
accordance with the terms and conditions, and as more fully described, in this Agreement.

(aaaa) "TSX Approval" means the approval by The Toronto Stock Exchange for the issuance and listing of 
the Galleon Class A Shares to be issued to Vendor as the Share Consideration as contemplated in this 
Agreement and, if necessary, the other transactions contemplated in this Agreement.

(bbbb) "Vendor Meeting" means the special meeting of Vendor's shareholders, including any adjournments 
thereof, called to among other things consider and, if determined advisable, approve the Transaction, 
the Reorganization and related matters.

(cccc) "Vendor Shareholder Approval" means the approval of the Transaction (as the sale of all or 
substantially all of the assets of Vendor) and the Reorganization, by a special resolution of the 
shareholders of Vendor at a special meeting of such shareholders that was duly called and conducted 
for such purposes in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Business Corporations Act
(Alberta) and otherwise as contemplated in Clause 7.4.

(dddd) "Vendor's Knowledge" means only of the actual knowledge or awareness, as the case may be, of the 
following individuals:

(i) Barry Borak, President of Vendor; and

(ii) Suzanne Stahl, Land Manager of Vendor;

without any particular enquiries on the part of those individuals, and does not include constructive 
knowledge or the knowledge and awareness of any other Person or Persons.
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(eeee) "Vendor's Solicitors" means Bennett Jones LLP in its capacity as legal counsel to Vendor.

(ffff) "Wells" means all producing, shut-in, water source, observation, disposal, injection, abandoned, 
suspended and similar wells located on or within the Lands or any lands pooled or unitized therewith, 
whether or not completed, including the wells identified or described in SCHEDULE A, together with 
all well licenses relating thereto.

1.2 Schedules

Appended to this Agreement are the following Schedules:

SCHEDULE A - Lands, Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights, Wells
SCHEDULE B - Production and Marketing Contracts
SCHEDULE C - Major Facilities
SCHEDULE D - Outstanding AFEs
SCHEDULE E - Form of General Conveyance
SCHEDULE F - Production Sales Contracts to be Terminated
SCHEDULE G - Leased Tangibles
SCHEDULE H - Form of Officer's Certificate
SCHEDULE I - Included Seismic Data

These Schedules are incorporated into and form part of this Agreement.  If any term or condition of such 
Schedules conflicts or is inconsistent with any term or condition in the main body of this Agreement, the term 
or condition in the main body of this Agreement shall prevail to the extent of the conflict or inconsistency.

1.3 Headings

The use of "Article", "Clause", "sub-clause", "paragraph" and "Schedule" followed by a number or 
letter or combination thereof refers to the specified article, clause, sub-clause, paragraph or schedule of or to 
this Agreement.

1.4 Interpretation Not Affected by Headings

The division of this Agreement into articles, clauses, sub-clauses, paragraphs and other sub-divisions 
and the insertion of headings for all or any of the foregoing are for convenience and reference only and shall 
not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.

1.5 Words Importing Number or Gender

When the context reasonably permits, words in this Agreement that suggest the singular shall be 
construed to suggest the plural and vice versa, and words in this Agreement that suggest gender or gender 
neutrality shall be construed to suggest the masculine, feminine and neutral genders.

1.6 Use of Derivative Terms

If a derivative form of a term or expression that is already specifically defined in this Agreement is 
also used in this Agreement, then such derivative form shall have a meaning that corresponds to the applicable 
defined term or expression.
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1.7 Use of Industry Terms

Terms and expression that are not specifically defined in this Agreement, but which have generally 
accepted meanings in the custom and usage of the petroleum and natural gas industry in Western Canada as of 
the date of this Agreement, shall have such generally accepted meanings when used in this Agreement unless 
the contrary is specified or provided for elsewhere in this Agreement.

1.8 Use of "Including"

The use of "including" or "includes" or similar words in this Agreement, when following any general 
statement, term or matter, is not to be construed to limit such general statement, term or matter to the specific 
items immediately following such word to those or similar items, whether or not non-limiting language (such 
as "without limitation" or "but not limited to" or words of similar import) is used, but rather such references 
shall be construed to refer to all items that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of such 
general statement, term or matter.

1.9 Meaning of "Gross Negligence" and "Wilful Misconduct"

For the purposes of this Agreement, no act or omission by a Party or its Related Persons shall be 
construed as gross negligence or wilful misconduct if the act or omission is taken or omitted to be taken at the 
request or direction of, or with the prior consent or approval of, the other Party.

1.10 Accounting Matters

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings 
attributable thereto under Canadian GAAP and all determinations of an accounting nature required to be made 
shall be made in a manner consistent with Canadian GAAP applied on a consistent basis.

1.11 Statutory References

Any reference in this Agreement to a law, statute, regulation, rule, by-law or other requirement of law 
or any governmental consent, approval, permit or other authorization shall be deemed to refer to such law, 
statute, regulation, rule, by-law or other requirement of law or such governmental consent, approval, permit or 
other authorization as it has amended, supplemented, re-enacted, varied, amended or otherwise modified or 
replaced from time to time up to the applicable time.

1.12 Contractual References

Any reference in this Agreement to another contract, agreement, instrument or other document shall 
be deemed to refer to such contract, agreement instrument or other document as it has been amended, 
modified, replaced or supplemented from time to time up to the applicable time.

1.13 Monetary References

Any reference in this Agreement to a monetary amount, including the use of the term "Dollar" or the 
symbol "$", shall mean the lawful currency of Canada unless the contrary is specified or provided for 
elsewhere in this Agreement.

1.14 References to Time

Any reference in this Agreement to any particular time shall mean the local time in Calgary, Alberta 
on the relevant day.
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1.15 Date for Payments or Other Actions

Where any payment or calculation is to be made, or any other action is to be taken, on or as of a day 
that is not a Business Day, that payment or calculation is to be made, or that other action is to be taken, as 
applicable, on or as of the next following Business Day.

ARTICLE 2
PURCHASE AND SALE AND CLOSING

2.1 Purchase and Sale

Vendor hereby agrees to sell, assign, transfer and convey the Assets to Purchaser, and Purchaser 
hereby agrees to purchase and receive the Assets from Vendor, on, subject to and in accordance with the terms 
of this Agreement.

2.2 Closing

(a) Subject to all other provisions of this Agreement, Closing shall take place at the Closing Place at the 
Closing Time.

(b) Subject to all other provisions of this Agreement, title to, and beneficial ownership of, the Assets shall 
pass from Vendor to Purchaser upon Closing.

(c) If funds due at Closing are transferred via wire transfer, Closing shall not occur unless and until 
Vendor is satisfied that such funds have been received into the bank account designated by it for such 
purposes.

2.3 Purchase Price

(a) The aggregate consideration to be paid by Purchaser to Vendor for the Assets (the "Purchase Price") 
shall be $9,203,500.00 (the "Base Price"), minus the Production Adjustment, if any, plus the net 
amount of the adjustments provided for in Clause 2.6.

(b) As the Parties' estimate of the Purchase Price as of Closing, at the Closing Time: (i) Purchaser shall 
pay to Vendor an amount equal to the Base Price, minus the deemed aggregate value of the Share 
Considerations as set forth in Clause 2.4(a), minus the Deposit, minus the Deposit Interest, minus the 
Production Adjustment, if any, plus the net amount set forth in the Closing Statement, and (ii) the 
Parties shall instruct Vendor's Solicitors to release the Deposit and Deposit Interest to Vendor, which 
amounts shall be applied in partial satisfaction of the Purchase Price.

(c) The Purchase Price shall be allocated among the Assets as follows:

(i) to the Tangibles, 20% of the Base Price, minus $1.00;

(ii) to the Miscellaneous Interests, $1.00;

with the balance of the Purchase Price allocated to the Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights.



- 14 -

2.4 Payment of Purchase Price

(a) The Purchase Price shall be satisfied through issuance by the Purchaser to the Purchaser of 215,000 
Galleon Class A Shares with a deemed issue price of $14.90 per Galleon Class A Share, resulting in a 
deemed aggregate value of $3,203,500.00 for such shares, (the "Share Consideration"), with the 
balance of the Purchase Price, including any adjustments thereto, satisfied by cash payments.

(b) All cash payments to be made pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in immediately available 
funds by wire transfer.  Vendor shall provide Purchaser with the applicable the wire transfer 
information no later than five Business Days prior to the Closing Date.

2.5 GST

(a) The Base Price does not include an amount on account of GST or any Other Sales Taxes payable in 
respect of the Transaction.

(b) At Closing, the Parties shall make a joint election pursuant to section 167 of the Excise Tax Act 
(Canada) (the "GST Election") in respect of the Transaction with the effect that, in connection with 
the conveyance herein, no amount will be paid by the Purchaser to the Vendor, and no amount will be 
collected by Vendor from Purchaser, at Closing on account of GST.

(c) The Purchaser shall file the required number of original copies of the executed GST Election with the 
Canada Revenue Agency within the prescribed period after Closing.

(d) The Parties acknowledge that the making and filing of the GST Election does not affect in any way 
the Purchaser's liability for all amounts payable on account of GST in respect of the Transaction.  The 
Parties agree that, as between the Vendor and the Purchaser, the Purchaser shall be solely liable for 
and the Purchaser shall indemnify and save harmless the Vendor from any GST, penalty, interest or 
other amounts which may be payable by or assessed against the Vendor under the Excise Tax Act 
(Canada) as a result of or in connection with the failure by Purchaser to pay any GST at Closing, 
except to the extent that such penalty, interest or other amounts payable by the Vendor is the result of 
any act or omission by the Vendor.

2.6 Adjustments

(a) All benefits and obligations of any kind or nature received, accruing, payable or paid in respect of the 
Assets, including maintenance, development, capital and operating costs and proceeds from the sale of 
production, shall be apportioned between Vendor and Purchaser as of the Effective Time, subject to 
the following:

(i) all rentals and similar payments, all cash advances and all property taxes, freehold mineral 
taxes and other taxes (excluding taxes based on income, net revenue or capital) paid, payable 
or levied on or in respect to the Assets, the ownership thereof or Petroleum Substances 
produced therefrom or allocated thereto shall be apportioned between Vendor and Purchaser 
on a per diem basis as of the Effective Time;

(ii) no adjustments shall be made on account of any taxes calculated by reference to or assessed 
based on income, net revenue or capital that are payable by Vendor or Purchaser;

(iii) all costs relating to any work performed or goods and services provided in respect of the 
Assets will be deemed to have accrued as of the date the work was performed or the goods or 
services were provided, regardless of the time at which those costs become payable;
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(iv) all deposits, prepaid amounts and other security and financial assurances provided by Vendor 
to Governmental Authorities or other Third Parties in respect to the Assets, the operation 
thereof, Petroleum Substances produced therefrom or allocated thereto or services provided in 
connection therewith do not comprise part of the Assets and shall be for the sole benefit and 
the account of Vendor;

(v) all overhead recoveries, operator's fees and similar amounts received or receivable from Third 
Parties by Vendor as operator of any Assets pursuant to the Title and Operating Documents 
and relating to the period up to Closing shall be for Vendor's benefit and account;

(vi) Petroleum Substances that were produced from or allocated to the Assets and that were 
beyond the wellhead as of the Effective Time do not comprise part of the Assets and shall 
remain the property of, and be for the benefit and the account of, Vendor;

(vii) surplus items such as tubing and casing which are stored on the Lands, but which were not 
charged and are not chargeable to any joint interest account with respect to Assets do not 
comprise part of the Assets and shall be removed by Vendor as soon as is reasonably 
practicable after Closing;

(viii) there shall be no adjustment in respect of the amount actually received or recovered by 
Purchaser in respect of the Berkley Receivable.

(b) All adjustments between the Parties pursuant to this Clause 2.6 shall be allocated to the Petroleum and 
Natural Gas Rights.

(c) Vendor shall prepare a statement based on Vendor's good faith estimate of all adjustments to be made 
between the Parties under Clause 2.6(a) (the "Closing Statement") and deliver a copy of such 
statement to Purchaser no later than the third Business Day immediately prior to the Closing Date.

(d) Within 120 days following Closing, Purchaser shall prepare (or cause to be prepared) and deliver to 
Vendor a written statement (the "Final Statement of Adjustments") setting forth any adjustments to 
be made to between the Parties under Clause 2.6(a) that were not included in the Closing Statement or, 
if included in the Closing Statement, were not accurately included therein.  Except as provided in 
Clause 2.6(e), no further adjustments shall be made between the Parties after settlement of the 
adjustments set forth in the Final Statement of Adjustments.

(e) After delivery of the Final Statement of Adjustments, the Parties shall make further adjustments 
between them, or correct previously made adjustments made between them, under Clause 2.6(a) as 
and when identified by either of the Parties, provided that, no adjustments shall be claimed or made 
under Clause 2.6(a), including corrections to previously made adjustments, more than one year after 
Closing except:

(i) in response to a notice by one Party to the other Party within the one year period immediately 
following Closing, which notice shall identify in reasonable detail an adjustment permitted 
under Clause 2.6(a) that was not previously made between the Parties or, if previously made, 
was not made accurately;

(ii) in connection with a Thirteenth Month Adjustment, but only if a claim in respect of such  
Thirteenth Month Adjustment is made by one Party to the other Party within two years after 
Closing.  If such notice is not given within such period, no adjustment in this regard shall be 
claimed or made;
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(iii) as a consequence of an audit relating to the Assets that was conducted by a Third Party (other 
than a Governmental Authority) having rights to do so pursuant to the Title and Operating 
Documents, but only if a claim in respect of such an audit is made by one Party to the other 
Party within two years after Closing.  If such notice is not given within such period, no 
adjustment in this regard shall be claimed or made; or

(iv) an audit initiated by a Governmental Authority, but only if a claim in respect of such an audit 
is made by one Party to the other Party within four years after Closing.  If such notice is not 
given within such period, no adjustment in this regard shall be claimed or made.

(f) At any time during the one year period immediately following Closing, each Party shall have the right, 
at its own cost and upon at least five Business Days prior notice to the other Party, to examine, copy 
and audit the accounting and financial records of the other Party relating to the Assets for the purpose 
of verifying the calculation or re-calculation of the adjustments provided for in this Clause 2.6, 
provided that: (i) in the case of inquiries relating to a Thirteenth Month Adjustment or an audit 
conducted by a Third Party (other than a Governmental Authority), such period shall extend to the end 
of the two year period immediately following Closing; and (ii) in the case of inquiries relating to an 
audit initiated by a Governmental Authority, such period shall extend to the end of the four year 
period immediately following Closing.  Each Party shall cooperate with the other Party in order to 
provide reasonable access to its records to the other Party for the purposes of this Clause 2.6(f).

(g) If the Parties fail to agree on the applicability of any adjustment claimed by one of the Parties pursuant 
to this Clause 2.6 or the calculation or re-calculation of any adjustments provided for in this 
Clause 2.6, then, on notice to the other Party, a Party may require that the matter be resolved by 
arbitration in the manner provided for in Clause 11.3(c).

(h) Amounts payable under this Clause 2.6 shall be paid within 10 days of delivery of the Final Statement 
of Adjustments or receipt of notice by a Party that is liable to pay such amount as provided above in 
this Clause 2.6, subject to the limitations in Clause 2.6(e), provided that, if there is a dispute regarding 
any the liability for or the amount of any permitted (or purportedly permitted) adjustment as provided 
in Clause 2.6(g), the amount in dispute shall be paid within 10 days of settlement of such dispute.  If a 
Party fails to pay any such amount when it first becomes due and payable, then, in addition to and 
without prejudice to its obligation to pay such unpaid amount, such Party shall pay to the other Party 
interest on such unpaid amount calculated at an annual rate of interest equal to the Prime Rate, plus 
three percentage points, on a day-to-day basis for the period from the day on which such unpaid 
amount first became due and payable, to the day on which payment of such unpaid amount, together 
with such interest, is received by the other Party.

2.7 Deposit

Vendor and Purchaser acknowledge that, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, 
Purchaser has paid to Vendor's Solicitors the sum of $920,350.00 (the "Deposit") and Vendor, Purchaser and 
Vendor's Solicitors have executed the Deposit Escrow Agreement pursuant to which the Deposit will be held 
by Vendor's Solicitors and released to Vendor or Purchaser, as the case may be.  If Closing occurs, Vendor and 
Purchaser shall instruct Vendor's Solicitors to release the Deposit and the Deposit Interest to Vendor, in which 
case, such amounts will be applied towards the Purchase Price as contemplated in Clause 2.3(b).  If this 
Agreement is terminated prior to Closing, Vendor and Purchaser shall direct the Vendor's Solicitors to release 
of the Deposit and the Deposit Interest as contemplated in Clause 3.1 or 3.2, as the case may be.

2.8 Tax Election

(a) At Closing, the Parties shall make a joint election pursuant to section 66.7 of the Tax Act and 
subsections 1202(2), (3) and (5) of the regulations under the Tax Act (the "Tax Pool Election").  
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Purchaser shall file the required number of original copies of the executed Tax Pool Election with the 
Canada Revenue Agency within the prescribed period after Closing.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, in preparing Vendor's tax returns and in 
calculating the taxes payable and taxable income of Vendor for its taxation period during which 
Closing occurs, including in calculating any taxable income arising as a result of the Transaction, 
Vendor may claim the maximum amounts which Vendor is entitled under the Tax Act to claim in 
respect of the Tax Pools for such taxation period.

ARTICLE 3
CONDITIONS OF CLOSING

3.1 Purchaser's Conditions

(a) The obligation of Purchaser to complete the Transaction and purchase the Assets from Vendor is 
subject to the following conditions precedent, which are inserted into and made part of this Agreement 
for the exclusive benefit of Purchaser and may be waived only by Purchaser:

(i) the representations and warranties of Vendor set forth in Clause 5.1 shall be true and correct 
in all material respects as of the date specified in the particular representation or warranty, or 
if no date is specified, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Time, and all 
obligations and covenants of Vendor in this Agreement that are to be performed or complied 
with prior to or at the Closing Time (other than in respect of the agreements, certificates and 
other instruments and documents to be delivered at the Closing Time by Vendor pursuant to 
Clause 4.1) shall have been performed or complied with in all material respects;

(ii) at the Closing Time, Vendor shall have duly delivered the agreements, certificates and other 
instruments and documents required pursuant to Clause 4.1;

(iii) no Governmental Authority shall have issued an order, decree or ruling or taken any other 
action restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the completion of the Transaction which 
has not been vacated or dismissed prior to the Closing Time;

(iv) at or before the Closing Time, TSX Approval shall have been issued on terms and conditions 
satisfactory to Purchaser, acting reasonably;

(v) at or before 5:00 p.m. on September 22, 2008 Purchaser shall have confirmed that the Net 
Average Daily Sales Volume is greater than 90 BOE per day;

(vi) on or before the Closing Date, the Vendor Shareholder Approval shall have been obtained;

(vii) on or before the date of this Agreement, Vendor shall have delivered termination notices in 
respect of the contracts set forth in Schedule F in form and substance satisfactory to Purchaser 
acting reasonably; and

(viii) at or before the Closing Time, all approvals and authorizations in respect of the Transaction 
required to be obtained prior to Closing pursuant to Applicable Law, excluding the TSX 
Approval and any authorization or approval that cannot be unreasonably withheld, or 
exemptions from having to obtain such authorizations or approvals, shall have been obtained 
on terms acceptable to the Purchaser acting reasonably.

(b) If any of the conditions precedent in Clause 3.10 has not been satisfied, complied with or waived by 
Purchaser at or before the time specified in the particular condition precedent or, if no time is 
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specified, at or before the Closing Time, then Purchaser may terminate this Agreement by written 
notice to Vendor prior to the Closing Time.

(c) Following any termination of this Agreement by Purchaser pursuant to Clause 3.1(b), 7.6 or 9.2(e):

(i) Vendor and Purchaser shall forthwith instruct Vendor's Solicitors to return the Deposit, 
together the Deposit Interest, to Purchaser; and

(ii) Purchaser and Vendor shall be released and discharged from the further performance of any 
duties or obligations under this Agreement, except as provided in this Clause 3.1(c) and 
Clauses 7.6 and 11.13.

3.2 Vendor's Conditions

(a) The obligation of Vendor to complete the Transaction and sell and convey the Assets to Purchaser is 
subject to the following conditions precedent, which are inserted into and made part of this Agreement 
for the exclusive benefit of Vendor and may be waived by Vendor:

(i) the representations and warranties of Purchaser set forth in Clause 5.3 shall be true and 
correct in all material respects as of the date specified in the particular representation or 
warranty, or if no date is specified, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing 
Time, and all obligations and covenants of Purchaser in this Agreement that are to be 
performed or complied with prior to or at the Closing Time (other than in respect to the 
payments, agreements, certificates and other instruments and documents to be made and 
delivered at the Closing Time by Purchaser pursuant to Clause 4.2) shall have been performed 
or complied with in all material respects;

(ii) at the Closing Time, Purchaser shall have duly made and delivered the payments, agreements, 
certificates and other instruments and documents required pursuant to Clause 4.2;

(iii) no Governmental Authority shall have issued an order, decree or ruling or taken any other 
action restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the completion of the Transaction which 
has not been vacated or dismissed prior to the Closing Time;

(iv) at or before the Closing Time, the TSX Approval shall have been issued;

(v) at or before 5:00 p.m. on September 22, 2008, Purchaser shall have confirmed that the Net 
Average Daily Sales Volume is greater than 90 BOE per day;

(vi) on or before the Closing Date, the Vendor Shareholder Approval shall have been obtained; 
and

(vii) at or before the Closing Time, all approvals and authorizations in respect of the Transaction 
required to be obtained prior to Closing pursuant to Applicable Law, excluding the TSX 
Approval and any authorization or approval that cannot be unreasonably withheld, or 
exemptions from having to obtain such authorizations or approvals, shall have been obtained 
on terms acceptable to the Vendor acting reasonably.

(b) If any of the conditions precedent in Clause 3.2(a) has not been satisfied, complied with or waived by 
Vendor at or before the time specified in the particular condition precedent or, if no time is specified, 
at or before the Closing Time, then Vendor may terminate this Agreement by written notice to 
Purchaser prior to the Closing Time.
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(i) If Vendor terminates this Agreement as provided in Clause 3.2(b), Purchaser and Vendor 
shall be released and discharged from the further performance of any duties or obligations 
under this Agreement except as provided in this Clause 3.2(b)(i) and Clauses 7.6 and 11.13.

(ii) If Vendor terminates this Agreement as provided in Clause 3.2(b) as a consequence of the 
conditions precedent set forth in Clause 2(a) or (b) not having been satisfied or complied 
with, and provided that Purchaser did not concurrently have the right to terminate this 
Agreement, then Vendor and Purchaser shall forthwith instruct Vendor's Solicitors to release 
the Deposit, together the Deposit Interest, to Vendor and Vendor shall be entitled to retain the 
Deposit and the Deposit Interest as liquidated damages, being the Parties' good faith estimate 
of the damages that Vendor will suffer as a consequence of the termination of this Agreement 
in such circumstances, provided that, such entitlement to the Deposit and the Deposit Interest 
shall be sole and exclusive remedy in respect of the failure of Closing to occur and such 
termination of this Agreement.

(iii) If this Agreement terminates prior to Closing in any circumstances other than those set forth 
in Clause 3.2(b)(ii), including as provided in Clause 3.1(b) or as a consequence of Clause 7.6
or 9.2(e), Vendor and Purchaser shall forthwith instruct Vendor's Solicitors to return the 
Deposit, together the Deposit Interest, to Purchaser.

3.3 Efforts to Fulfil Conditions Precedent

Purchaser and Vendor shall proceed diligently and in good faith and use their reasonable efforts to 
satisfy and comply with the conditions precedent in Clauses 0 and 0 and shall provide the other Party with any 
reasonable assistance in the satisfaction of and compliance with the conditions precedent in Clauses 0 and 0
that the other Party may reasonably request.

ARTICLE 4
CLOSING DELIVERIES

4.1 Deliveries by Vendor at Closing

At the Closing Time, Vendor shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to Purchaser:

(a) a General Conveyance duly executed by Vendor;

(b) a true copy of a resolution of the board of directors of Vendor approving and authorizing the execution 
of this Agreement by Vendor and the performance by Vendor of its obligations under this Agreement;

(c) a certified copy of the special resolution of the shareholders of Vendor approving the Transaction as 
the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of Vendor and the Reorganization;

(d) an Officer's Certificate signed by an officer of Vendor;

(e) a direction, duly executed by Vendor, instructing the Vendor's Solicitors to release the Deposit and 
Deposit Interest to Vendor as contemplated in Clause 2.3(b);

(f) releases and registerable discharges or no interest letters in respect of all registered Security Interests 
pertaining to the Assets that are to be discharged at Closing;

(g) the GST Election duly executed by Vendor;
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(h) an assignment of the Berkley Receivable, in a form satisfactory to Purchaser, duly executed by 
Vendor;

(i) two copies of the Tax Pool Election duly executed by Vendor; and

(j) an opinion by Vendor's Counsel addressed to Purchaser and otherwise in a form acceptable to 
Purchaser's Counsel, acting reasonably, to the effect that: (i) the Reorganization has been duly 
authorized under Applicable Law, and (ii) subject to Closing and the distribution of the Share 
Consideration or a portion thereof to the shareholders of Vendor, the Reorganization has been 
completed in accordance with Applicable Law, so that the Galleon Class A Shares comprising the 
Share Consideration shall not be subject to any hold period, restricted period or seasoning period 
under Applicable Securities Laws.

4.2 Deliveries by Purchaser at Closing

At the Closing Time, Purchaser shall pay or deliver, or cause to be paid or delivered, to Vendor:

(a) the amount specified in Clause 2.3(b), in the manner contemplated in Clause 2.4(b);

(b) one or more certificates representing the Galleon Class A Shares issued as the Share Consideration;

(c) an Officer's Certificate signed by an officer of Purchaser;

(d) a direction, duly executed by Purchaser, instructing the Vendor's Solicitors to release the Deposit and 
Deposit Interest to Vendor as contemplated in Clause 2.3(b);

(e) a true copy of a resolution of the board of directors of Purchaser approving and authorizing the 
execution of this Agreement by Purchaser, the issuance of the Share Consideration and the 
performance by Purchaser of its obligations under this Agreement;

(f) a General Conveyance duly executed by Purchaser;

(g) a true copy of the TSX Approval;

(h) the GST Election duly executed by Purchaser; and

(i) two copies of the Tax Pool Election duly executed by Vendor.

4.3 Specific Conveyances

(a) Vendor, at its own cost, shall use its reasonable efforts to prepare the Specific Conveyances prior to, 
and to deliver the Specific Conveyances to Purchaser at, the Closing Time, provided that, if and to the 
extent that any Specific Conveyances are not delivered by Vendor to Purchaser at the Closing Time, 
Vendor shall prepare and deliver to Purchaser the remaining Specific Conveyances as soon as is 
reasonably practicable after Closing.

(b) It shall not be necessary for any Specific Conveyances that are delivered by Vendor at the Closing 
Time to have been executed prior to or at Closing by parties thereto other than Vendor itself.

(c) To the extent that Purchaser is required to execute any Specific Conveyances, it shall do so promptly 
after the delivery of such Specific Conveyances whether at or after the Closing Time, as the case may 
be.



- 21 -

(d) In respect of any Specific Conveyances that require execution by Third Parties, promptly after Closing 
or the delivery of such Specific Conveyances after Closing, as the case may be, and, if necessary, the 
execution of such Specific Conveyances by Purchaser, Vendor shall co-operate with Purchaser and 
provide all reasonable assistance that Purchaser may reasonably request in connection with 
Purchaser's procurement of the execution of such Specific Conveyances by the parties thereto other 
than Vendor and Purchaser.

(e) In respect of any Specific Conveyances that do not require execution by Third Parties, Purchaser shall 
deliver such Specific Conveyances to the appropriate recipients thereof promptly after Closing or the 
delivery of such Specific Conveyances after Closing, as the case may be, and, if necessary, execution 
by Purchaser, including the registration with the appropriate Governmental Authorities of any such 
Specific Conveyances that require registration.

(f) Purchaser shall bear all costs, fees and deposits of every nature and kind in distributing and registering 
any Specific Conveyances and in providing any assurances or security required to convey, transfer and 
assign the Assets to Purchaser and to have Purchaser recognized as the holder thereof.

(g) Notwithstanding the forgoing in this Clause 4.3, in the case of any Specific Conveyances that are 
Permit or Crown lease transfers which may be filed electronically with the applicable Governmental 
Authority, promptly following Closing, Vendor shall submit electronic transfers for such Permits and 
Crown leases and Purchaser shall accept (or shall cause its nominee to take such action to accept) such 
electronic transfers from Vendor without delay, provided that, if Purchaser in good faith determines or 
believes that any of the electronic transfers are not complete and accurate, or the applicable 
Governmental Authority refuses to process any such transfers because of some defect therein, the 
Parties shall cooperate to duly complete or to correct such incomplete or inaccurate electronic 
transfers as soon as practicable and, thereafter, Vendor shall promptly re-submit such electronic 
transfers and Purchaser shall accept (or shall cause its nominee to take any action required to accept) 
such electronic transfers from Vendor without delay.

(h) If, for any reason, the ERCB or any other Third Party requires Vendor or Purchaser to make a deposit, 
provide any undertakings, information or other documentation or to take any action as a condition of 
or a prerequisite for the approval the transfer of any Permits or the transfer or assignment of any of the 
Assets to Purchaser, immediately after receiving notice of such requirements and at its sole cost, 
Vendor or Purchaser, as the case may be, shall make such deposits, provide such undertakings, 
information or other documentation and take such action, as the case may be.

(i) If Vendor or Purchaser fails to make a deposit with the ERCB or other Third Party as provided under 
Clause 4.3(h) within five days of receipt of notification that such deposit is required, the other Party 
shall have the right, but not the obligation, to make such deposit on behalf of the Party responsible for 
such deposit and each Party acknowledges and agrees that other Party shall be the agent with full 
power and authority to make such deposit for and on behalf of the Party responsible for such deposit.  
The Party responsible for such deposit shall reimburse the other Party for the amount of any such 
deposit made by the other Party and pay interest on the amount of such deposit at an annual rate equal 
to the Prime Rate, plus three percentage points, from the date on which the deposit was paid, to the 
date on which the reimbursement for such deposit and payment of the corresponding interest is made 
in full.  In addition to all other rights that may be available to a Party for the collection of such 
amounts from the Party responsible for such deposit, such Party shall have the right to set-off the 
amount of any such deposit, including interest as provided in this Clause 4.3(i), against any monies 
payable by it to the Party responsible for such deposit pursuant to this Agreement.
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ARTICLE 5
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

5.1 Representations and Warranties Regarding Vendor and the Assets

Vendor hereby makes the following representations and warranties to and in favour of Purchaser:

(a) Vendor is a corporation duly formed and existing under the laws of the Province of Alberta and 
registered to carry on business in the jurisdictions in which the Assets are situate, except where failure 
to so register would not adversely affect the ability of Vendor to complete the Transaction on the basis 
contemplated in this Agreement;

(b) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Vendor has been duly and validly 
authorized by any and all requisite action on the part of Vendor's directors and will not result in any 
violation of, be in conflict with, or constitute a default under, the constating documents of Vendor;

(c) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Vendor will not result in any violation 
of, be in conflict with or constitute a default under (i) any term or provision of any agreement or 
instrument to which Vendor is party or by which Vendor is bound, or (ii) any Applicable Law that is 
specifically applicable to Vendor;

(d) this Agreement and all other agreements delivered or to be delivered in connection herewith 
constitute, or when delivered shall constitute, valid and binding obligations of Vendor, enforceable 
against Vendor in accordance with their respective terms;

(e) no authorization or approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any Governmental 
Authority is required for the due execution, delivery and performance by Vendor of this Agreement, 
other than authorizations, approvals or exemptions previously obtained and currently in force or to be 
obtained as and when required during the Pre-Closing Period;

(f) Vendor has not incurred any obligation or liability, contingent or otherwise, for brokers' or finders' 
fees in respect of this Agreement or the Transaction for which Purchaser shall have any obligation or 
liability;

(g) Vendor is not a non-resident of Canada for the purposes of section 116 of the Income Tax Act
(Canada);

(h) Vendor is a registrant in respect of GST under the Excise Tax Act (Canada) and its GST registration 
number is 861172500 RT0001;

(i) to Vendor's Knowledge, prior to the date specified in Clause 9.2(b), Vendor or its representative shall 
have made available to Purchaser or its representatives, all relevant records, books, accounts, 
documents, files, information, materials and filings pertaining to the ownership of the Assets, 
including all of the relevant Title and Operating Documents and other agreements and documents 
comprising the Miscellaneous Interests, that are in Vendor's possession and control as at the execution 
of this Agreement for the purpose of Purchaser's due diligence review of Vendor's title to the Assets;

(j) other than as disclosed in writing by Vendor to Purchaser prior to the date of this Agreement, there are 
no unsatisfied judgements, Vendor has not received notice of any Claim, and, to Vendor's Knowledge 
there are no outstanding Claims or threatened Claims, against Vendor in respect of or in connection 
with Assets or the operation thereof;
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(k) except for or pursuant to any Permitted Encumbrances: (i) Vendor has not alienated or encumbered 
the Assets or any part or portion thereof, and (ii) at the Closing Time the Assets shall be free and clear 
of all Encumbrances created by, through or under Vendor;

(l) to the extent pertaining to the Assets (i) all Crown and lessor royalties; (ii) all ad valorem and property 
taxes, and (iii) all production, severance and similar taxes, charges and assessments based upon or 
measured by the ownership or production of Petroleum Substances or any of them or the receipt of 
proceeds from the sale thereof, including freehold mineral royalty taxes, that became due and payable 
to Third Parties on or prior to the date of this Agreement have been fully paid;

(m) there are no Take or Pay Obligations pertaining to the Assets;

(n) except in connection with the AFEs listed in SCHEDULE D and excluding operating expenses
incurred in the normal conduct of operations of the Assets, as of the Effective Time, there are no 
AFEs or other financial commitments pertaining to the Assets under which individual expenditures in 
excess of $25,000 are or may be required to be made by Purchaser by virtue of Closing;

(o) the Assets are not subject to any contract operating agreement or similar arrangement and are not 
bound by any the contract or other arrangement for the sale, gathering, processing, storage, 
compression, transmission, fractionation of, or the provision of any similar services in respect of, any 
Petroleum Substances produced from or allocated to the Assets, and Vendor is not a party to any such 
contract or arrangement for which Purchaser will become liable as a consequence of Closing, except 
for, in each case, the Production and Marketing Contracts or contracts or arrangements which are 
terminable without penalty on 30 days or less notice;

(p) (i) to Vendor's Knowledge, there are no judgments, orders or directives from any Governmental 
Authorities that are specific to the Assets or any portion thereof, relate to Environmental 
Liabilities and require any work, repairs, construction or expenditures with respect to the 
Assets which have not been complied with in all material respects as of the date of this 
Agreement;

(ii) Vendor has not received any demands or notices issued by any Governmental Authority or 
Claims by any other Third Party with respect to the breach of any Applicable Law relating to 
the Environment or damage to the Environment that are specifically applicable to the Assets 
which remain outstanding, in whole or in part, on the date of this Agreement; and

(iii) to Vendor's Knowledge, there have been no releases, deposits or discharges, in violation of 
Applicable Law, of any hazardous or toxic substances, contaminants or wastes into the 
Environment in respect of any of the Assets of or for which Vendor has received written 
notice prior to the date of this Agreement that have not been rectified as of the date of this 
Agreement;

(q) each Well for which Vendor is operator has been, and, to Vendor's Knowledge, each Well for which it 
is not operator has been, operated in all material respects in accordance with good oil and gas field 
practices and the material requirements of Applicable Law;

(r) the Tangibles for which Vendor is operator have been, and, to Vendor's Knowledge, the Tangibles for 
which it is not operator have been, operated in all material respects in accordance with good oil and 
gas field practices and the material requirements of Applicable Law;

(s) other than as identified in SCHEDULE G, none of the respective Tangibles having a replacement 
value in excess of $50,000 is leased or rented;
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(t) to Vendor's Knowledge, the Assets are not subject to any ROFRs;

(u) the Vendor has not received any notice of violation of, default under or non-compliance with, and to 
the knowledge of the Vendor, the Assets have at all times been operated in compliance, in all material 
respects, with all Applicable Law;

(v) the Vendor has not received written notice of any default under any of the Title and Operating 
Documents pertaining to its Assets to which it is a party or by or to which it or the Assets are bound or 
subject, and, to Vendor's Knowledge, it is in good standing under all Title and Operating Documents 
pertaining to its Assets to which it is a party or by or to which it or the Assets are bound or subject;

(w) to the Vendor's Knowledge, none of the Wells has been produced in excess of applicable production 
allowables imposed by Applicable Law or any Governmental Authority since it acquired its interests 
therein and, to Vendor's Knowledge, there is no pending change in production allowables imposed by 
Applicable Law or any Governmental Authority that may be applicable to any of the Wells, other than 
changes generally applicable in the Province of Alberta;

(x) Vendor's "Licensee Liability Rating", as defined in accordance with all applicable ERCB directives, 
rules, regulations, guidelines, interim directives and policies, is not less than 1.0 and, prior to the 
Closing Time, Purchaser shall have complied with all requirements of the ERCB, including, if 
necessary, the posting of deposits or other security, so that following the completion of the 
conveyance of the Assets as provided herein Vendor's Licensee Liability Rating shall not be less than 
1.0, in order to permit the transfer by Vendor to Purchaser upon Closing of all licenses issued and 
administered by the ERCB for which Vendor (or its Affiliate) is licensee and that are included in or 
otherwise pertain to the Assets;

(y) Vendor has not received any notice of default under or non-compliance with the terms of any licences, 
permits, approvals and authorizations relating to the ownership, use or operation of the Assets 
currently held by or on behalf of Vendor and, to Vendor's Knowledge, all such licences, permits, 
approvals and authorizations are in good standing and Vendor is not in default under or in non-
compliance with the terms of any such licences, permits, approvals and authorizations;

(z) to Vendor's Knowledge, Vendor has obtained (or a Third Party has obtained and holds on behalf of 
Vendor) all licences, permits, approvals and authorizations relating to the ownership, use or operation 
of the Assets that are required under Applicable Law in order for it to own the Assets and for the use 
and operation of the Assets in the manner in which such assets have been used or operated up to the 
date of this Agreement; and

(aa) Vendor does not beneficially own any Galleon Class A Shares.

5.2 Limitation Regarding Vendor's Representations and Warranties

(a) Each of Vendor's representations and warranties set forth in Clause 5.1 is made as of the date specified 
in the particular representation or warranty, provided that, if no date is specified, then such 
representation or warranty is made as of the date of this Agreement and shall be deemed to be 
repeated as of the Closing Date.

(b) Except as expressly set forth in Clause 5.1, Vendor makes no representation or warranty regarding: the 
Assets, including:

(i) the title or interest of Vendor in and to the Assets;
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(ii) the quality, quantity or recoverability of Petroleum Substances within or under the Lands or 
any lands pooled or unitized therewith;

(iii) the value of the Assets or the future cash flow therefrom, including any past, present or future 
Losses and Liabilities, including Environmental Liabilities, pertaining to the Assets; or

(iv) the quality, condition, fitness for any particular purpose or merchantability of any equipment 
or other tangible depreciable property included in the Assets or of any of the Lands or any 
lands pooled or unitized therewith;

and Vendor hereby expressly negates, and Purchaser hereby waives, all other representations or 
warranties relating to the Assets, regardless of whether made directly or indirectly, in verbal, written 
or electronic form, by Vendor or any of its directors, officers, employees or other personnel, 
consultants, agents, auditors, counsel or representatives, or implied under or arising by operation of 
law.

(c) Purchaser acknowledges and confirms that except for the representations and warranties set forth in 
Clause 5.1, it is acquiring the Assets on an "as is, where is" basis and that it has performed its own due 
diligence and evaluations and that it has relied, and will continue to rely, upon its own due diligence 
and evaluations with respect to all matters pertaining to the Assets and the Transaction.

5.3 Representations and Warranties of Purchaser

Purchaser hereby makes the following representations and warranties to and in favour of Vendor:

(a) Purchaser is a corporation duly formed and existing under the laws of the Province of Alberta and 
registered to carry on business in the jurisdictions in which the Assets are situate;

(b) Purchaser has all requisite power and capacity to purchase and accept the Assets in accordance the 
provisions of this Agreement;

(c) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Purchaser has been duly and validly 
authorized by any and all requisite action on the part of its directors, officers or shareholders, as the 
case may be, and will not result in any violation of, be in conflict with, or constitute a default under, 
the constating documents of Purchaser;

(d) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Purchaser will not result in any 
violation of, be in conflict with or constitute a default under (i) any term or provision of any 
agreement or instrument to which Purchaser is party or by which Purchaser is bound, or (ii) any 
Applicable Law that is specifically applicable to Purchaser;

(e) this Agreement and all other agreements delivered or to be delivered in connection herewith 
constitute, or when delivered shall constitute, valid and binding obligations of Purchaser, enforceable 
against Purchaser in accordance with their respective terms;

(f) no authorization or approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any Governmental 
Authority is required for the due execution, delivery and performance by Purchaser of this Agreement, 
other than authorizations, approvals or exemptions previously obtained and currently in force or to be 
obtained as and when required during the Pre-Closing Period;

(g) Purchaser's "Licensee Liability Rating", as determined in accordance with all applicable ERCB 
directives, rules, regulations, guidelines, interim directives and policies, is not less than 1.0 and, 
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following the completion of the conveyance of the Assets as provided herein, its Licensee Liability 
Rating shall not be less than 1.0;

(h) Purchaser has not incurred any obligation or liability, contingent or otherwise, for brokers' or finders' 
fees in respect of this Agreement or the Transaction for which Vendor shall have any obligation or 
liability;

(i) Purchaser is entering into this Agreement and will acquire the Assets for itself and not as agent or 
representative for any Third Party;

(j) Purchaser is a registrant in respect of GST under the Excise Tax Act (Canada) and its GST registration 
number is 88996 9705;

(k) except for the TSX Approval, there are no required approvals required to be obtained by the Purchaser 
in respect of the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the completion of the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement;

(l) the board of directors of Purchaser have reserved and allotted a sufficient number of Galleon Class A 
Shares as are issuable pursuant to the Vendor as the Share Consideration provided in this Agreement 
and such shares, when delivered to the Vendor as provided in this Agreement, shall have been duly 
issued and shall be fully paid and non-assessable shares in the Purchaser and shall be free from all 
Encumbrances, except as provided in Purchaser's constating documents;

(m) Purchaser has an authorized share capital consisting of an unlimited number of Galleon Class A 
Shares, an unlimited number of shares designated as "Class B Shares" and an unlimited number of 
first preferred shares, issuable in series;

(n) as of the Time of Closing the Purchaser shall be a "reporting issuer" in the Province of Alberta and 
shall have not received notice of any default by it of any requirement of Applicable Securities Laws or 
the rules or policies of The Toronto Stock Exchange;

(o) the information and statements set forth in the Public Record, as they relate to Purchaser:

(i) are true, correct, and complete in all material respects; and

(ii) do not contain any material misrepresentation;

in either case, as of the respective dates of such information or statements, and no material change (as 
defined in the Securities Act (Alberta)) has occurred in relation to Purchaser on a consolidated basis 
which is not disclosed in the Public Record as required under the Securities Act (Alberta) and 
Purchaser has not filed any confidential material change reports which continue to be confidential;

(p) neither:

(i) the Alberta Securities Commission or any other Governmental Authority responsible for the 
regulation of securities in another Province that has jurisdiction over Purchaser or the 
securities of Purchaser; nor

(ii) The Toronto Stock Exchange;

has issued any order which is currently outstanding ceasing, halting or suspending or preventing the 
trading in any securities of Purchaser;
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(q) Valiant Trust Company, at its offices in the City of Calgary, Alberta and, through its agent, elsewhere 
is the duly appointed registrar and transfer agent of Purchaser with respect to Galleon Class A Shares; 
and

(r) Purchaser's minute book has been maintained in all material respects in accordance with good 
business practices and contains copies of:

(i) Purchaser's by-laws and other constating documents; and

(ii) all resolutions of the shareholders and directors of the Purchaser that have been passed, 
approved or consented to up to the date of this Agreement;

that are complete and accurate in all material respects, excluding, in each case, any matters relating 
directly to or arising from the Transaction.

5.4 No Additional Representation or Warranties by Purchaser

(a) Each of Purchaser's representations and warranties set forth in Clause 5.3 is made as of the date 
specified in the particular representation or warranty, provided that, if no date is specified, then such 
representation or warranty is made as of the date of this Agreement and shall be deemed to be 
repeated as of the Closing Date.

(b) Except to the extent set forth in Clause 5.3, Purchaser makes no representation or warranty in respect 
to itself or the Share Consideration to be issued to Vendor at Closing as provided in this Agreement 
and Purchaser hereby expressly negates, and Vendor hereby waives, all other representations or 
warranties relating to Purchaser or the Share Consideration, regardless of whether made directly or 
indirectly, in verbal, written or electronic form, by Purchaser or any of its directors, officers, 
employees or other personnel, consultants, agents, auditors, counsel or representatives, or implied 
under or arising by operation of law.  In particular, Purchaser makes no representation regarding 
future value of the Share Consideration or any dividends or distributions to be made thereon or in 
respect thereof or whether the Share Consideration may be subject to any "hold periods" or other 
resale restrictions or other requirements pursuant to Applicable Securities Laws or stock exchange 
rules.

(c) Vendor acknowledges and confirms that except for the representations and warranties set forth in 
Clause 5.3, it has performed its own due diligence and evaluations and that it has relied, and will 
continue to rely, upon its own due diligence and evaluations with respect to all matters pertaining to 
Purchaser, the Share Consideration and the Transaction.

5.5 Survival of Representations and Warranties

The respective representations and warranties set forth in Clauses 5.1 and 5.3 shall survive Closing for 
the 12-month period immediately following Closing.

ARTICLE 6
INDEMNITIES FOR REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

6.1 Vendor's Indemnities for Representations and Warranties

From and after Closing and subject to Clauses 6.4, 6.5 and 11.8, Vendor shall be liable for all Losses 
and Liabilities suffered, sustained, paid or incurred by Purchaser, and, in addition and as an independent 
covenant, shall indemnify Purchaser from and against all Losses and Liabilities suffered, sustained, paid or 
incurred by it and all Claims made against it, in either case, as a consequence of any representations or 
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warranties contained in Clause 5.1 being untrue or incorrect or of a breach by Vendor of any of its covenants 
contained in this Agreement.

6.2 Purchaser's Indemnities for Representations and Warranties

From and after Closing and subject to Clauses 6.4 and 6.5, Purchaser shall be liable for all Losses and 
Liabilities suffered, sustained, paid or incurred by Vendor, and, in addition and as an independent covenant, 
shall indemnify Vendor from and against all Losses and Liabilities suffered, sustained, paid or incurred by it 
and all Claims made against it, in either case, as a consequence of any representations or warranties contained 
in Clause 5.3 being untrue or incorrect or of a breach by Purchaser of any of its covenants contained in this 
Agreement.

6.3 Purchaser's Environmental Indemnity

From and after Closing Purchaser shall be liable for all Losses and Liabilities suffered, sustained, paid 
or incurred by Vendor or any of the Vendor's Related Persons, and, in addition and as an independent 
covenant, shall indemnify Vendor and each of the Vendor's Related Persons from and against all Losses and 
Liabilities suffered, sustained, paid or incurred by it and all Claims made against it, in either case, in respect of 
all past, present and future any Environmental Liabilities.  This assumption of liability and indemnity shall 
apply without limit and without regard to cause or causes, including the negligence, gross negligence or the 
wilful misconduct of Vendor or any of the Vendor's Related Persons or any Third Party.  Purchaser hereby 
waives, and acknowledges and agrees that it shall not exercise, any right or remedy against Vendor or any of 
the Vendor's Related Persons in respect to any such Environmental Liabilities that it may otherwise have under 
Applicable Law, including any right to name Vendor or any of the Vendor's Related Persons as a party to any 
Claim commenced by any Third Party against Purchaser.  Notwithstanding the foregoing in this Clause 6.3, 
nothing in this Clause 6.3 shall be construed so as to require Purchaser to be liable for or to indemnify Vendor 
or any of the Vendor's Related Persons in connection with any such Losses and Liabilities or any such Claims 
to the extent arising from the representation and warranty of Vendor contained in Clause 5.1(p) being untrue or 
incorrect.

6.4 Time Limitation

Neither Party shall make any Claim under or in respect of Clause 6.1 or 6.2 after the expiry of the
12-month period immediately following Closing and neither Party shall have any liability under Clause 6.1 or 
6.2 unless written notice, with reasonable particulars, of the applicable Losses and Liabilities or Claim has 
been received by such Party during the 12-month period immediately following Closing.

6.5 Limitation of Remedies

(a) Nothing in Clause 6.1 shall be construed so as to require Vendor to be liable for or to indemnify 
Purchaser in connection with any Losses and Liabilities or any Claims to the extent arising as a 
consequence of the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of Purchaser or any of the Purchaser's 
Related Persons.

(b) Nothing in Clause 6.2 shall be construed so as to require Purchaser to be liable for or to indemnify 
Vendor in connection with any Losses and Liabilities or any Claims to the extent arising as a 
consequence of the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of Vendor or any of the Vendor's Related 
Persons.

6.6 Procedures – General Indemnities

If a Party (the "Claiming Party") wishes to claim indemnification from the other Party (the 
"Indemnifying Party") pursuant to Clause 6.1, 6.2, or 6.3, the following shall apply:
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(a) Promptly after acquiring knowledge of the subject matter of the Claim or the Losses and Liabilities in 
respect of which the claim for indemnification is to be made (an "Indemnified Matter"), the 
Claiming Party shall provide notice thereof to the Indemnifying Party, provided that, failure to give 
such notice will not limit or lessen the right of the Claiming Party to indemnity under this Agreement 
except to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is prejudiced in its contest or defence of the 
Indemnified Matter as a result of such failure.  Such notice shall describe the nature of the 
Indemnified Matter in reasonable detail and indicate, if reasonably ascertainable, the Claiming Party's 
good faith estimate of the amount for which the Indemnifying Party may be liable under this 
Agreement in respect of such Indemnified Matter.

(b) If the Indemnified Matter relates to a Claim made or brought by a Third Party:

(i) The Indemnifying Party shall have the right to participate in or to elect to assume the defence 
or dispute of any such Claim.  Any such participation in or assumption of the defence or 
dispute of the Claim shall be at the Indemnifying Party's own expense and use counsel chosen 
by the Indemnifying Party.  The Claiming Party shall provide all reasonable assistance that 
the Indemnifying Party may reasonably request in connection with such defence or dispute.

(ii) The Claiming Party shall have the right to participate in the defence or dispute of any such 
Indemnified Matter using counsel of its own choice if representation of both the Claiming 
Party and the Indemnifying Party by the same counsel would be inappropriate due to 
conflicting interests of the two Parties, including Claims that would be partially excluded 
from indemnification by the Indemnifying Party by virtue of another provision of this 
Agreement.  The Indemnifying Party shall be liable for the costs of such additional counsel 
retained by the Claiming Party, but only to the extent that such costs pertain to the defence or 
dispute of the Indemnified Matter.

(iii) The Claiming Party shall not settle or compromise, or propose to settle or compromise, any 
such Indemnified Matter without first obtaining the consent of the Indemnifying Party, 
provided that, such consent shall not be required if: (A) the Indemnifying Party denies or 
disputes that the particular Claim constitutes an Indemnified Matter and refuses to take 
responsibility for the defence or dispute thereof as provided above; (B) the Indemnifying 
Party fails to respond to any notice of the Indemnified Matter given by the Claiming Party in 
accordance with Clause 6.6(a) within 15 days of receipt thereof by the Indemnifying Party; or 
(C) the Indemnifying Party either refuses or fails to defend or dispute such Indemnified 
Matter after assuming responsibility for the defence or dispute thereof as provided above.  In 
such a case, the Claiming Party shall be entitled to defend, dispute, settle or compromise such 
a Claim by a Third Party in any manner it determines to be appropriate, acting reasonably and 
in good faith, subject to any limitations set forth in this Agreement.

(c) If the Indemnified Matter relates to Losses and Liabilities directly suffered, sustained, paid or incurred 
by the Claiming Party, the Indemnifying Party shall respond to the Claiming Party as to whether the 
Indemnifying Party accepts liability for such Indemnified Matter within 30 days of receipt of the 
Claiming Party's notice given in accordance with Clause 6.6(a) and:

(i) if the Indemnifying Party does not respond within such 30-day period, the Indemnifying Party 
shall be deemed to have accepted its liability for such Indemnified Matter;

(ii) if the Indemnifying Party accepts its liability for such Indemnified Matter, the Indemnifying 
Party shall discharge its liability to indemnify the Claiming Party within 30 days after the end 
of such 30-day period;
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(iii) if the Indemnifying Party disputes whether the particular Losses and Liabilities constitute an 
Indemnified Matter or the amount of such Losses or Liabilities for which the Indemnifying 
Party is liable within such 30-day period, or if the Indemnifying Party accepts or is deemed to 
have accepted liability for such Indemnified Matter, but fails to discharge such liability within 
the specified period, the Claiming Party shall be free to seek to enforce its right to 
indemnification in respect of such Indemnified Matter under this Agreement in any manner 
that it deems appropriate.

(d) If the Indemnifying Party has paid an amount in respect of an Indemnified Matter pursuant to this 
Agreement, then: (A) the Indemnifying Party will be subrogated to all and any Claims that the 
Claiming Party may have relating thereto without any further action; (B) the Claiming Party, without 
limiting its rights to the indemnity under this Agreement, shall provide any reasonable assistance that 
the Indemnifying Party may reasonably request in order to permit the Indemnifying Party to pursue 
such Claims; and (C) if the Claiming Party is subsequently reimbursed by any Person or from any 
source other than the Indemnifying Party in respect of the Indemnified Matter, the Claiming Party 
shall promptly pay to the Indemnifying Party any such amounts so received by it, up to the amount 
received from the Indemnifying Party in respect of such Indemnified Matter.

ARTICLE 7
PRE-CLOSING PERIOD

7.1 Maintenance of Assets

During the Pre-Closing Period, Vendor shall, to the extent that the nature of its interests permit, and 
subject to the Title and Operating Documents and any other agreements and documents to which the Assets are 
subject:

(a) maintain the Assets in a reasonable and prudent manner and in material compliance with all 
Applicable Law and the relevant Title and Operating Documents; and

(b) pay or cause to be paid all costs and expenses relating to the Assets which become due and payable 
during the Pre-Closing Period.

7.2 Consent of Purchaser

Notwithstanding Clause 7.1, during the Pre-Closing Period Vendor shall not, without the written 
consent of Purchaser, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed by Purchaser:

(a) make any commitment or propose, initiate or authorize any individual capital expenditure with respect 
to the Assets for which the share allocable to the Assets is in excess of $25,000.00, except in the case 
of an emergency, in the case of the ERCB requiring an expenditure in respect of the Assets, or in 
respect of amounts which Vendor may be committed to expend or be deemed to authorize for 
expenditure without its consent;

(b) surrender or abandon any of the Assets, other than the abandonment of Tangibles or Wells that had 
been approved or is in progress as of the Effective Time or as may be required by the ERCB;

(c) amend or terminate any Title and Operating Document or any other agreement or document to which 
the Assets are subject, or enter into any new agreement or commitment relating to the Assets other 
than in the ordinary course of business;

(d) sell, encumber or otherwise dispose of any of the Assets or any part thereof, except for sales of the 
Petroleum Substances or the creation of Permitted Encumbrances in the normal course of business or 
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sales, encumbrances or other dispositions of any Assets under or pursuant to Permitted Encumbrances; 
or

(e) shut in any production from any of the Assets except as required for the performance of routine 
maintenance or for safety purposes in accordance with good and prudent oil and gas field practices or 
as a consequence of restrictions on or curtailment of downstream gathering, processing or 
transportation facilities used in connection with production from the Assets.

7.3 Limitation of Liability

If Closing occurs, Vendor shall have no liability for any Losses and Liabilities paid, incurred or 
suffered Purchaser to operation or maintenance of the Assets during the Pre-Closing Period pursuant to 
Clause 7.1 or 7.2 except to the extent that any such Losses and Liabilities or any such Claims arise as a direct 
consequence of the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of Vendor or any of the Vendor's Related Persons.

7.4 Vendor Meeting

During the Pre-Closing Period:

(a) Vendor will prepare (in consultation with Purchaser), file and distribute to Vendor's shareholders in a 
timely and expeditious manner, and in any event within seven days after the date of this Agreement 
(or such other date as Purchaser and Vendor may agree), an Information Circular – Proxy Statement 
(the "Information Circular") in connection with their approval of the Transaction and the 
Reorganization and any amendments or supplements thereto, all as required by Applicable Law, in all 
jurisdictions where the same is required, complying in all material respects with all Applicable Law 
and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Vendor shall ensure that the Information Circular 
provides Vendor's shareholders with information in sufficient detail to permit them to form a reasoned 
judgment concerning the matters before them, and will set out the information, in the form provided 
by Purchaser for inclusion in the Information Circular, describing Purchaser and its business, 
operation and affairs (the "Purchaser Information") in the Information Circular in the form approved 
by Purchaser and shall include, without limitation, the unanimous determination of the board of 
directors of Vendor that the Transaction and the Reorganization are fair, from a financial point of 
view, to Vendor's shareholders, are in the best interests of Vendor and Vendor's shareholders, and 
include the unanimous recommendation of the board of directors of Vendor that Vendor's shareholders 
vote in favour of the Transaction and the Reorganization; and provided that, notwithstanding the 
covenant of Vendor in this Clause 7.4, prior to the completion of the Transaction and the 
Reorganization, the board of directors of Vendor may withdraw, modify or change the 
recommendation regarding the Transaction and the Reorganization if, in the opinion of such board of 
directors acting reasonably, having received the advice of its outside legal counsel which is reflected 
in minutes of the meeting of the board of directors (a copy of which shall be provided to Purchaser), 
such withdrawal, modification or change is required to act in a manner consistent with the fiduciary 
duties of the board of directors of Vendor and the board of directors shall have complied with the 
provisions of Clauses 7.5 and 7.6 (including that Vendor shall have paid the Non-Completion Fee to 
Purchaser) and shall have terminated this Agreement pursuant to Clause 7.6;

(b) Vendor shall indemnify and save harmless Purchaser and its Related Persons from and against any and 
all liabilities, claims, demands, losses, costs, damages and expenses (excluding any loss of profits or 
consequential damages) to which Purchaser, or any director, officer or agent thereof, may be subject 
or which any of them may suffer or incur, whether under the provisions of any statute or otherwise, in 
any way caused by, or arising, directly or indirectly, from or in consequence of any misrepresentation 
or alleged misrepresentation in the Information Circular (other than to the extent arising solely from or 
based solely upon any misrepresentation or alleged misrepresentation in the Purchaser Information 
contained in the Information Circular);
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(c) Vendor shall, on or before October 21, 2008 (or such other date as Purchaser and Vendor may agree), 
convene the Vendor Meeting and shall solicit proxies to be voted at the Vendor Meeting in favour of 
the matters to be considered at such meeting, including the resolution approving the Transaction and 
the Reorganization;

(d) Vendor shall provide notice to Purchaser of the Vendor Meeting and allow Purchaser's representatives 
to attend such meeting;

(e) Vendor shall instruct the depositary acting in connection with the Reorganization to provide to 
Purchaser upon request information as to the results of proxies received in respect of voting at the 
Vendor Meeting on the Reorganization;

(f) Vendor shall conduct the Vendor Meeting in accordance with the by-laws of Vendor and any 
instrument governing such meeting, as applicable, and as otherwise required by Applicable Law; and

(g) subject to receipt of the Vendor Shareholder Approval, complete the Reorganization in accordance 
with Applicable Securities Laws and in a manner so that, when issued, the Galleon Class A Shares 
comprising the Share Consideration shall not be subject to any hold period, restricted period or 
seasoning period under Applicable Securities Laws.

7.5 Non-Solicitation

(a) Vendor shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated all existing discussions and negotiations 
(including, without limitation, through any of its officers, directors, employees, advisors, 
representatives or agents (in this Clause 7.5, "Representatives") on its behalf), if any, with any parties 
conducted before the date hereof with respect to any Acquisition Proposal (as hereinafter defined) and 
shall immediately request the return or destruction of all information provided to any third parties 
which have entered into a confidentiality agreement with Vendor relating to an Acquisition Proposal 
and shall use reasonable commercial efforts to ensure that such requests are honoured.

(b) Vendor shall not, directly or indirectly, do or authorize or permit any of its Representatives to, directly 
or indirectly, do, any of the following:

(i) solicit, facilitate, initiate or encourage (including, without limitation, by way of furnishing 
information or entering into any form of agreement, arrangement or understanding) or take 
any action to solicit, facilitate or encourage any inquiry or communication or the making of 
any proposal or offer to Vendor or its shareholders from any person which constitutes, or may 
reasonably be expected to lead to (in either case whether in one transaction or a series of 
transactions): (A) an acquisition from Vendor or its shareholders of any securities of Vendor 
(B) any acquisition of a significant amount of the assets of Vendor (C) an amalgamation, 
arrangement, merger, or consolidation involving Vendor or (D) any take-over bid, issuer bid, 
exchange offer, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization into a royalty trust or 
income fund or similar transaction involving Vendor or any other transaction, the 
consummation of which would or could reasonably be expected to impede, interfere with, 
prevent or delay the Transaction and the Reorganization or which would or could reasonably 
be expected to materially reduce the benefits to Purchaser under this Agreement, the 
Transaction and the Reorganization (any such inquiry or proposal in respect of any of the 
foregoing being an "Acquisition Proposal");

(ii) enter into or participate in any negotiations or discussions regarding an Acquisition Proposal, 
or furnish to any other person any information with respect to its business, properties, 
operations, prospects or conditions (financial or otherwise) in connection with an Acquisition 
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Proposal or otherwise cooperate in any way with, or assist or participate in, facilitate or 
encourage, any effort or attempt of any other person to do or seek to do any of the foregoing;

(iii) waive, or otherwise forbear in the enforcement of, or enter into or participate in any 
discussions, negotiations or agreements to waive or otherwise forbear in respect of, any rights 
or other benefits of Vendor under confidential information agreements, including, without 
limitation, any "standstill provisions" thereunder; or

(iv) accept, recommend, approve or enter into an agreement to implement an Acquisition 
Proposal;

provided, however, that notwithstanding any other provision of this Clause 7.5, Vendor and its 
Representatives may:

(v) enter into, engage in or participate in negotiations or discussions with a third party who 
(without any solicitation, initiation or encouragement, directly or indirectly, after the date 
hereof, by Vendor or any of its Representatives) seeks to initiate such negotiations or 
discussions and, subject to execution of a confidentiality agreement, substantially similar to 
the confidentiality agreement between the parties hereto (provided that such confidentiality 
agreement shall provide for disclosure thereof (along with all information provided 
thereunder) to Purchaser as set out below), may furnish to such third party information 
concerning Vendor and its business, properties and assets, in each case if, and only to the 
extent that:

(A) the third party has first made a written bona fide Acquisition Proposal to Vendor 
which the board of directors of Vendor determines in good faith: (1) that funds or 
other consideration necessary for the Acquisition Proposal are or are reasonably 
likely to be available; (2) (after consultation with its financial advisor) would, if 
consummated in accordance with its terms, result in a transaction financially superior 
for Vendor or Vendor's shareholders in comparison to the transactions contemplated 
hereby; and (3) after receiving the advice of outside counsel as reflected in minutes 
of the board of directors of Vendor, that the taking of such action is necessary for the 
board of directors of Vendor in discharge of its fiduciary duties under applicable 
laws (in this Clause 7.5, a "Superior Proposal"); and

(B) prior to furnishing such information to or entering into or participating in any such 
negotiations or discussions with such third party, Vendor provides prompt notice to 
Purchaser to the effect that it is furnishing information to or entering into or 
participating in negotiations or discussions with such person or entity together with a 
copy of the confidentiality agreement referenced above and if not previously 
provided to Purchaser, copies of all information provided to such third party 
concurrently with the provision of such information to such third party, and provided 
further that, Vendor shall notify Purchaser orally and in writing of any inquiries, 
offers or proposals with respect to a Superior Proposal (which written notice shall 
include, without limitation, a copy of such proposal (and any amendments or 
supplements thereto), the identity of the person making it, if not previously provided 
to Purchaser, copies of all information provided to such party and all other 
information reasonably requested by Purchaser) within 24 hours of the receipt 
thereof, shall keep Purchaser informed of the status and details of any such inquiry, 
offer or proposal and answer Purchaser's questions with respect thereto; and
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(C) Vendor provides to Purchaser in writing the determination of the board of directors 
of Vendor promptly upon determining that the Acquisition Proposal, if completed, 
would constitute a Superior Proposal;

(vi) comply with section 2.17 of Multilateral Instrument 62-104 and similar provisions under 
other Applicable Securities Laws relating to the provision of directors' circulars and make 
appropriate disclosure with respect thereto to its shareholders; and

(vii) accept, recommend, approve or enter into an agreement to implement a Superior Proposal 
from a third party, but only if prior to such acceptance, recommendation, approval or 
implementation, the board of directors of Vendor shall have concluded in good faith, after 
considering all proposals to adjust the terms and conditions of this Agreement as 
contemplated by paragraph (c) below and after receiving the advice of outside counsel as 
reflected in the minutes of the board of directors of Vendor, that the taking of such action is 
necessary for the board of directors of Vendor in discharge of its fiduciary duties under 
applicable laws and Vendor complies with its obligations set forth in paragraph (c) below and 
terminates this Agreement in accordance with Clause 7.6 and concurrently therewith pays the 
amount required by Clause 7.6 to Purchaser.

(c) If Vendor receives a Superior Proposal, Vendor shall give Purchaser, orally and in writing, at least 
72 hours advance notice of any decision by the board of directors of Vendor to accept, recommend, 
approve or enter into an agreement to implement a Superior Proposal, which notice shall include a 
summary of the details of the Superior Proposal including the identity of the third party making the 
Superior Proposal.  During such 72 hour period, Vendor agrees not to accept, recommend, approve or 
enter into any agreement to implement such Superior Proposal and not to release the party making the 
Superior Proposal from any standstill provisions and shall not withdraw, redefine, modify or change 
its recommendation in respect of the Transaction and the Reorganization.  In addition, during such 
72 hour period Vendor shall and shall cause its financial and legal advisors to, negotiate in good faith 
with Purchaser and its financial and legal advisors to make such adjustments in the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement and the Reorganization as would enable Vendor to proceed with the 
Transaction and the Reorganization as amended rather than the Superior Proposal.  In the event that 
Purchaser proposes to amend this Agreement and the Transaction and the Reorganization to provide 
that Vendor's shareholders shall receive a value per Vendor Share equal to or greater than the value 
per Vendor Share provided in the Superior Proposal and so advises Vendor prior to the expiry of such 
72 hour period, the board of directors of Vendor shall not accept, recommend, approve or enter into 
any agreement to implement such Superior Proposal and shall not release the party making the 
Superior Proposal from any standstill provisions and shall not withdraw, redefine, modify or change 
its recommendation in respect of the Transaction and the Reorganization.

7.6 Non-Completion Fee Payable by Vendor

(a) If at any time after the date hereof and prior to termination of this Agreement, any of the following 
occur:

(i) the board of directors of Vendor fails to recommend that its shareholders vote in favour of the 
Transaction; withdraws, modifies or changes any of its recommendations, approvals, 
resolutions or determinations referred to in Clause 7.4(a) hereof in a manner adverse to the 
Transaction or to Purchaser, or shall have resolved to do so, or  fails to promptly reaffirm any 
of its recommendations, approvals, resolutions or determinations referred to in Clause 7.4(a)
upon request from time to time by Purchaser (acting reasonably) to do so;

(ii) the board of directors of Vendor shall have recommended that its shareholders deposit their 
shares in Vendor under, or vote in favour of, or otherwise accept a Take-Over Proposal;
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(iii) Vendor accepts, recommends, approves or enters into an agreement with respect to a 
Take-Over Proposal (other than under this Agreement) or a confidentiality agreement 
contemplated by Clause 7.5(b)(v) prior to completion of the Transaction;

(iv) prior to the date of the Vendor Meeting, another bona fide Take-Over Proposal is publicly 
announced or made to all or substantially all of Vendor's shares or to Vendor and at the date 
of the Vendor Meeting such Take-Over Proposal shall not have expired or been withdrawn; 
and the Transaction is not approved by Vendor's shareholders at the Vendor Meeting;

(v) the Vendor Shareholder Approval has not been obtained on or before October 22, 2008; or

(vi) Vendor shall have taken any action or have failed to take any action that results in Vendor 
being in breach of any of its covenants, agreements, representations or warranties made in this 
Agreement (without giving effect to any materiality qualifiers contained therein) which 
breach individually or in the aggregate causes or would reasonably be expected to cause a 
material adverse change in respect of Vendor or materially impede the completion of the 
Transaction or the Reorganization, and Vendor fails to cure such breach within three Business 
Days after receipt of written notice thereof from Purchaser (except that no cure period shall 
be provided for a breach which by its nature cannot be cured and, in no event, shall any cure 
period extend beyond October 22, 2008);

Vendor shall pay an amount equal to $920,350.00, plus, if applicable, GST, (the "Non-Completion 
Fee"), in immediately available funds to or to an account designated by Purchaser within three 
Business Days after the first to occur of one of the events described above.

(b) On the date of the earliest event described above in this Clause 7.6, Vendor shall be deemed to hold 
such sum in trust for Purchaser.  For greater certainty, the Non-Completion Fee shall only be required 
to be paid to Purchaser once pursuant to the foregoing provisions.

(c) From and after the date of the earliest event described above in this Clause 7.6, Purchaser shall be 
entitled to terminate this Agreement.

(d) Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, all of the obligations of Vendor under this 
Clause 7.6 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.

(e) For the purpose of this Clause 7.6, "Take-Over Proposal" means, a bid, or offer to acquire 20% or 
more of the outstanding Vendor Shares, or any proposal, offer or agreement for a merger, 
consolidation, amalgamation, arrangement, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or 
a similar transaction or other business combination involving Vendor, or any proposal, offer or 
agreement to acquire 20% or more of the assets of Vendor.

ARTICLE 8
POST-CLOSING MATTERS

8.1 Post-Closing Matters

(a) Following Closing, if and to the extent that Purchaser must be novated into, recognized as a party to, 
or otherwise accepted as assignee or transferee of Vendor's interest in the Assets or certain of them, 
including any Title and Operating Documents or other agreements governing or otherwise pertaining 
to any Assets or the operation thereof, the following provisions shall apply with respect to the 
applicable Assets until such novation, recognition or acceptance has occurred:
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(i) at Purchaser's sole cost and expense, Vendor shall operate and maintain the applicable Assets 
on behalf of Purchaser as its agent;

(ii) Vendor shall not initiate or authorize any operations with respect to the applicable Assets, 
except upon the written direction of Purchaser or if Vendor reasonably determines that such 
operations are required for the protection of life or property, in which case Vendor may take 
any actions that it reasonably determines are required in the circumstances, provided that, in 
such latter case Vendor shall promptly notify Purchaser of such actions and Vendor's estimate 
of the costs and expenses associated therewith;

(iii) Vendor shall use its reasonable efforts to promptly provide to Purchaser all authorizations for 
expenditure, notices and other information, documents and correspondence relating to the 
applicable Assets that it receives and shall respond promptly to such authorizations for 
expenditure, notices and other information and documents pursuant to the written instructions 
of Purchaser, but only if such instructions are received on a timely basis, provided that, 
Vendor may, but shall not be obliged to, refuse to follow any such instructions that it 
reasonably believes to be contrary to Applicable Law or in conflict with any applicable Title 
and Operating Document or other agreement; and

(iv) as soon as is reasonably practicable, Vendor shall deliver to Purchaser all revenues, proceeds 
and other benefits received by Vendor and derived from the Assets (excluding any such 
revenues, proceeds or benefits that relate to matters arising prior to the Effective Time), less 
the share of the applicable Crown or lessor royalties, operating costs, treating, processing and 
transportation expenses and any other costs and expenses directly associated with the Assets 
and the Petroleum Substances produced therefrom or allocated thereto, and less any costs and 
expenses paid or incurred by Vendor in the discharge of its duties and obligations pursuant to 
this Clause 8.1.

(b) If and to the extent that Vendor maintains any Assets and takes actions with respect to any Assets on 
behalf of Purchaser pursuant to this Clause 8.1 then Vendor shall be deemed to be the agent of 
Purchaser in such regard.  Purchaser does hereby and shall ratify all actions taken by Vendor or 
refrained to be taken by Vendor pursuant to the terms of this Clause 8.1 in such capacity, with the 
intention that all such actions shall be for all purposes deemed to be those of Purchaser.

(c) If Vendor participates in any operations or exercises rights or options in respect to any Assets as the 
agent of Purchaser pursuant to this Clause 8.1, then Vendor may require Purchaser to secure the costs 
to be incurred by Vendor on behalf of Purchaser in respect to such operations or pursuant to such 
election in such manner as may be reasonably appropriate in the circumstances.

8.2 Delivery of Title and Operating Documents and Miscellaneous Interests

Within seven days after Closing or any other day as Vendor and Purchaser may agree, Vendor shall 
deliver or cause to be delivered to Purchaser the Title and Operating Documents and such other agreements 
and documents to which the Assets are subject and the original copies of those contracts, agreements, records, 
books, documents, licences, reports and data comprising Miscellaneous Interests which are in the possession 
and control of Vendor.  Notwithstanding the foregoing:

(a) if and to the extent any such materials also pertain to assets or interests other than the Assets, 
photocopies or other copies of such materials may be provided to Purchaser in lieu of original copies; 
and
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(b) to the extent that there are any pending or threatened Claims, audits or other matters involving or 
relating to the Assets that pertain to the period prior to the Effective Time, Vendor, at its own cost, 
may make and retain copies of the relevant portions of such materials.

8.3 Removal of Signs

Within 60 days after Closing, Purchaser shall remove Vendor's name from all signs and remove any 
other items indicating ownership by Vendor located on, at or near any Wells or Tangibles.  If Purchaser fails to 
remove Vendor's name from such signs or to removes such other items in respect to any such Wells or 
Tangibles within such period, then Vendor shall have the right, but not the obligation, to remove same and 
Purchaser shall reimburse Vendor for all reasonable costs incurred by Vendor in doing so.

8.4 Limitation of Liability for Post-Closing Operations

Vendor and the Vendor's Related Persons shall have no liability for any Losses and Liabilities paid, 
incurred or suffered Purchaser or any Claims made against it relating to operation or maintenance of the Assets 
after Closing pursuant to Clause 8.1 or the discharge by Vendor of its obligations pursuant to Clause 8.1, 
except to the extent that any such Losses and Liabilities or any such Claims arise as a direct consequence of 
the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of Vendor or any of the Vendor's Related Persons.

ARTICLE 9
DUE DILIGENCE REVIEW

9.1 Vendor to Provide Access

(a) Vendor shall, subject to any contractual obligations and limits, provide or arrange for reasonable 
access by Purchaser and its representatives to the records, files and documents directly relating to the 
Assets, including any Title and Operating Documents, that are in Vendor's or its Affiliate's possession 
and control for the purpose of Purchaser's review of the Assets and Vendor's title thereto.  Unless 
otherwise agreed by the Parties, such access shall take place at Vendor's offices during normal 
business hours.

(b) Vendor shall, subject to any contractual and safety obligations, limits and requirements, provide or 
arrange for reasonable access by Purchaser and its representatives to the field locations at which the 
Wells listed in SCHEDULE A and Tangibles are situated in order to conduct a physical inspection 
thereof.  Purchaser shall use its reasonable efforts to limit and minimize any disruption to operations 
that may be caused by such inspections.  All such inspections shall be conducted at Purchaser's sole 
cost, risk and expense and Purchaser shall indemnify Vendor and each of the Vendor's Related 
Persons from and against all Losses and Liabilities suffered, sustained, paid or incurred by any of
them and all Claims made against any of them as a consequence of any bodily injury or death suffered 
by any of Purchaser's directors, officers, employees and other personnel, agents or representatives or 
any damage to the property of Purchaser or any of its directors, officers, employees and other 
personnel, agents or representatives in connection with such access and inspections.

9.2 Title Defects

(a) Following execution of this Agreement, Purchaser shall conduct its review of Vendor's title to the 
Assets with all reasonable diligence.
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(b) Not later than 10 Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Purchaser shall give Vendor written notice 
of the Title Defects (in this Clause 9.2, the "Defect Notice") which Purchaser does not waive (in this 
Clause 9.2, the "Identified Title Defects").  The Defect Notice shall specify the Identified Title 
Defects in reasonable detail, the Assets directly affected thereby, Purchaser's requirements for the 
rectification or curing thereof and Purchaser's good faith estimate of the amount by which the value of 
the applicable Assets has been reduced by such Identified Title Defects and/or its good faith estimate 
of the costs required to rectify or cure such Identified Title Defects (in this Clause 9.2, the "Defect 
Value").  For avoidance of doubt, if there are multiple Identified Title Defects affecting a particular 
Asset, there shall not be an aggregation of Defect Values for the multiple Identified Title Defects, but 
rather, only the greatest of the Defect Values for those multiple Identified Title Defects shall be used 
for the purposes of this Clause 9.2.

(c) From and after the deadline for the delivery of the Defect Notice in Clause 9.2(b), Purchaser shall be 
deemed to have accepted and waived all Title Defects other than the Identified Title Defects.

(d) Following receipt of a Defect Notice from Purchaser as provided in Clause 9.2(b), Vendor shall use its 
reasonable efforts to rectify or cure the Identified Title Defects not later than the third Business Day 
prior to the Closing Date.

(e) Insofar as the Identified Title Defects have not been rectified or cured as specified in the Defect 
Notice or otherwise to Purchaser's satisfaction, acting reasonably, on or before the third Business Day 
prior to the Closing Date, the following procedures shall apply:

(i) If the aggregate Defect Value of the outstanding Identified Title Defects is 5% of the Base 
Price or less, Purchaser shall be deemed to have accepted and waived all Identified Title 
Defects and the Parties shall proceed with Closing without an adjustment to the Purchase 
Price on account of any Title Defects.

(ii) If the aggregate Defect Value of the outstanding Identified Title Defects is greater than 5% of 
the Base Price, Purchaser shall elect, on the last Business Day prior to the Closing Date, by 
notice to Vendor:

(A) to waive and accept the outstanding Identified Title Defects, in which case the Parties 
shall proceed with Closing without an adjustment to the Purchase Price on account of 
any Title Defects; or

(B) to delay the Closing Date by 14 days or any other period as may be agreed by the 
Parties in order to provide Vendor with additional time to rectify or cure the 
outstanding Identified Title Defects.

If Purchaser fails to make an election pursuant to sub-paragraph (A) or (B) of this 
Clause 9.2(e)(ii) on the last Business Day prior to the Closing Date, then it shall be deemed to 
have made an election pursuant to sub-paragraph (A).

(iii) In addition to Purchaser's options under Clause 9.2(e)(ii), if the aggregate Defect Value of the 
outstanding Identified Title Defects is greater than 10% of the Base Price:

(A) Purchaser may elect, by notice to Vendor not later than the last Business Day prior to 
the Closing Date, to terminate this Agreement; and

(B) Vendor may elect by notice to Purchaser, not later than the last Business Day prior to 
the Closing Date, to terminate this Agreement.
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(iv) If Purchaser has made an election pursuant to sub-paragraph (B) of Clause 9.2(e)(ii) and there 
has been a delay in the Closing Date as provided that sub-paragraph, then the procedures set 
forth in of Clauses 9.2(e)(i), (ii) and (iii) shall be repeated mutatis mutandis at such later 
Closing Date.

(f) If Vendor disputes whether any purported Title Defect set forth in the Defect Notice actually 
constitutes a Title Defect or the amount of any Defect Value attributed by Purchaser to any Identified 
Title Defect and the Parties are unable to resolve the dispute through negotiation prior to the second to 
last Business Day prior to the Closing Date, Vendor may, on notice to Purchaser, on the last Business 
Day prior to the Closing Date require that the matter be resolved by arbitration in the manner provided 
for in Clause 11.3(c), in which case, the Closing Date shall be delayed until the fifth Business Day 
after the resolution of such matter and the procedures set forth in of Clauses 9.2(e)(i), (ii) and (iii)
shall be repeated mutatis mutandis at such later Closing Date.

(g) Parties acknowledge and agree that any acceptance or waiver (or deemed acceptance or waiver) of any 
Title Defects as provided in this Clause 9.2 not constitute a waiver of, and shall be without prejudice 
to Purchaser's right to rely upon, Vendor's representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement 
or Purchaser's rights under Clause 6.1.

ARTICLE 10
RIGHTS OF FIRST REFUSAL

10.1 Rights of First Refusal

(a) As of the date of this Agreement, the Parties do not believe that there are any ROFRs.  If either of the 
Parties identifies any ROFRs prior to Closing, that Party shall promptly notify the other Party thereof 
and Purchaser shall promptly thereafter advise Vendor in writing of its bona fide allocations of value 
for the Assets to which each such ROFR relates.

(b) Vendor shall issue notices to the Third Parties holding Identified ROFRs in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of such rights no later than three Business Days after it receives the value 
allocations relating to the Assets affected by each such Identified ROFR from Purchaser as provided 
in Clause 10.1(a).

(c) Vendor shall notify Purchaser in writing forthwith upon receipt of notice from any Third Party 
exercising or waiving any Identified ROFRs for which notices were issued pursuant to Clause 10.1(b).

(d) Prior to Closing Vendor shall comply with the terms of each of the Identified ROFRs exercised by the 
holders thereof by conveying to such holders the portion of the Assets which are subject to such 
exercised Identified ROFR.  If any Identified ROFRs are exercised by the holders thereof and the 
applicable Assets are transferred and conveyed to such holders prior to Closing, upon such transfer 
and conveyance this Agreement shall be deemed to have been amended, effective as of the date of this 
Agreement, to exclude such Assets from the definitions of "Assets", "Major Facilities", 
"Miscellaneous Interests", "Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights", "Tangibles" and "Wells", as may be 
applicable, and to reduce the Base Price by the aggregate of the values allocated to such Assets as 
provided in Clause 10.1(a).

(e) At the option of Purchaser, Closing shall be delayed if any Identified ROFRs are outstanding or 
capable of exercise by the holders thereof as of the Closing Time (such ROFRs being referred to as 
"Outstanding ROFRs") until such Outstanding ROFRs expire in accordance with their terms or are 
exercised or waived by the holders thereof.
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(f) From and after Closing, Purchaser shall comply with any ROFRs identified after Closing in 
accordance with the terms thereof.  Purchaser shall be entitled to receive all proceeds payable by a the 
holders of any such ROFRs exercised after Closing and there will be no adjustment to the Purchase 
Price as a consequence of the identification of any such ROFRs or the exercise thereof after Closing.

(g) Purchaser shall be liable for all Losses and Liabilities suffered, sustained, paid or incurred by Vendor, 
and, in addition and as an independent covenant, shall indemnify Vendor from and against all Losses 
and Liabilities suffered, sustained, paid or incurred by it and all Claims made against it, in either case, 
as a direct consequence of any allocation of value provided by Purchaser and used by Vendor in the 
issuance of a notice in respect of a Identified ROFR pursuant to Clause 10.1(a).

ARTICLE 11
GENERAL

11.1 Further Assurances

Each Party will, from time to time and at all times after Closing, without further consideration, do 
such further acts and deliver all such further assurances, deeds and documents as shall be reasonably required 
in order to fully perform and carry out the terms of this Agreement.

11.2 Entire Agreement

The provisions contained in any and all documents and agreements collateral hereto shall at all times 
be read subject to the provisions of this Agreement and, in the event of conflict, the provisions of this 
Agreement shall prevail.  This Agreement supersedes all other agreements, documents, writings and verbal 
understandings among the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement and expresses the entire 
agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.

11.3 Governing Law; Arbitration

(a) This Agreement shall, in all respects, be subject to, interpreted, construed and enforced in accordance 
with and under the laws of the Province of Alberta and the laws of Canada applicable therein and 
shall, in every regard, be treated as a contract made in the Province of Alberta.

(b) Subject to Clause 11.3(c), the Parties shall attorn and submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of the 
Province of Alberta and courts of appeal therefrom in respect of all matters arising out of this 
Agreement.

(c) Insofar as the Parties are unable to agree on any matter which expressly may be referred to arbitration 
under this Agreement, either Party may serve the other Party written notice that it wishes such matter 
referred to arbitration.  Each such arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the following:

(i) The Parties shall meet within five days of the receipt of a notice issued by one Party 
requesting arbitration of an applicable matter to attempt to agree on a single arbitrator 
qualified by experience, education, and training, to determine such matter.  If the Parties are 
unable to agree on the selection of the arbitrator, the Party which issued such notice shall 
forthwith make application to a justice of the Court of Queen's Bench of the Province of 
Alberta pursuant to the Arbitration Act for the appointment of a single arbitrator, and failing 
such action on the part of the Party which issued such notice, the other Party may make such 
application.

(ii) The arbitrator selected pursuant to Clause 11.3(c)(i) shall proceed as soon as is practicable to 
hear and determine the matter in dispute, and shall be directed to provide a written decision 
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respecting such matter within 30 days of appointment.  The Parties shall provide such 
assistance and information as may be reasonably necessary to enable the arbitrator to 
determine such matter.

(iii) Except to the extent modified in this Clause 11.3(c), the arbitrator shall conduct any 
arbitration under this Agreement pursuant to the provisions of the Arbitration Act.

(iv) Except as otherwise provided in this Clause 11.3(c), each such arbitration shall be conducted 
in accordance with the then-current Rules of Procedure for Commercial Arbitration (or any 
replacement thereof) of the ADR Institute of Canada.

11.4 Assignment

This Agreement may not be assigned by a Party without the prior written consent of the other Party, 
which consent may be unreasonably and arbitrarily withheld.

11.5 Enurement

This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall enure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns.

11.6 Time of Essence

Time shall be of the essence in this Agreement.

11.7 Notices

(a) The addresses for service and the fax numbers of the Parties shall be as follows:

Vendor: Onefour Energy Ltd.
800, 510 - 5th Avenue S.W.
Calgary, Alberta T2P 3S2
Attention: Ms. Suzanne Stahl
Fax: (403) 263-4061

with a copy to :

The Huff Alternative Fund, L.P.
67 Park Place
Morristown, New Jersey, U.S.A.
Attention: Mr. Barry Borak
Fax: (973) 984-9818

and to:

Bennett Jones LLP
4500, 855 - 2nd Street S.W.
Calgary, Alberta T2P 4K7
Attention: Vivek Warrier
Fax: (403) 265-7219
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Purchaser: Galleon Energy Inc.
400, 250 - 2nd Street S.W.
Calgary, Alberta T2P 3N9
Attention: Chris Tibbles, Vice President, Land
Fax No.: (403) 262-5561

with a copy to:

Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP
1400, 350 - 7th Avenue S.W.
Calgary, Alberta T2P 3N9
Attention: Mark Houston
Fax No.: (403) 260-0332

(b) All notices, communications and statements required, permitted or contemplated in this Agreement 
shall be in writing, and shall be delivered as follows:

(i) by personal delivery or courier service on a Party at the address of such Party set out above, 
in which case the item so served shall be deemed to have been received when actually 
delivered; or

(ii) by facsimile transmission to a Party to the fax number of such Party set out above, in which 
case the item so transmitted shall be deemed to have been received when received in its 
entirety in a legible form.

(c) A Party may from time to time change its address for service or its fax number or both by giving 
written notice of such change to the other Party.

11.8 Limit of Liability

Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in no event shall the liability of Vendor under 
this Agreement, including all Claims by Purchaser arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, exceed, 
in the aggregate, the Purchase Price, taking into account any and all increases or decreases to the Purchase 
Price that occur by virtue of the terms of this Agreement.

11.9 Invalidity of Provisions

If any of the provisions of this Agreement is found be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, 
the validity, legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions contained in this Agreement shall not in any 
way be affected or impaired thereby.

11.10 Waiver

No failure on the part of any Party in exercising any right or remedy under this Agreement shall 
operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or remedy preclude any 
other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any right or remedy in law or in equity or by other 
Applicable Law or otherwise conferred.  No waiver of any provision of this Agreement, including this 
Clause 11.10, shall be effective otherwise than by an instrument in writing dated subsequent to the date of this 
Agreement, executed by a duly authorized representative of the Party making such waiver.
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11.11 No Merger

Except as expressly provided elsewhere in this Agreement, the respective representations, warranties, 
covenants and indemnities of the Parties contained in this Agreement, including all qualifications thereof and 
limitations thereon, shall survive Closing and shall not be merged in any assignments, conveyances, transfers 
and other documents provided for under this Agreement.

11.12 Amendment

This Agreement shall not be varied in its terms or amended by oral agreement or by representations or 
otherwise other than by an instrument in writing dated subsequent to the date of this Agreement, executed by a 
duly authorized representative of each Party.

11.13 Confidentiality and Public Announcements

Neither Party shall disclose any information concerning negotiations relating to this Agreement and 
the Transaction, without the prior written consent of the other Party.  Nothing contained in this Agreement 
shall prevent a Party at any time from furnishing such information (i) to any Governmental Authority or to the 
public if required by Applicable Law or stock exchange rule or policy, (ii) to obtain consents required under, 
or comply with preferential, pre-emptive or first purchase rights contained in, the Title and Operating 
Documents and any other agreements and documents to which the Assets are subject, or (iii) if required to 
procure the consent of Vendor's lenders or other security holders, provided that, in such instances, the Parties 
shall advise each other in advance of any such statement or disclosure which they propose or are required to 
make and shall use their reasonable efforts to prevent the release of any and all parts of the information not 
required to be disclosed or released.

11.14 Counterpart Execution

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as if all 
signatories to the counterparts had signed one document.  All such counterparts shall together constitute and be 
construed as one instrument.  For avoidance of doubt, a signed counterpart provided by way of facsimile 
transmission or other electronic means shall be as binding upon the Parties as an originally signed counterpart.

(Balance of this Page Intentionally Left Blank.  Execution Page Follows)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year 
first above written.

ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD. GALLEON ENERGY INC.

Per: Per:
Name:
Title:

Name:
Title:

This is the Execution Page for the Agreement of Purchase and Sale Between Onefour Energy 
Ltd. and Galleon Energy Inc. dated the 11th day of September, 2008.



SCHEDULE A

The Attached Disk Comprises SCHEDULE A Attached to and Forming Part of an Agreement of Purchase and 
Sale Made as of the ____ day of September, 2008 Between Onefour Energy Ltd., as Vendor and Galleon 
Energy Inc. as Purchaser.

LANDS, PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS RIGHTS, WELLS

See Attached



SCHEDULE B

This Page Comprises SCHEDULE B Attached to and Forming Part of an Agreement of Purchase and Sale 
Made as of the ____ day of September, 2008 Between Onefour Energy Ltd., as Vendor and Galleon Energy 
Inc as Purchaser.

PRODUCTION AND MARKETING CONTRACTS

• Gas Purchase Agreement dated June 30, 2006 between Glencoe Resources Ltd. and Onefour Energy 
Ltd., as amended by Amending Letter Agreement dated April 24, 2007, only insofar as it pertain to the 
Assets

• Crude Oil Purchase Contract dated August 1, 2007 between Gibson Energy Partnership and Onefour 
Energy Ltd.

• Well Effluent Handling Agreement dated effective September 1, 2008 (supersedes Oil Processing 
Agreement dated May 1, 2004) between Harvest Operations Corp. and Onefour Energy Ltd.

• Gas Handling Agreement dated August 1, 2006 between Devon Canada and Onefour Energy Ltd.



SCHEDULE C

This Page Comprises SCHEDULE C Attached to and Forming Part of an Agreement of Purchase and Sale 
Made as of the ____ day of September, 2008 Between Onefour Energy Ltd., as Vendor and Galleon Energy 
Inc. as Purchaser.

MAJOR FACILITIES

13-31-92-6-W5M Multi-Oil Battery - Surface Location 13-31-92-6-W5M

ERCB Code No. 1029668

Tangible Equipment Inventory:

One Gas Sales Meter (Devon Energy a Meter On-Site Also)

6 x 1000 BBL Oil Tanks

1 x 1000 BBL Water Tank

2 – 400 BBL Water Skim Tanks

1 Gardner Denver Injection Pump (Tri-Plex)

1 Water Knock-Out 45m³ Vessel

1 Treater 150

1 Test Separator

1 Manifold Building Complete With Pig Trap

2 Rental Propane Tanks From NewFeld Propane

1 20x76 Mobile Home (Living Quarters – Fully Furnished)

1 12x40 Office Trailer

3 AUSUS Computers

1 MCC Building

1 7m³/day Recycle Pump

Scada Pack and Control System

1 Kudu Drive Head

2 – 500 Gallon Chemical Tanks Complete With Chemical Pump



SCHEDULE D

This Page Comprises SCHEDULE D Attached to and Forming Part of an Agreement of Purchase and Sale 
Made as of the ____ day of September, 2008 Between Onefour Energy Ltd., as Vendor and Galleon Energy 
Inc. as Purchaser.

OUTSTANDING AFES

NIL



SCHEDULE E

This and the Following Page Comprise SCHEDULE E Attached to and Forming Part of an Agreement of 
Purchase and Sale Made as of the ____ day of September, 2008 Between Onefour Energy Ltd., as Vendor and 
Galleon Energy Inc. as Purchaser.

FORM OF GENERAL CONVEYANCE

GENERAL CONVEYANCE

THIS GENERAL CONVEYANCE made the·____ day of _______________·, 2008.

BETWEEN:

ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD., a body corporate incorporated pursuant to the 
laws of the Province of Alberta (the "Vendor")

- and -

GALLEON ENERGY INC., a body corporate incorporated pursuant to the 
laws of the Province of Alberta (the "Purchaser")

WHEREAS pursuant to the provisions of an asset purchase agreement dated _____________ 2008 
between the Vendor and the Purchaser (the "Asset Purchase Agreement"), the Purchaser has agreed to 
purchase the Vendor's interest in the "Assets", as defined in the Asset Purchase Agreement, subject to the 
terms and conditions set forth in the Asset Purchase Agreement;

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that the Vendor and Purchaser agree as 
follows:

1. Definitions

Unless otherwise defined in this General Conveyance, capitalized words when used in this Agreement 
have the meaning ascribed to them in the Asset Purchase Agreement.

2. Conveyance

Pursuant to and for the consideration provided for in the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Vendor 
hereby sells, assigns, transfers, conveys and sets over to the Purchaser the Vendor's entire right, title, 
estate and interest in and to the Assets, and Purchaser hereby purchases and accepts the Assets, to 
have and to hold the same absolutely, together with all benefits and advantages to be derived 
therefrom.

3. Effective Time

This General Conveyance shall be effective as the date first written above.

4. Subordinate Documents

This General Conveyance is executed and delivered by the parties hereto pursuant to and for the 
purposes of the provisions of the Asset Purchase Agreement and the provisions of the Asset Purchase 



Agreement shall prevail and govern in the event of a conflict between the provisions of the Asset 
Purchase Agreement and this General Conveyance.

5. Enurement

This General Conveyance shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of each of the parties hereto 
and their respective receivers, receiver-managers, successors and assigns.

6. Further Assurances

Each party hereto will, from time to time and at all times hereafter, at the request of the other party but 
without further consideration, do all such further acts and execute and deliver all such further 
documents as shall be reasonably required in order to fully perform and carry out the terms of this 
Agreement.

7. Merger

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall in any way result in a merger of the terms and conditions of 
the Asset Purchase Agreement with the terms and conditions of this General Conveyance and the 
parties hereto specifically agree that all such terms and conditions of the Asset Purchase Agreement 
shall continue to apply to the within conveyance.

8. Counterpart Execution

This General Conveyance may be executed in any number of counterparts with the same effect as if 
all signatories to the counterparts had signed one document.  All such counterparts shall together 
constitute and be construed as one instrument.  For avoidance of doubt, a signed counterpart provided 
by way of facsimile transmission or other electronic means shall be as binding upon the Parties as an 
originally signed counterpart.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this General Conveyance as of the date 
first written above.

ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD. GALLEON ENERGY INC.

Per: Per:
Name:
Title:

Name:
Title:



SCHEDULE F

This Page Comprises SCHEDULE F Attached to and Forming Part of an Agreement of Purchase and Sale 
Made as of the ____ day of September, 2008 Between Onefour Energy Ltd., as Vendor and Galleon Energy 
Inc. as Purchaser.

PRODUCTION SALES CONTRACTS TO BE TERMINATED

• Gas Purchase Agreement dated June 30, 2006 between Glencoe Resources Ltd. and Onefour Energy 
Ltd., as amended by Amending Letter Agreement dated April 24, 2007, only insofar as it pertain to the 
Assets

• Crude Oil Purchase Contract dated August 1, 2007 between Gibson Energy Partnership and Onefour 
Energy Ltd.



SCHEDULE G

This Page Comprises SCHEDULE G Attached to and Forming Part of an Agreement of Purchase and Sale 
Made as of the ____ day of September, 2008 Between Onefour Energy Ltd., as Vendor and Galleon Energy 
Inc. as Purchaser.

LEASED TANGIBLES

Location: 13-31-92-6-W5M Oil Battery
Compressor Package C-360
Gemini H302-2/Caterpillar G3304NA
Compass Compression Services Ltd.
Month-to-month rental

Location: 100/15-30-92-06W5/0 Well
Portable 100 KW Genset
60 BBL Fuel Tank
Peace Country Power Systems Ltd.
Month-to-month rental

Location: 100/12-11-93-07W5/0 Well
Portable 100 KW Genset
1000 Gallon Fuel Tank (s) – were there not 2 tanks here?
Peace Country Power Systems Ltd.
Month-to-month rental



SCHEDULE H

This and the Following Page Comprise SCHEDULE H Attached to and Forming Part of an Agreement of 
Purchase and Sale Made as of the ____ day of September, 2008 Between Onefour Energy Ltd., as Vendor and 
Galleon Energy Inc. as Purchaser.

FORM OF CERTIFICATE FOR VENDOR

TO: Galleon Energy Inc. ("Purchaser")

RE: Purchase and Sale Agreement dated ____, 2008 (the "Sale Agreement") between Onefour Energy 
Ltd. ("Vendor") and Purchaser.

The undersigned, [INSERT NAME], being the [INSERT TITLE] of Vendor, hereby certifies, for 
and on behalf of Vendor and not in his/her personal capacity, as follows:

1. The undersigned is personally familiar, in his/her capacity as an officer of Vendor, with the matters 
hereinafter certified.

2. This certificate is made and delivered pursuant to clause 4.1(c) of the Sale Agreement.

3. The definitions contained in the Sale Agreement are adopted in this Agreement and wherever used 
shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Sale Agreement.

4. The representations and warranties of Vendor set forth in clause 5.1 of the Sale Agreement are true 
correct in all material respects as of the Closing Time, unless some other time is specified, and all obligations 
and covenants of Vendor to be performed or complied with prior to or at the Closing Time (other than in 
respect to the agreements, certificates and other instruments and documents to be delivered at the Closing Time 
by Vendor pursuant to clause 4.1 of the Sale Agreement) have been performed or complied with in all material 
respects.

DATED at Calgary, Alberta, as of the ____ day of·_______________, 2008.

ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.

Per:
Name:
Title:



FORM OF CERTIFICATE FOR PURCHASER

TO: Onefour Energy Ltd. ("Vendor")

RE: Purchase and Sale Agreement dated ____, 2008 (the "Sale Agreement") between Vendor and Galleon 
Energy Inc. ("Purchaser")

The undersigned, [INSERT NAME], being the [INSERT TITLE] of Purchaser, hereby certifies, for 
and on behalf of Purchaser and not in his/her personal capacity, as follows:

1. The undersigned is personally familiar, in his/her capacity as an officer of Purchaser, with the matters 
hereinafter mentioned.

2. This certificate is made and delivered pursuant to clause 4.2(c) of the Sale Agreement.

3. The definitions contained in the Sale Agreement are adopted and in this Agreement wherever used 
shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Sale Agreement.

4. The representations and warranties of Purchaser set forth in clause 5.3 of the Sale Agreement are true 
in all material respects as of the Closing Time and all obligations and covenants of Purchaser to be performed 
prior to or at the Closing Time (other than in respect to the payments, agreements, certificates and other 
instruments and documents to be made and delivered at the Closing Time by Purchaser pursuant to Clause 4.2) 
have been performed or complied with in all material respects.

DATED at Calgary, Alberta, as of the ____ day of·_______________, 2008.

GALLEON ENERGY INC.

Per:
Name:
Title:



SCHEDULE I

This and the Following ____ Pages Comprise SCHEDULE I Attached to and Forming Part of an Agreement of 
Purchase and Sale Made as of the ____ day of September, 2008 Between Onefour Energy Ltd., as Vendor and 
Galleon Energy Inc. as Purchaser.

INCLUDED SEISMIC DATA



APPENDIX B

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS TO BE PASSED AT THE MEETING



Approval of the Purchase Agreement

"BE IT RESOLVED BY SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT:

1. the asset purchase and sale agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") dated September 11, 2008, 
between Onefour Energy Ltd. (the "Corporation") and Galleon Energy Inc. ("Galleon") pursuant to 
which the Corporation shall sell to Galleon substantially all of its assets, a copy of which is attached as 
Appendix A to the management information circular and proxy statement of the Corporation dated 
September 29, 2008 (the "Information Circular"), with such amendments or variations thereto made 
in accordance with the terms of the Purchase Agreement as may be approved by the persons referred 
to in paragraph 3 hereof, and all transactions contemplated thereby, be and are hereby authorized, 
ratified and approved;

2. notwithstanding that this resolution has been duly passed and/or has received the approval of the 
shareholders of the Corporation by special resolution, the board of directors of the Corporation may, 
without further notice to, or approval of, the holders of class "A" common shares of the Corporation, 
subject to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, amend or terminate the Purchase Agreement or 
revoke this resolution at any time prior to the completion of the transactions contemplated by the 
Purchase Agreement; and

3. any one director or officer of the Corporation is hereby authorized, for and on behalf of the 
Corporation, to execute and deliver the Purchase Agreement and to execute, with or without the 
corporate seal, and, if, appropriate, deliver all other documents and instruments and do all other things 
as in the opinion of such director or officer may be necessary or advisable to implement this resolution 
and the matters authorized hereby, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by the execution 
and delivery of any such document or instrument, and the taking of any such action."

Approval of the Consolidation

"BE IT RESOLVED BY SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT:

1. the consolidation (the "Consolidation") by the board of directors of Onefour Energy Ltd. (the 
"Corporation"), at such time as it determines, of the class "A" common shares ("Onefour Shares") 
of the Corporation on the basis of one (1) new Onefour Share (each a "Post Consolidation Onefour 
Share") for each 4,027,846 Onefour Shares held immediately prior to the effective time of the 
Consolidation, together with a mandatory re-purchase by the Corporation of all fractional interests in a 
Post-Consolidation Onefour Share (each a "Fractional Interest") pursuant to the terms more fully 
described in the management information circular and proxy statement of the Corporation dated 
September 29, 2008, is hereby authorized and approved;

2. notwithstanding that this resolution has been duly passed and/or has received the approval of the 
shareholders of the Corporation by special resolution, the board of directors of the Corporation may, 
without further notice to, or approval of, the holders of Onefour Shares, revoke this resolution at any 
time prior to the completion of the Consolidation; and

3. any one director or officer of the Corporation is hereby authorized, for and on behalf of the 
Corporation, to execute and deliver articles of amendment to give effect to the foregoing resolutions 
and to execute, with or without the corporate seal, and, if, appropriate, deliver all other documents and 
instruments and do all other things as in the opinion of such director or officer may be necessary or 
advisable to implement this resolution and the matters authorized hereby, such determination to be 
conclusively evidenced by the execution and delivery of any such document or instrument, and the 
taking of any such action."
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191(1) Subject to sections 192 and 242, a holder of shares of any class of a corporation may dissent if the 
corporation resolves to

(a) amend its articles under section 173 or 174 to add, change or remove any provisions 
restricting or constraining the issue or transfer of shares of that class,

(b) amend its articles under section 173 to add, change or remove any restrictions on the business 
or businesses that the corporation may carry on,

(b.1) amend its articles under section 173 to add or remove an express statement establishing the 
unlimited liability of shareholders as set out in section 15.2(1),

(c) amalgamate with another corporation, otherwise than under section 184 or 187,

(d) be continued under the laws of another jurisdiction under section 189, or

(e) sell, lease or exchange all or substantially all its property under section 190.

(2) A holder of shares of any class or series of shares entitled to vote under section 176, other than 
section 176(1)(a), may dissent if the corporation resolves to amend its articles in a manner described 
in that section.

(3) In addition to any other right the shareholder may have, but subject to subsection (20), a shareholder 
entitled to dissent under this section and who complies with this section is entitled to be paid by the 
corporation the fair value of the shares held by the shareholder in respect of which the shareholder 
dissents, determined as of the close of business on the last business day before the day on which the 
resolution from which the shareholder dissents was adopted.

(4) A dissenting shareholder may only claim under this section with respect to all the shares of a class 
held by the shareholder or on behalf of any one beneficial owner and registered in the name of the 
dissenting shareholder.

(5) A dissenting shareholder shall send to the corporation a written objection to a resolution referred to in 
subsection (1) or (2)

(a) at or before any meeting of shareholders at which the resolution is to be voted on, or

(b) if the corporation did not send notice to the shareholder of the purpose of the meeting or of 
the shareholder's right to dissent, within a reasonable time after the shareholder learns that the 
resolution was adopted and of the shareholder's right to dissent.

(6) An application may be made to the Court by originating notice after the adoption of a resolution 
referred to in subsection (1) or (2),

(a) by the corporation, or

(b) by a shareholder if the shareholder has sent an objection to the corporation under 
subsection (5)

to fix the fair value in accordance with subsection (3) of the shares of a shareholder who dissents 
under this section, or to fix the time at which a shareholder of an unlimited liability corporation who 
dissents under this section ceases to become liable for any new liability, act or default of the unlimited 
liability corporation.



(7) If an application is made under subsection (6), the corporation shall, unless the Court otherwise 
orders, send to each dissenting shareholder a written offer to pay the shareholder an amount 
considered by the directors to be the fair value of the shares.

(8) Unless the Court otherwise orders, an offer referred to in subsection (7) shall be sent to each 
dissenting shareholder

(a) at least 10 days before the date on which the application is returnable, if the corporation is the 
applicant, or

(b) within 10 days after the corporation is served with a copy of the originating notice, if a 
shareholder is the applicant.

(9) Every offer made under subsection (7) shall

(a) be made on the same terms, and

(b) contain or be accompanied with a statement showing how the fair value was determined.

(10) A dissenting shareholder may make an agreement with the corporation for the purchase of the 
shareholder's shares by the corporation, in the amount of the corporation's offer under subsection (7) 
or otherwise, at any time before the Court pronounces an order fixing the fair value of the shares.

(11) A dissenting shareholder

(a) is not required to give security for costs in respect of an application under subsection (6), and

(b) except in special circumstances must not be required to pay the costs of the application or 
appraisal.

(12) In connection with an application under subsection (6), the Court may give directions for

(a) joining as parties all dissenting shareholders whose shares have not been purchased by the 
corporation and for the representation of dissenting shareholders who, in the opinion of the 
Court, are in need of representation,

(b) the trial of issues and interlocutory matters, including pleadings and examinations for 
discovery,

(c) the payment to the shareholder of all or part of the sum offered by the corporation for the 
shares,

(d) the deposit of the share certificates with the Court or with the corporation or its transfer agent,

(e) the appointment and payment of independent appraisers, and the procedures to be followed by 
them,

(f) the service of documents, and

(g) the burden of proof on the parties.

(13) On an application under subsection (6), the Court shall make an order

(a) fixing the fair value of the shares in accordance with subsection (3) of all dissenting 
shareholders who are parties to the application,



(b) giving judgment in that amount against the corporation and in favour of each of those 
dissenting shareholders,

(c) fixing the time within which the corporation must pay that amount to a shareholder, and

(d) fixing the time at which a dissenting shareholder of an unlimited liability corporation ceases 
to become liable for any new liability, act or default of the unlimited liability corporation.

(14) On:

(a) the action approved by the resolution from which the shareholder dissents becoming 
effective,

(b) the making of an agreement under subsection (10) between the corporation and the dissenting 
shareholder as to the payment to be made by the corporation for the shareholder's shares, 
whether by the acceptance of the corporation's offer under subsection (7) or otherwise, or

(c) the pronouncement of an order under subsection (13);

whichever first occurs, the shareholder ceases to have any rights as a shareholder other than the right 
to be paid the fair value of the shareholder's shares in the amount agreed to between the corporation 
and the shareholder or in the amount of the judgment, as the case may be.

(15) Subsection (14)(a) does not apply to a shareholder referred to in subsection (5)(b).

(16) Until one of the events mentioned in subsection (14) occurs,

(a) the shareholder may withdraw the shareholder's dissent, or

(b) the corporation may rescind the resolution,

and in either event proceedings under this section shall be discontinued.

(17) The Court may in its discretion allow a reasonable rate of interest on the amount payable to each 
dissenting shareholder, from the date on which the shareholder ceases to have any rights as a 
shareholder by reason of subsection (14) until the date of payment.

(18) If subsection (20) applies, the corporation shall, within 10 days after

(a) the pronouncement of an order under subsection (13), or

(b) the making of an agreement between the shareholder and the corporation as to the payment to 
be made for the shareholder's shares,

notify each dissenting shareholder that it is unable lawfully to pay dissenting shareholders for their 
shares.

(19) Notwithstanding that a judgment has been given in favour of a dissenting shareholder under 
subsection (13)(b), if subsection (20) applies, the dissenting shareholder, by written notice delivered to 
the corporation within 30 days after receiving the notice under subsection (18), may withdraw the 
shareholder's notice of objection, in which case the corporation is deemed to consent to the withdrawal 
and the shareholder is reinstated to the shareholder's full rights as a shareholder, failing which the 
shareholder retains a status as a claimant against the corporation, to be paid as soon as the corporation 
is lawfully able to do so or, in a liquidation, to be ranked subordinate to the rights of creditors of the 
corporation but in priority to its shareholders.



(20) A corporation shall not make a payment to a dissenting shareholder under this section if there are 
reasonable grounds for believing that

(a) the corporation is or would after the payment be unable to pay its liabilities as they become 
due, or

(b) the realizable value of the corporation's assets would by reason of the payment be less than 
the aggregate of its liabilities.
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General

Galleon was incorporated under the ABCA on March 27, 2003.  On June 6, 2003 the articles of Galleon were 
amended to create the Galleon Shares and the Galleon Class B Shares.  On July 21, 2003, the articles of 
Galleon were amended to (i) increase the minimum number of directors from one to three; (ii) remove 
restrictions on the transferability of its shares; and (iii) remove the limit on the number of shareholders of 
Galleon and the prohibition on Galleon making an invitation to publicly subscribe for securities.  On January 
1, 2005, Galleon amalgamated with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Venture Energy Inc. and Inisfail Energy 
Ltd. and continued under the name "Galleon Energy Inc".  On June 7, 2006, the articles of Galleon were 
amended to subdivide the then issued and outstanding Galleon Shares on a three-for two basis.

Galleon is a reporting issuer or the equivalent in each of the provinces of Canada.  The head office of Galleon 
is located at 400, 250 2nd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta T2P 0C1, and its registered office is located at 1400, 
350 - 7th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta.

Galleon has no subsidiaries, other than ExAlta Energy Inc., Adamant Energy Inc., 1244419 Alberta Ltd. and 
1175176 Alberta Ltd.  Galleon Energy Partnership holds Galleon's producing oil and gas assets.

Summary Description of the Business

Galleon is an Alberta based corporation engaged in the business of exploring for, developing and producing 
crude oil and natural gas in Alberta, British Columbia and Saskatchewan.  Galleon pursues an integrated 
growth strategy including focused exploration, controlled exploitation and strategic acquisitions predominantly 
within its core project areas in the Peace River Arch region of the western Canadian sedimentary basin.

Galleon will focus on exploration and development drilling in the Peace River Arch region of Alberta and 
British Columbia.  Galleon has assembled large land blocks close to gas infrastructure and crude oil processing 
facilities.  Galleon has invested in natural gas and crude oil infrastructure in its key areas so as to obtain 
operatorship and control of the facilities.  Additionally, Galleon has pursued and will continue to pursue 
strategic asset and corporate acquisitions of crude oil and natural gas properties.

For further information regarding Galleon and its business activities, see "Description of the Business and 
Operations" and "General Development of the Business" in the Galleon AIF, which is incorporated herein by 
reference.

Documents Incorporated by Reference

Information in respect of Galleon has been incorporated by reference in the Information Circular from 
documents filed with securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada in which Galleon is a 
reporting issuer.  Copies of the documents incorporated by reference herein may be obtained upon request at 
no charge from the Vice-President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation, (telephone (403) 
261-9276).  In addition, copies of the documents incorporated herein by reference may be obtained from the 
securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada through the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com.  For 
the purpose of the Province of Québec, this Information Circular contains information to be completed by 
consulting the permanent information record of Galleon.  A copy of Galleon's permanent information record 
may be obtained from the Vice-President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Galleon at the 
above-mentioned address and facsimile (403) 716-3205.  Financial information respecting Galleon is provided 
in Galleon's financial statements and management's discussion and analysis, which are incorporated herein by 
reference.

The following documents of Galleon filed with the various securities commissions or similar authorities in the 
jurisdictions where Galleon is a reporting issuer, are specifically incorporated by reference into and form an 
integral part of the Information Circular:

www.sedar.com.


(a) the Galleon AIF;

(b) the audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the years ended December 31, 2007 
and 2006, together with the notes thereto and the auditors' report thereon;

(c) management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations of 
Galleon for the year ended December 31, 2007;

(d) the unaudited consolidated financial statements as at and for the six month period ended 
June 30, 2008, together with the notes thereto;

(e) management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations of 
Galleon for the six month period ended June 30, 2008;

(f) the ExAlta BAR;

(g) the Adamant BAR;

(h) the information circular and proxy statement dated March 26, 2007 relating to the annual and 
special meeting of the holders of Galleon Shares and Class B Shares held on May 14, 2007;

(i) the information circular and proxy statement dated March 31, 2008 relating to the annual and 
special meeting of the holders of Galleon Shares and Class B Shares to be held on May 13, 
2008;

(j) the material change report dated January 23, 2008 with respect to the acquisition of ExAlta;

(k) the material change report dated March 12, 2008 with respect to the proposed acquisition of 
Adamant; and

(l) the material change report dated May 9, 2008 with respect to the acquisition of Adamant.

Any documents of the type required by National Instrument 44-101 to be incorporated by reference in a short 
form prospectus, including any material change reports (except confidential material change reports), 
comparative interim financial statements, comparative annual financial statements and the auditors' report 
thereon, information circulars, annual information forms and business acquisition reports (excluding those 
portions that are not required pursuant to National Instrument 44-101 - Short Form Prospectus Distributions of 
the Canadian Securities Administrators to be incorporated by reference herein) filed by Galleon with the 
securities commissions or similar authorities in the provinces of Canada subsequent to the date of the 
Information Circular and prior to the completion of the sale of the Assets will be deemed to be incorporated by 
reference in the Information Circular.

Any statement contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein 
will be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purposes of the Information Circular to the extent 
that a statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document which also is, or is 
deemed to be, incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such statement.  The modifying 
or superseding statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a prior statement or include 
any other information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes.  The making of a 
modifying or superseding statement will not be deemed an admission for any purpose that the modified 
or superseded statement, when made, constituted a misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material 
fact or an omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a 
statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made.  Any statement so modified 
or superseded will not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of the 
Information Circular.



Recent Developments

Galleon Energy Inc. has seen continued drilling success during third quarter 2008 including drilling 33 wells 
and casing 31 wells (29 net) for production; a success rate of 94%. Eleven wells (9.5 net) were cased for light 
oil and 19 wells (18.6 net) were cased for natural gas.  One well (1.0 net) was cased as a water injector.

Potential Acquisitions and Financings

Galleon continues to evaluate potential acquisitions of all types of petroleum and natural gas and other energy-
related assets as part of its ongoing acquisition program. Galleon is normally in the process of evaluating 
several potential acquisitions at any one time which individually or together could be material. As of the date 
hereof, Galleon has not reached agreement on the price or terms of any potential material acquisitions. 
Galleon cannot predict whether any current or future opportunities will result in one or more acquisitions for 
Galleon. Galleon may in the future complete financings of Galleon Shares or debt (which may be convertible 
into Galleon Shares) for purposes that may include financing of acquisitions, Galleon's operations and capital 
expenditures and repayment of indebtedness.

Significant Acquisitions

There are no acquisitions that Galleon has completed within 75 days prior to the date of this Information 
Circular that is a significant acquisition for the purposes of Part 8 of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous 
Disclosure Obligations.  In addition, there are no proposed acquisitions that have progressed to a state where a 
reasonable person would believe that the likelihood of the acquisition being completed is high and would be a 
significant acquisition for the purposes of Part 8 of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure 
Obligations if completed as of the date of this Information Circular.

Price Range and Trading Volumes

The Galleon Shares and Galleon Class B Shares are listed on the TSX and trade under the symbols "GO.A"
and "GO.B", respectively.  The following table sets forth the high and low prices and the aggregate trading 
volume of the Galleon Shares and Galleon Class B Shares as reported by the TSX for the periods indicated.

Galleon Shares High ($) Low ($) Volume

2007
September 17.00 15.23 3,588,614
October 16.50 13.52 8,292,492
November 14.92 12.98 7,366,041
December 15.65 13.92 3,376,912

2008
January 16.11 11.49 5,164,395
February 17.22 14.11 6,569,176
March 17.09 13.30 8.708,176
April 18.65 14.25 7,274,266
May 20.15 16.62 6,899,332
June 21.00 17.15 6,690,009
July 21.16 15.30 8,340,309
August 16.59 13.35 6,277,759
September (1-26) 13.90 9.65 8,560,303

Galleon Class B Shares High ($) Low ($) Volume

2007
September - - -
October 8.81 8.75 4,000
November 9.03 8.90 3,300
December 9.10 8.90 9,250



Galleon Class B Shares High ($) Low ($) Volume

2008
January 9.10 8.95 36,100
February 9.25 9.20 54,550
March 9.55 9.27 8,300
April 9.60 9.15 14,450
May 9.99 9.40 6,685
June 9.65 9.40 101,800
July 9.65 9.25 23,814
August 9.60 9.31 79,820
September (1-26) - - -

Prior Sales

The following securities of Galleon were sold during the twelve months preceding the date of this Information 
Circular:

Date Number of Securities Type of Securities Price

September 28, 2007 1,869,200 Galleon Shares $16.05
September 28, 2007 1,463,400 Galleon Shares(1) $20.50
January 16, 2008 4,334,856 Galleon Shares See Note 2
May 9, 2008 4,193,288 Galleon Shares See Note 3

Notes:

(1) Issued on a "flow-through" basis.
(2) Issued in exchange for all of the outstanding shares of ExAlta.
(3) Issued in exchange for all of the outstanding shares of Adamant.

Risk Factors

An investment in Galleon Shares is subject to certain risks.  Onefour Shareholders should carefully consider 
the risk factors described under the heading "Risk Factors" in the Galleon AIF incorporated by reference in 
this Information Circular, as well as the risk factors set forth elsewhere in this Information Circular and 
otherwise incorporated by reference herein.

Auditors, Transfer Agent and Registrar

The auditors of Galleon are Ernst & Young LLP, Chartered Accountants, 1000, 440 – 2nd Avenue S.W., 
Calgary, Alberta T2P 5E9.

The transfer agent and registrar for the Galleon Shares in Valiant Trust Company at its principal offices in 
Calgary, Alberta and its office in Toronto, Ontario.

Additional Information

Additional information relating to Galleon is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Financial information 
concerning Galleon is provided in its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007 and the six 
month period ended June 30, 2008 and the accompanying management's discussion and analysis, all of which 
are incorporated herein by reference and can be accessed on SEDAR.

www.sedar.com
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NOTICE TO READER

Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized words and phrases used in this Appendix have the 
meaning given to such words and phrases under the heading "Glossary of Terms" and "Abbreviations"
contained in the Information Circular.

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Name, Address and Formation

The Corporation was incorporated on January 23, 2004 under the ABCA and filed amended Articles of 
Incorporation on August 3, 2005 increasing the minimum number of directors and removing restrictions on the 
transfer of its shares.

The head office of the Corporation is located at 800, 510 - 5th Street S.W. Calgary Alberta T2P 3S2.

The registered office of the Corporation is located at 4500, 855 – 2nd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta T2P 4K7.

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS

Onefour is a private junior oil and gas company engaged in the exploration for, and the acquisition, 
development and production of, oil and natural gas reserves primarily in the Province of Alberta.  Onefour 
currently produces oil and natural gas as saleable products.

Onefour acquired its first significant land position in 2005 in southeastern Alberta, drilling a Mannville 
glauconitic channel test well at Pendor that was plugged and abandoned.  Onefour's ensuing southeastern 
Alberta exploration program applied interpretation of 170 square kilometers of proprietary 3D seismic data.  In 
total, six wells were drilled at Pendor, Whitlash Valley, and Manyberries, Alberta between July 2005 and 
February 2006, yielding disappointing results, with 4 dry and abandoned wells and two cased potential wells.

In June 2006, management, with the support of the Board of Directors, determined that it was in the best 
interests of the company to re-deploy capital to its major prospect, the Senex/Panny, Alberta area.  
Accordingly, since mid 2006, Onefour's primary exploration focus area has been the Senex/Panny and Kidney 
regions in north central Alberta.  This area had all the play criteria deemed critical by Onefour management for 
implementing a successful corporate exploration strategy.  The area offered:

• 80% working interest in sixteen contiguous sections (about 10,000 gross acres).

• Bluesky, Slave Point, and Keg River reserve potential.

• Initially, 20 prospective drilling locations as defined by a newly acquired $1.7 million 
proprietary seismic acquisition and interpretation program.

• Broad regional resource plays that offer multiple well follow up.

The ability to deploy 3D seismic data and technology resulted in Slave Point, Keg River, and Bluesky 
discoveries at Senex.  Onefour ultimately acquired 55,680 gross (50,015 net) acres of land (89.8% net working 
interest), approximately 109 square kilometres of proprietary and trade 3D seismic data and approximately 16 
kilometres of proprietary and trade 2D seismic data.  Despite efforts to identify economically productive 
reserves in the Slave Point and Keg River formations, five producing Keg River wells showed high declines, 
coupled with excessively high water cuts and problematic paraffin build-up.  The Corporation's effort to 
effectively water flood the Slave Point formation did not succeed.  The five wells continue to produce at levels 
lower than initially expected.
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In July 2007, management, with the support of the Board of Directors, elected to solicit farmin or joint venture 
opportunities with respect to its Senex property to outside interested parties. Several companies were 
approached to participate in a joint venture to exploit the potential of a Keg River waterflood project that had 
been discovered by Onefour as a secondary target in its attempt to fully develop its Keg River production 
efforts. Onefour's marketing efforts did not result in any potential joint venture with third parties.

In August 2007, the Board of Directors decided to terminate the employment of the key operative officers of 
Onefour (the President and the Vice President Exploration and Land), and to replace them with the current 
Acting President.

The Acting President led a small team of existing management and staff of Onefour in the key areas of land, 
accounting, and engineering/production.  The Corporation continued its day-to-day operations with a mandate 
of managing production, freezing capital expenditures and a minimizing general and administrative expenses.

Between September 2007 and May 2008, the Corporation was able to obtain three legitimate expressions of 
interest from third parties which expressed and/or identified by letters of intent their interest in Onefour and its 
major assets, the Senex and Panny properties.  None of these expressions of interest was considered to present 
a benefit to Shareholders that was representative of the true value of Onefour.

The Corporation then decided that it was in the best interests of all Shareholders to solicit offers to purchase
Onefour, either as a sale of shares or of assets. These efforts resulted in an offer from Galleon to acquire the 
Senex and Panny properties.

On September 11, 2008, Onefour and Galleon executed and delivered the Purchase Agreement setting out the 
terms and conditions relating to the sale of the Assets to Galleon.  The Purchase Agreement provides for the 
sale by Onefour and the purchase by Galleon of the Assets in exchange for the Share Consideration and the 
Cash Consideration.

The terms of the Purchase Agreement are line with many of the offers previously received, but such terms go 
further in addressing a number of concerns that the Board of Directors had with prior offers from other parties:

1. it requires no further capital input by Onefour;

2. the proposed transaction allows WRH to attempt to recover some value from Onefour's net 
operating loss pools and provides cash and Galleon Shares to be distributed immediately to 
Shareholders; and

3. the ability to participate in Galleon, an established oil and gas company.

Shareholders wishing to review more information in relation to the Purchase Agreement should refer to 
"Matters to be Acted Upon at the Meeting - Summary of the Purchase Agreement and the Consolidation" in 
the Information Circular and the copy of the Purchase Agreement attached to the Information Circular as 
Appendix A.

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Corporate Strategy

Onefour's strategic focus, from inception, has been to leverage senior management's record of accomplishment 
by applying local geologic knowledge and 3D seismic control to develop drillable prospects in southern 
Alberta.  The ability to access exploration lands held by the Crown and through farmin of lands held by third 
parties was critical to the Corporation's success.
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The Board of Directors may, in its discretion, approve asset or corporate acquisitions or investments outside of 
the parameters described above based upon a consideration of the qualitative aspects of available opportunities 
including risk profile, technical upside, reserve life and asset quality.

Recent Developments

Southeastern Alberta

Onefour's original exploration focused on southeastern Alberta, an area known for its shallow gas potential and 
demonstrated (but relatively unexplored) deeper rights potential.  Historically, the area was relatively inactive 
with the exception of shallow gas drilling, had a great deal of open Crown rights available, and was generally 
operative and accessible year round.  Onefour's initial exploration program, which involved 170 square 
kilometres of proprietary 3D seismic data and six prospects that were drilled in southeastern Alberta between 
July 2005 and February 2006, yielded disappointing results, with four dry and abandoned wells and two cased 
potential wells.

In June 2006 management shifted its exploration focus and the majority of its capital and resources to the 
Senex project and took steps to sell its southeastern Alberta assets.  The southeastern Alberta properties were 
marketed through a broker in September 2006 and again in June 2007, with no acceptable offers received.

Dixonville and Puskwa

In 2006, subsequent to Onefour experiencing unsuccessful results in southeastern Alberta, and in an effort to 
diversify its portfolio, Onefour secured farmins in two additional areas, Dixonville and Puskwa on the Peace 
River Arch.  Two wells were drilled at Dixonville, resulting in one dry hole and one marginal Bluesky gas 
well.  Gas well operations were suspended in November 2007 as Onefour was unable to successfully re-start 
production for economic reasons.  One well was drilled at Puskwa resulting in a dry hole.

Senex

In June 2005, Onefour secured an opportunity to purchase a property in North Central Alberta in the Senex 
area on an exclusive basis.  Onefour subsequently acquired an 80% operated working interest in light oil 
production, 16 sections of prospective acreage, and a recently shot proprietary 3D seismic program for a 
purchase price of $7 million.

In December 2005, Onefour drilled an initial discovery well at Senex with very encouraging results in the Keg 
River formation.  Although this initial exploration well at Senex had a high initial production rate, it soon 
became apparent that the reservoir was underpressured, and production declined rapidly.  Despite this, 
management began planning a production battery and an aggressive exploration and development program.  
Over the next 12 months, Onefour shot extensive 3D seismic over its land holdings, acquired additional 
contiguous lands, drilled nine wells and built a multi-oil treatment facility to accommodate projected 
production volumes.  Production rates were lower than originally projected and the projects were deemed 
uneconomic due to extremely high operating costs, leading to management's decision to secure a purchaser for 
the property.

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Galleon is offering $6 million in cash (subject to adjustment in 
accordance with terms of the Purchase Agreement) and 215,000 Galleon Shares for Onefour's lands and 
infrastructure at the Senex field in northern Alberta, as well as undeveloped Crown acreage at Senex, Panny, 
Goodfish and Puskwa.
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Competitive Conditions

The oil and natural gas industry is intensely competitive and Onefour will be required to compete with a 
substantial number of other corporations which may have greater technical or financial resources.

Trends

There are a number of trends that have been developing in the oil and gas industry during the past several years 
that appear to be shaping the near future of the business.

Natural gas prices have been extremely volatile over the past 12 months.  With the supply and demand balance 
for natural gas being extremely tight, the market is experiencing a great deal of volatility in pricing due to a 
number of factors, including weather, drilling activity, declines, storage levels, fuel switching and demand.

Oil prices are dependent on the world economy and the global supply-demand balance.  Geo-political unrest 
can have a material impact on the volatility of crude oil prices and can increase prices well above those 
supported by current supply-demand balances.

The impact on the oil and gas industry from commodity price volatility is significant.  During periods of high 
prices, producers generate sufficient cash flows to conduct active exploration programs without external 
capital.  Increased commodity prices frequently translate into very busy periods for service suppliers triggering 
premium costs for their services.  Purchasing land and properties similarly increase in price during these 
periods.  During low commodity price periods, acquisition costs drop, as do internally generated funds to 
spend on exploration and development activities.  With decreased demand, the prices charged by the various 
service suppliers also decline.

A second trend within the Canadian oil and gas industry is the recent growth in the number of private and 
small junior oil and gas companies starting up business.  These companies often have experienced 
management teams and many are able to raise capital and recruit well qualified personnel.

A third trend currently affecting the oil and gas industry is the impact on capital markets caused by investor 
uncertainty in the North American economy.  The capital market volatility in Canada has also been affected by 
uncertainties surrounding the economic impact that the Kyoto Protocol will have on the sector.  Onefour must 
compete with the numerous new companies, their new management teams and development plans in its access 
to capital.  The competitive nature of the oil and gas industry will make it difficult to raise funds through 
equity financings.

The fourth trend is the relatively tight labour market in western Canada.  Onefour may have difficulty in 
attracting and retaining employees and securing services from suppliers as a result of the labour market.

Finally, in October 2007, the Alberta Government announced the New Royalty Framework (the "NRF") to 
address the perceived imbalance of revenue sharing between the oil and gas industry and the stakeholders (the 
people of Alberta).  Reaction from industry was immediate.  The new program, from an industry perspective, 
would have a severe impact on continued investment in the conventional oil and gas business in Alberta.  The 
"unintended consequences" of the NRF would result in significant cutbacks in exploration spending and 
curtailment of development activities in projects made marginal due to increased royalties.

The Alberta Government responded in April 2008 by announcing a new deep resource program to encourage 
the continued development of deep, high cost oil and gas reserves.  Management believes that this new 
program falls far short of curing the unintended consequences of the NRF.  Investment in the conventional oil 
and gas business has shifted to British Columbia, Saskatchewan and international where more positive fiscal 
regimes are in place.  Many companies that have been traditionally Alberta focused now balance their 
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programs geographically in order to provide the highest risk adjusted return on investment for their 
shareholders.

STATEMENT OF RESERVES DATA AND OTHER OIL AND GAS INFORMATION

Disclosure of Reserves Data

GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd. ("GLJ") has prepared a report dated April 17, 2008 evaluating the reserves 
attributable to Onefour as at December 31, 2007 (the "Onefour Engineering Report").  The Onefour 
Engineering Report was prepared in accordance with NI 51-101, using standards consistent with the Canadian 
Oil and Gas Engineering Handbook.

The following tables, based on the Onefour Engineering Report, summarize the oil and natural gas reserves 
attributable to Onefour and the present value of future net revenue for such reserves using forecast and 
constant price assumptions and costs.

Except as noted, all evaluations of future net production revenue set forth in the tables below are based on 
GLJ's pricing assumptions as at December 31, 2007 and are stated for Onefour's working interest share of the 
reserves (referred to as "Company Gross" in NI 51-101) after direct lifting costs, normal allocated overhead 
and future capital investments.  Onefour's net interest share is after deduction for royalty burdens payable.  It 
should not be assumed that the discounted future net production revenue estimated by the Onefour Engineering 
Report represents the fair market value of the reserves.  There is no assurance that the future price and cost 
assumptions used in the Onefour Engineering Report will prove accurate and variances could be material.  The 
recovery and reserve estimates of oil and natural gas provided herein are estimates only and there is no 
guarantee that the estimated reserves will be recovered.  Actual oil and natural gas reserves may be greater 
than or less than the estimates provided herein.

The Report on Reserves Data by GLJ in Form 51-101F2 and the Report of Management and Directors on 
Reserve Data and Other Information in Form 51-101F3 are included in Schedule B to this Appendix.

Note To Reader:  Boes and Mcfes may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation.  A boe conversion ratio 
of 6 Mcf:1 bbl and an Mcfe conversion ratio of 1 bbl:6 Mcf is based on an energy equivalency conversion 
method primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead.

All of the Onefour reserves are in Canada and, specifically, in the Province of Alberta.  Onefour does not have 
any heavy oil or unconventional reserves.

Summary of Oil and Gas Reserves
(Forecast Prices and Costs)

Light and Medium Oil
Mbbl

Natural Gas
MMcf

Total
Mboe

Description(2) Gross(3) Net(3) Gross(3) Net(3) Gross(3) Net(3)

Proved Developed  Producing 141 118 51 51 149 127
Proved Developed Non-Producing 3 1 0 0 3 1
Proved Undeveloped 44 36 3 2 44 36
Total Proved 187 155 55 53 196 163
Probable 202 168 250 214 243 204
Total Proved Plus Probable 389 323 305 267 440 367
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Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue
(Forecast Prices and Costs)

Before Income Tax (M$) After Income Tax (M$)
Discounted at Discounted at

Description(2) 0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 0% 5% 10% 15% 20%

Proved Developed Producing 4,628 4,410 4,216 4,040 3,882 4,628 4,410 4,216 4,040 3,882
Proved Developed Non-
Producing(4)

73 83 90 96 100 73 83 90 96 100

Proved Undeveloped 785 690 610 541 483 785 690 610 541 483
Total Proved 5,486 5,183 4,915 4,678 4,465 5,486 5,183 4,915 4,678 4,465
Probable(4) 5,889 5,071 4,408 3,864 3,415 5,889 5,071 4,408 3,864 3,415
Total Proved Plus Probable 11,375 10,254 9,323 8,542 7,880 11,375 10,254 9,323 8,542 7,880

Undiscounted Total Future Net Revenue
(Forecast Prices and Costs)

(M$) Revenue Royalties
Operating

Costs

Develop-
ment
Costs

Well 
Abandon-

ment
Costs

Future Net 
Revenue 
Before 
Income 
Taxes

Income 
Taxes

Future Net 
Revenue 

After 
Income 
Taxes

Total Proved 16,059 2,829 5,729 1,844 171 5,486 0 5,486
Total Proved Plus Probable 34,042 5,783 11,973 4,622 288 11,375 0 11,375

Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue by Production Group
(Forecast Prices and Costs)

Reserves Category Production Group

Future Net 
Revenue 
Before 

Income Taxes
(Discounted 
at 10%/Year)

(M$)

Unit Value 
Before Income 

Taxes 
(Discounted at 

10%/year)
($/boe)

Unit Value
Before Income

Taxes
(Discounted at

10%/year)
($Mcfe)

Proved Reserves
Light and Medium Crude Oil (including solution gas and 
other by-products) 4,879 30.11 5.02
Natural Gas (including by-products but excluding solution 
gas from oil wells) 36 27.09 4.52

Total Proved Reserves 4,915 30.08 5.01

Proved Plus Probable 
Reserves

Light and Medium Crude Oil (including solution gas and 
other by-products) 9,012 26.15 4.36
Natural Gas (including by-products but excluding solution 
gas from oil wells) 311 13.81 2.30

Total Proved Plus 
Probable Reserves 9,323 25.39 4.23
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Summary of Oil and Gas Reserves
(Constant Prices and Costs)

Light and Medium Oil
Mbbl

Natural Gas
MMcf

Total
Mboe

Description(2) Gross(3) Net(3) Gross(3) Net(3) Gross(3) Net(3)

Proved Producing 147 125 52 51 156 133
Proved Non-Producing -3 -5 0 0 -3 -5
Proved Undeveloped 49 41 4 2 50 41
Total Proved 193 161 55 54 203 169
Probable 212 178 251 215 253 213
Total Proved Plus Probable 405 338 306 268 456 383

Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue
(Constant Prices and Costs)

Before Income Tax (M$) After Income Tax (M$)
Discounted at Discounted at

Description(2) 0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 0% 5% 10% 15% 20%

Proved Producing 5,339 5,070 4,826 4,607 4,408 5,339 5,070 4,826 4,607 4,408
Proved Non-Producing(4) 284 242 212 190 174 284 242 212 190 174
Proved Undeveloped 1,113 982 869 773 691 1,113 982 869 773 691
Total Proved 6,736 6,293 5,908 5,570 5,273 6,736 6,293 5,908 5,570 5,273
Probable(4) 8,462 7,059 5,980 5,134` 4,460 8,462 7,059 5,980 5,134 4,460
Total Proved Plus Probable 15,198 13,352 11,887 10,704 9,733 15,198 13,352 11,887 10,704 9,733

Undiscounted Total Future Net Revenue
(Constant Prices and Costs)

(000s) Revenue Royalties
Operating

Costs

Develop-
ment
Costs

Well 
Abandon-

ment
Costs

Future
Net 

Revenue
Before
Income 
Taxes

Income
Taxes

Future
Net 

Revenue
After

Income 
Taxes

Total Proved 17,884 3,031 5,992 1,965 160 6,736 0 6,736
Total Proved Plus Probable 38,624 6,297 12,437 4,437 255 15,198 0 15,198
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Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue by Production Group
(Constant Prices and Costs)

Reserves Category Production Group

Future Net 
Revenue Before 
Income Taxes 
(Discounted at 

10%/Year) (M$)

Unit Value 
Before Income 

Tax 
(Discounted at 

10%/year
($/boe)

Unit Value
Before Income

Tax
(Discounted at

10%/year
($Mcfe)

Proved Reserves
Light and Medium Crude Oil (including solution gas 
and other by-products) 5,875 34.94 5.82
Natural Gas (including by-products but excluding 
solution gas from oil wells) 33 24.82 4.14

Total Proved Reserves 5,908 34.86 5.81

Proved Plus Probable 
Reserves

Light and Medium Crude Oil (including solution gas 
and other by-products) 11,638 32.29 5.38
Natural Gas (including by-products but excluding 
solution gas from oil wells) 250 11.07 1.85

Total Proved Plus 
Probable Reserves 11,887 31.04 5.17

Notes on the reserves information:

(1) Reserve numbers may not add due to rounding.
(2) Proved reserves are those reserves that can be estimated with a high degree of certainty to be recoverable.  It is likely 

that the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the estimated proved reserves.

Proved Developed producing reserves are those proved reserves that are estimated to be recovered from completion 
intervals open at the time of the estimate.  These reserves may be currently producing or, if shut in, they must have 
previously been on production, and the date of resumption of production must be known with reasonable certainty.

Proved Developed non-producing reserves are those proved reserves that either have not been on production, or have 
previously been on production, but are shut in, and the date of resumption of production is unknown.

Undeveloped reserves are those reserves expected to be recovered from known accumulations where a significant 
expenditure (for example, when compared to the cost of drilling a well) is required to render them capable of 
production.  They must fully meet the requirements of the reserves classification (proved, probable, possible) to which 
they are assigned.

Probable reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves.  It is equally 
likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater or less than the sum of the estimated proved plus 
probable reserves.

(3) "Gross" reserves are defined as the total remaining recoverable reserves owned, directly and indirectly, by Onefour 
before deduction of any royalties and without including any royalty interests of Onefour.

"Net" reserves are defined as those accruing, directly and indirectly, to Onefour after Crown and freehold royalties have 
been deducted, plus Onefour's royalty interests in reserves.

(4) Proved Developed Non-Producing value is determined as the Total Proved value less the Proved Developed Producing 
value.  Total Probable value is determined as the Total Proved plus Probable value less the Total Proved value.
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GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd. Forecast Pricing Assumptions
Effective January 1, 2008

WTI 
Crude

Light, Sweet 
Crude Oil Heavy Oil Alberta Natural Gas Liquids

Year
Exchange 

Rate AECO-C Spot
Oil At 

Oklahoma
(40° API, 

0.3%S) at Edm.
(12° API) at 

Hardisty
Spec 

Ethane
Edmonton 
Propane

Edmonton 
Butane

Edmonton 
Pentanes

$US/$Cdn $Cdn/Mmbtu $US/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl

2008 1.000 6.75 92.00 91.10 54.02 22.73 58.30 72.88 92.92
2009 1.000 7.55 88.00 87.10 51.61 25.49 55.74 69.68 88.84
2010 1.000 7.60 84.00 83.10 49.19 25.66 53.18 66.48 84.76
2011 1.000 7.60 82.00 81.10 47.98 25.66 51.90 64.88 82.72
2012 1.000 7.60 82.00 81.10 47.98 25.66 51.90 64.88 82.72
2013 1.000 7.60 82.00 81.10 49.04 25.66 51.90 64.88 82.72
2014 1.000 7.80 82.00 81.10 50.09 26.35 51.90 64.88 82.72
2015 1.000 7.97 82.00 81.10 51.15 26.94 51.90 64.88 82.72
2016 1.000 8.14 82.02 81.12 52.21 27.52 51.91 64.89 82.74
2017 1.000 8.31 83.66 82.76 53.29 28.11 52.97 66.21 84.42
2018 1.00 8.48 +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr Escalate at 2.0%/yr

Escalation Rate of 2% thereafter.

GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd. December 31, 2007 Constant Prices

WTI 
Crude

Light, Sweet 
Crude Oil Heavy Oil Alberta Natural Gas Liquids

Year
Exchange 

Rate AECO-C Spot
Oil At 

Oklahoma
(40° API, 

0.3%S) at Edm.
(120 API) at 

Hardisty
Spec 

Ethane
Edmonton 
Propane

Edmonton 
Butane

Edmonton 
Pentanes

$US/$Cdn $Cdn/Mmbtu $US/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl

2007 1.012 6.63 95.95 93.39 53.74 22.32 59.77 74.71 94.24

[remainder of page left intentionally blank]
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Reconciliation of Company Gross(1) Reserves
by Principal Product Type
As of December 31, 2007
Forecast Prices and Costs

Light and Medium Oil
Associated and 

Non-Associated Gas Natural Gas Solution

Factors

Gross 
Proved 
(Mbbl)

Gross 
Probable 
(Mbbl)

Gross 
Proved 

Plus 
Probable 
(Mbbl)

Gross 
Proved 
(MMcf)

Gross 
Probable 
(MMcf)

Gross 
Proved 

Plus 
Probable 
(MMcf)

Gross 
Proved 
(MMcf)

Gross 
Probable 
(MMcf)

Gross 
Proved 
Plus 

Probable 
(MMcf)

December 31, 
2006 370 583 953 0 0 0 250 292 542
Extensions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Improved 
Recovery 40 -40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Technical 
Revisions -168 -342 -509 0 0 0 -117 -42 -158
Discoveries 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Acquisitions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Dispositions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Economic 
Factors 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Production -55 0 -55 0 0 0 -79 -79 -79
December 31, 
2007 187 202 389 0 0 0 55 250 305

Additional Information Relating to Reserves Data

Undeveloped Reserves

The following generally describes the basis on which Onefour attributes Proved and Probable undeveloped 
reserves and its plans for developing those undeveloped reserves.

Proved undeveloped reserves are generally those reserves related to wells that have been tested and not yet 
tied-in, wells drilled near the end of the fiscal year or wells further away from Onefour's gathering systems.  In 
addition, such reserves may relate to planned infill drilling locations.  The majority of these reserves are 
planned to be on stream within a two-year time frame.

Probable undeveloped reserves are generally those reserves tested or indicated by analogy to be productive, 
infill drilling locations and lands contiguous to production.  The majority of these reserves are planned to be on 
stream within a two-year time frame.

Proved undeveloped reserves

The following table sets forth the volumes of proved undeveloped reserves first attributed in each of Onefour's 
most recently completed three financial years and, in the aggregate, before that time.
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Year
Light and Medium Oil 

(Mbbl)
Heavy Oil

(Mbbl)
Natural Gas

(MMcf)
BOE

December 31, 2007 44 0 3 44
December 31, 2006 0 0 0 0
December 31, 2005 0 0 0 0
Prior to December 31, 
2005 0 0 0 0

Total gross proved undeveloped reserves at December 31, 2007 are 44 Mboe, attributed to one location.

Probable undeveloped reserves

The following table sets forth the volumes of probable undeveloped reserves first attributed in each of 
Onefour's most recently completed three financial years and, in the aggregate, before that time.

Year
Light and Medium Oil 

(Mbbl)
Heavy Oil

(Mbbl)
Natural Gas

(MMcf)
BOE

December 31, 2007 3 0 5 3
December 31, 2006 125 0 84 139
December 31, 2005 0 0 0 0
Prior to December 31 
2005 0 0 0 0

Total gross probable undeveloped reserves at December 31, 2007 are 143 Mboe, attributed to four locations.

Significant Factors or Uncertainties

The process of estimating reserves is complex.  It requires significant judgments and decisions based on 
available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data.  These estimates may change substantially 
as additional data from ongoing development activities and production performance becomes available and as 
economic conditions impacting oil and gas prices and costs change.  The reserve estimates contained herein are 
based on current production forecasts, prices and economic conditions.

As circumstances change and additional data become available, reserve estimates also change.  Estimates made 
are reviewed and revised, either upward or downward, as warranted by the new information.  Revisions are 
often required due to changes in well performance, prices, economic conditions and governmental restrictions.

Although every reasonable effort is made to ensure that reserve estimates are accurate, reserve estimation is an 
inferential science.  As a result, the subjective decisions, new geological or production information and a 
changing environment may impact these estimates.  Revisions to reserve estimates can arise from changes in 
year-end oil and gas prices and reservoir performance.  Such revisions can be either positive or negative.

The information contained in the Onefour Engineering Report reflects estimates as of December 31, 2007.  
Onefour is now expecting significant downward revisions to reserve estimates in the upcoming 2008 year end 
reserve report. Just after the 2007 reserve report was prepared the 15-30 well, which represented 18% of 
Onefour's proved plus probable reserves for 2007, experienced a large production drop. Similarly both the
12-11 well and the 4-06 wells, which represented 6% and 9% respectively of Onefour's 2007 proved plus 
probable reserves, both experienced smaller but still significant production declines. Onefour will also lose the 
8 Mboe proved plus probable from the 8-01 well, which represents 2% of the total proved plus probable 
reserves, since it cannot produce profitably.

Another expected downward revision will be in Dixonville. Dixonville, at 24 Mbbl proved plus probable, 
represented 5.5% of the total reserves of Onefour and since this well is unlikely to produce for the remainder 
of 2008 this entire reserve amount is at risk.

For the year 2008, the Onefour Engineering Report contemplated an average production rate of 190 boe/d with 
respect to Onefour's interest.  Onefour has averaged approximately 167 boe/d for 2008 (12% lower than 
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expected) which has recently leveled off at approximately 105 boe/d (45% lower than expected).  This 
suggests that if Onefour were to value its reserves at December 31, 2008, it would expect a significant 
downward revision in the value of its reserves.

Future Development Costs

The table below sets out the development costs deducted in the estimation of future net revenue attributable to 
proved reserves and proved plus probable reserves.

Forecast Prices and Costs (M$) Constant Prices and Costs (M$)
Proved Reserves Proved Plus Probable Reserves Proved Reserves

Year 0% 10% 0% 10% 0% 10%
2008 160 160 160
2009 979 2,521 960
2010 416 999 400
2011 0 0 0
Additional years 289 943 445
Total 1,844 1,517 4,622 3,622 1,965 1,570

Onefour's working capital position and internally generated cash flow will not be sufficient to fund the 
future development costs disclosed above or its long term general and administrative costs.

OTHER OIL AND GAS INFORMATION

Oil and Gas Properties

The following is a description of assets in which Onefour has an interest and that are material to Onefour's 
operations and exploration activities.  The production numbers stated refer to Onefour's working interest share 
before deduction of Crown and freehold royalties.  The estimate of reserves and future net revenue for 
individual properties may not reflect the same confidence level as estimates of reserves and future net 
revenue for all properties due to the effect of aggregation.

Producing Properties

Senex

Senex is Onefour's only material producing property.  Onefour controls 55,680 gross (50,015 net) acres of land 
(at a 89.8% net working interest), approximately 109 square kilometres of proprietary and trade 3-D seismic 
data and approximately 16 kilometres of proprietary and trade 2D seismic data.

Oil and Gas Wells

The following table sets forth, as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 the number and status of wells in which 
Onefour has an interest and which are producing or which Onefour considers to be capable of production:

Producing Wells Non-Producing Wells(1)

Oil Wells Natural Gas Oil Wells Natural Gas
Area Year Gross(2) Net(3) Gross(2) Net(3) Gross(2) Net(3) Gross(2) Net(3)

Senex 2007 6.00 4.80 3.00 1.80 7.00 5.60 5.00 2.30
2006 7.00 5.60 2.00 1.60 7.00 5.60 2.00 1.60

Notes:

(1) "Non-Producing" wells means wells which have encountered and are capable of producing crude oil or natural gas but 
which are not producing due to lack of available transportation facilities, available markets or other reasons.  Shut-in 
wells in which Onefour has an interest are located no further than two kilometres from existing pipelines.
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(2) "Gross" wells are the total number of wells in which Onefour has an interest.
(3) "Net" wells are the aggregate of the numbers obtained by multiplying each gross well by Onefour's percentage working 

interest therein.

Properties with No Attributed Reserves

The following table sets out Onefour's developed and undeveloped landholdings as at December 31, 2007.

Developed Undeveloped
Area Gross(1) Net(2) Gross(1) Net(2)

Alberta, Canada 11,745 7,702 82,880 75,040
Saskatchewan, Canada 650 650 2,113 2,113
Montana, USA 0 0 95,259 14,508

Notes:

(1) "Gross" refers to the total acres in which Onefour has an interest, directly or indirectly.
(2) "Net" refers to the total acres in which Onefour has an interest, directly or indirectly, multiplied by the percentage 

working interest owned by Onefour therein.

Onefour has 2,577.2 gross (2,129.2 net) undeveloped acres of land which could expire on or before August 31, 
2009.

Costs Incurred

The following table summarizes capital expenditures of Onefour for the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 
the year ended December 31, 2007:

Expenditure
Six months ended

June 30, 2008
Year ended

December 31, 2007
(M$)

Property acquisition costs

Proved properties - -

Undeveloped properties 31 813

Property disposition proceeds – undeveloped properties (256) (41)

Exploration costs 7 160

Development costs 8 6,237

Total (210) 7,169

Exploration and Development Activities

The following table summarizes the results of exploration and development activities of Onefour during the 
periods indicated:
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Year Ended
December 31, 2007

Gross Net
Exploratory Wells

Gas 5.00 2.3
Oil 5.00 4.0
Standing(1) 9.00 7.2
Dry 9.00 6.3

Total Wells 28.00 19.8

Note:

(1) Standing means a well drilled and cased pending further evaluation.

For details on the important current and likely exploration and development activities during 2008, see "Other 
Oil and Gas Information – Oil and Gas Properties" in this Appendix E.

Additional Information Concerning Abandonment and Reclamation Costs

Onefour has prepared an estimate of abandonment and site reclamation costs for all wells, pipelines, facilities 
and surface leases.  Onefour expects to incur such costs for 5.3 net wells.  The Onefour Engineering Report 
includes well abandonment costs (net of estimated salvage values) of $288,000 undiscounted ($156,000 
discounted at 10%) for the total proved plus probable reserves category.  Such costs are included in the 
Onefour Engineering Report as deductions in arriving at future net revenue.  This estimate does not include 
expected abandonment and reclamation costs (net of estimated salvage values) for reclamation of surface 
leases, abandonment costs of shut-in wells, facilities and pipelines.  Onefour's total undiscounted abandonment 
cost is estimated by management to be $554,000.

Forward Contracts

Although Onefour has no set policy, management of Onefour may use financial instruments to reduce 
corporate risk in certain situations.  Risk management policies will be developed over time as Onefour builds a 
production base to support sustainable growth.  Currently, Onefour has no hedging commitments due to the 
nature of its current asset portfolio.

Tax Horizon

Presently Onefour does not expect to pay current income tax for the predictable future.  This estimate is based 
on existing tax pools, planned capital activities and current forecasts of taxable income, however, several 
factors can affect this prediction including commodity prices, future production, corporate expenses and both 
the type and amount of capital expenditures incurred in future reporting periods.

Production Estimates

The following table discloses, by product type, the total volume of production estimated for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 in the estimates of future net revenue from proved and probable reserves disclosed under "
Statement of Reserves Data and Other Oil and Gas Information - Disclosure of Reserves Data" in this 
Appendix E.
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Light and
Medium Oil

(bbls/d)
Natural Gas

(Mcf/d)
Boe

(boe/d)
Proved 123 95 139
Proved Producing 123 95 139
Proved Non-Producing 0 00 0
Proved Undeveloped 0 0 0
Total Proved 123 95 139
Probable 0 0 0
Estimated Total Production 123 95 139

Production History

The following table discloses Onefour's production history, on an annual basis for the years ended December 
31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, and on a half yearly basis for the six months ended June 30, 2008 and June 30, 2007:

Six Months Ended
June 30

Years Ended
December 31

2008 2007 2007 2006 2005

Light and medium oil (bbls/d) 150.9 184.5 158.1 131.2 14.7
Natural gas (Mcf/d) 97.1 235.3 173.8 42.2 16.8
Oil equivalent (boe/d) 167.0 223.7 187.1 138.3 17.5

The following summarizes the historical production from Onefour's Properties, during each quarter of 2007.

Q4 2007 Q3 2007 Q2 2007 Q1 2007

Light and medium oil 
(bbls/d)

149 115 152 217

Natural Gas (Mcf/d) 81 144 264 205
Oil equivalent (boe/d) 162 139 196 251

The following table discloses, on an annual basis for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the prices 
received and royalties paid in respect of Onefour's properties on a per unit of volume basis for each product 
type.

2007 2006
Production
Natural gas (Mcf/d) 173.8 1.84
Light and medium oil (bbls/d) 158.14 131.22
Total (boe/d) 187.1 131.53

Revenue (M$)
Natural Gas $539 $10
Oil $4,144 $3,101
Total $4,683 $3,111

Average sales price
Natural gas ($/Mcf) 8.50 14.89
Oil ($/bbl) 71.79 64.75
Total per boe ($/boe) 65.57 64.80

Benchmark pricing
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Aeco-C daily spot ($/mmbtu) 6.65 7.16
Light Oil Edmonton par Price ($/bbl) 77.06 73.21

Operating Netback

2007 2006
M$ $/boe M$ $/boe

Revenue 4,684 70.93 3,138 62.45
Royalties 699 10.59 263 5.23
Operating Expense 1,688 25.26 637 44.54
Operating Netback 2,317 35.08 2,238 12.68

Note: The majority of Onefour's producing wells are oil with associated solution gas; the netbacks are combined for the oil 
and solution gas

The following table indicates the average daily production from important fields comprising Onefour's 
properties for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Area
Crude Oil

bbl/d
Natural Gas

Mcf/d
Total
boe/d

Senex 158 98 174
Dixonville 0 78 13
Total 158 176 187

The following table indicates the average daily production from the important fields comprising the Onefour 
properties for the six months ended June 30, 2008.

Area
Crude Oil

bbl/d
Natural Gas

Mcf/d
Total
boe/d

Senex 151 97 167
Dixonville 0 0 0
Total 151 97 167

The following tables provide estimates of Onefour's oil and gas reserves and net present value of future net 
revenue at an effective date of December 31, 2007 using June 1, 2008 pricing.

Summary of Oil and Gas Reserves
(Forecast Prices and Costs)

Light and Medium Oil
Mbbl

Natural Gas
MMcf

Total
Mboe

Description(2) Gross(3) Net(3) Gross(3) Net(3) Gross(3) Net(3)

Proved Producing 147 125 52 51 156 133
Proved Non-Producing -3 -5 0 0 -3 -5
Proved Undeveloped 49 41 4 2 50 41
Total Proved 193 161 55 54 203 169
Probable 212 178 259 222 255 215
Total Proved Plus Probable 405 338 314 275 457 384
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GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd. Forecast Pricing Assumptions 
Effective June 1, 2008

WTI 
Crude

Light, Sweet 
Crude Oil Heavy Oil Alberta Natural Gas Liquids

Year
Exchange 

Rate
AECO-C 

Spot
Oil At 

Oklahoma

(40° API, 
0.3%S) at 

Edm.
(12° API) 
at Hardisty

Spec 
Ethane

Edmonton 
Propane

Edmonton 
Butane

Edmonton 
Pentanes

$US/$Cdn $Cdn/Mmbtu $US/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl $Cdn/bbl

2008 0.998 9.48 116.35 116.28 75.38 35.46 66.93 86.56 117.78
2009 1.000 9.65 120.00 119.10 70.94 32.71 75.03 95.28 121.48
2010 1.000 9.25 110.00 109.10 64.90 31.33 68.73 87.28 111.28
2011 1.000 9.25 100.00 99.10 58.66 31.33 62.43 79.28 101.08
2012 1.000 9.25 100.00 99.10 58.86 31.33 62.43 79.28 101.08
2013 1.000 9.25 100.00 99.10 60.15 31.33 62.43 79.28 101.08
2014 1.000 9.39 101.35 100.45 62.28 31.81 63.28 80.36 102.46
2015 1.000 9.59 103.38 102.45 64.90 32.50 64.56 81.98 104.53
2016 1.000 9.79 105.45 104.55 67.59 33.19 65.87 83.64 106.64
2017 1.000 10.01 107.56 106.66 68.97 33.95 67.20 85.33 108.79
2018 1.000 8.48 +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr Escalate at 2.0%/yr

Escalation Rate of 2% thereafter.

Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue
(Forecast Prices and Costs)

Before Income Tax (M$)
Discounted at

Description(2) 0% 5% 10% 15% 20%

Proved Producing 7,866 7,479 7,131 6815 6,530
Proved Non-Producing(4) 464 406 364 333 309
Proved Undeveloped 1,516 1,359 1,223 1,105 1,001
Total Proved 9,846 9,245 8,718 8,253 7,840
Probable(4) 10,400 8,795 7,545 6,556 5,758
Total Proved Plus 
Probable 20,246 18,042 16,264 14,808 13,598

Notes on the reserves information:

(1) Reserve numbers may not add due to rounding.

(2) Proved reserves are those reserves that can be estimated with a high degree of certainty to be recoverable.  It is likely 
that the actual remaining quantities recovered will exceed the estimated proved reserves.

Proved Developed producing reserves are those proved reserves that are estimated to be recovered from completion 
intervals open at the time of the estimate.  These reserves may be currently producing or, if shut in, they must have 
previously been on production, and the date of resumption of production must be known with reasonable certainty.

Proved Developed non-producing reserves are those proved reserves that either have not been on production, or have 
previously been on production, but are shut in, and the date of resumption of production is unknown.

Undeveloped reserves are those reserves expected to be recovered from known accumulations where a significant 
expenditure (for example, when compared to the cost of drilling a well) is required to render them capable of 
production.  They must fully meet the requirements of the reserves classification (proved, probable, possible) to which 
they are assigned.

Probable reserves are those additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves.  It is equally 
likely that the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater or less than the sum of the estimated proved plus 
probable reserves.

(3) "Gross" reserves are defined as the total remaining recoverable reserves owned, directly and indirectly, by Onefour 
before deduction of any royalties and without including any royalty interests of Onefour.
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"Net" reserves are defined as those accruing, directly and indirectly, to Onefour after Crown and freehold royalties have 
been deducted, plus Onefour's royalty interests in reserves.

(4) Proved Developed Non-Producing value is determined as the Total Proved value less the Proved Developed Producing 
value.  Total Probable value is determined as the Total Proved plus Probable value less the Total Proved value.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
OF FINANCIAL AND OPERATING RESULTS

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of the financial and operating results for Onefour should be read 
in conjunction with the Onefour audited financial statements and related notes for the year ended 
December 31, 2007, and the unaudited interim financial statements of Onefour as at and for the period ended 
June 30, 2008, attached to this Appendix as Schedule A.

Basis of Presentation

The financial data presented below has been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP.  The reporting and 
the measurement currency is the Canadian dollar.  For the purpose of calculating unit costs, natural gas is 
converted to a barrel of oil equivalent ("boe") using six thousand cubic feet of natural gas equal to one barrel 
of oil unless otherwise stated.  Such ratio is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily 
applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead.  Accordingly, barrels of 
oil equivalent may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation.

Non-GAAP Measurements

Onefour evaluates performance based on net income, operating netback and funds from operations.  Operating 
netback is a benchmark used in the oil and gas industry to measure the contribution of oil and natural gas sales 
following the deduction of royalties, production expenses and transportation costs.  Measurement of Onefour 
funds from operations is detailed on the Statement of Cash Flows and is calculated as cash flow prior to 
changes in non-cash working capital.  Onefour considers it a key measure as it demonstrates Onefour's ability 
to generate the funds necessary to finance future capital investments.  Funds from operations and operating 
netback do not have a standard meaning prescribed by GAAP and therefore may not be comparable to other 
companies.

Forward Looking Statements

This Management's Discussion and Analysis contains forward-looking statements.  Forward-looking 
statements are based on current expectations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause 
actual events or results to differ materially from those reflected in the Management's Discussion and Analysis.  
Forward-looking statements are based on the estimates and opinions of Onefour's management at the time the 
statements were made.  The reader is, however, cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking 
statements.  Onefour undertakes no obligation to update publicly or otherwise revise any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, or the factors affecting this 
information, except as required by law.

Management's Discussion and Analysis for the Year Ended December 31, 2007

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis is dated September 29, 2008.

Overall Performance

Throughout 2007, the Corporation has suffered from management's inability to successfully carry out 
Onefour's original business plan and from a lack of access to capital to expand Onefour's operations.  After a 
successful drilling program in 2005-2006 at Senex, the Corporation's production volume rates in early 2007 
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were very disappointing and underperformed industry averages and management's expectations.  Ultimately 
the Board of Directors determined to replace management in August of 2007.

In the absence of the liquidity needed to capitalize on the Corporation's remaining properties, the Board of 
Directors undertook a process whereby it consulted with and approached a number of prospective buyers and 
financial institutions for the purposes of arranging the sale of the assets of the Corporation in order to 
maximize value to the Shareholders.  Through a lengthy process, the Board of Directors determined that a 
transaction with Galleon provided the most potential value to Shareholders and, accordingly, the Corporation 
entered into the Purchase Agreement.  If the purchase and sale of the Assets pursuant to the Purchase 
Agreement does not close, the Corporation will continue to be confronted with the capital expenditures that are 
needed to maintain the Corporation's business, yet will not have the required funds.  Thus the Board of 
Directors believes that the sale of the Assets to Galleon pursuant to the Purchase Agreement is the best 
alternative available to maximize Shareholder value.

Selected Annual Information

Set out below is selected annual information for Onefour for the last three completed fiscal years.

2007 2006 2005
Operating
Average daily production (boe/d) 180.9 137.69 17.91
Price ($/boe) 70.93 62.45 58.22
Netback ($/boe) 28.82 34.07 9.10

Financial (M$) (except per Share data)
Petroleum and natural gas sales 4,684 3,138 380
Royalty expense (699)

109
(263)

194
(10)

0
Interest and other income

Funds from operations 0.02 0.03 0.03
Per share-basic and diluted

Net loss (0.33) (0.06) (0.11)
Per share: basic and diluted

(4,623) (8,495) 8,311
Working capital

7,210 33,906 13,487
Capital expenditures

34,100 49,433 29,996
Total assets

653 394 136
Long-term liabilities

63,352 42,444 14,219

Results of Operations

Onefour's production and funds flow from operations is generated from 5.0 gross (4.0 net) oil wells and 
4.0 gross (2.3 net) gas wells with associated liquids wells in the Senex and Pendor areas of Alberta.  First 
production commenced in 2005.  In 2006, 6.0 gross (3.3 net) additional wells came on production.
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Throughout 2007, several key factors affected the oil and gas industry and the economics of exploration and 
production activity.  The cost of oilfield services escalated significantly in Alberta; the increase in demand for 
these services resulted in reduced margins for most oil and gas exploration and production companies.  On 
October 31, 2006, the Federal Government dramatically altered the investment landscape in the oil and gas 
sector by announcing a number of negative tax initiatives pertaining to income trusts in the resource sector.  
These initiatives also impacted the valuations of junior oil and gas companies. Furthermore, on October 25, 
2007, the Alberta government announced its intent to increase crown royalties through the New Royalty 
Framework ("NRF") which is scheduled to take effect January 1, 2009.  All of Onefour's production and 
reserves are in Alberta and will be subject to the NRF.  At June 30, 2007, the province had not introduced 
enabling legislation nor had they provided clarity on a number of issues.

Financial Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2007

For the year ended December 31, 2007, Onefour incurred a net loss of $20,949,000 or $0.33 per share 
compared to a loss of $2,557,000 or $0.06 per share for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Cash generated from operations for 2007 were $1,389,000 or $0.02 per share, compared to $1,140,000 or 
$0.03 per share for the prior year ended December 31, 2006.  The increase in cash flow year over year is 
primarily due to increased production and commodity prices.

Revenues and Royalties

Petroleum and natural gas revenues net after royalties for the year ended December 31, 2007 increased by 38% 
to $3,985,000 from $2,875,000 in 2006. In 2007, production averaged 180.9 boe/d compared to 137.7 boe/d 
for 2006.  The increase is primarily a result of new wells brought on to production during 2007.

For the six months ended June 30, 2008 sales volumes averaged 165.6 boe/d, a 21% decrease from the 
211.0 boe/d reported for the six month period in 2007.  Onefour's production revenue decreased due to a 
multitude of production problems.

The following table summarizes the sales volumes and realized prices for the periods indicated below:

2007 2006
Production
Natural gas (Mcf/d) 173.8 1.84
Oil (bbls/d) 158.14 131.22
Total (boe/d) 187.1 131.53

Revenue (M$)
Natural Gas $539 $10
Oil $4,144 $3,101
Total $4,683 $3,111

Average sales price
Natural gas ($/Mcf) 8.5 14.89
Oil ($/bbl) 71.79 64.75
Total per boe ($/boe) 65.57 64.80

Benchmark pricing
Aeco-C daily spot ($/mmbtu) 6.65 7.16
Light Oil Edmonton par Price ($/bbl) 77.06 73.21

Onefour did not hedge or enter into any fixed price arrangements for the fourth quarter or year ended 
December 31, 2007 or during 2006.  Both the historical prices received and the future prices expected will 
fluctuate with the prevailing market prices of natural gas and oil.
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Operating Netback

The following table outlines Onefour's total and per unit operating results for the periods indicated below:

2007 2006
M $ $/boe M $ $/boe

Revenue 4,684 70.93 3,138 62.45
Royalties 699 10.59 263 5.23
Operating Expense 1,688 25.26 637 44.54
Operating Netback 2,317 35.08 2,238 12.68

Total royalties averaged $10.59 per boe or 15% of gross revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2007 compared to 8% or $5.23 per boe for the comparable period of 2006.  The effective royalty rate for 2007
increased due to the termination of the Alberta Royalty Tax Credit ("ARTC") program effective December 31, 
2006.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, operating expenses of $25.26/boe have decreased on a per 
unit basis from the same period for 2006 by approximately 43%.  The operating expenses for Onefour's oil and 
gas wells are driven primarily by third party processing, compression and gathering fees which fluctuate with 
facility throughput volumes and with electrical power costs.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative ("G&A") expenses net of overhead recoveries for 2007 were $1,836,000 versus 
$1,875,000 for 2006.  The year over year decrease is the result of lower insurance costs.  Onefour does not 
capitalize any corporate general and administrative or internal geological and geophysical expenses.

Depreciation, Depletion and Accretion

Depletion, depreciation and accretion ("DD&A") expense totaled $21,336,000 for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2007 compared to $2,812,000 for same period in 2006.  The 2007 depletion amount includes an 
impairment write-down of $16,310,0000.  Excluded from the depletable base at December 31, 2007 was 
$22,074,758 related to unproved properties.  Future development costs of $1,844,000 (2006 - $1,266,000) 
related to proved reserves were added to Onefour's net book value in the depletion calculation.

Onefour's DD&A expense in future periods will reflect finding, development and acquisition costs for proved 
reserves.

Stock Based Compensation

Stock based compensation expense related to the outstanding stock options decreased to $69,000 for the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2007 from $447,000 for the same period in 2006.  The decrease in stock 
compensation expense for 2007 is due to the nil value assigned to the performance warrants issued in 2007, 
versus the 2006 performance warrants which were considered to have a fair value, were fully vested, and 
therefore increased the 2006 expenses.

In 2007, Onefour granted an additional 300,000 options to directors, officers, employees and consultants.  At 
December 31, 2007 there were a total of 2,125,000 options outstanding.

Income Taxes

Presently Onefour does not expect to pay current income tax for the foreseeable future.  The estimated tax 
pools at December 31, 2007 totaled $51,136,000 compared to $44,456,000 at December 31, 2006.  This 
estimate is based on existing tax pools, planned capital activities and current forecasts of taxable income, 
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however, several factors can affect this prediction including commodity prices, future production, corporate 
expenses and both the type and amount of capital expenditures incurred in future reporting periods.

All of Onefour's flow-through commitments have been met as of December 31, 2007.

Capital Expenditures

Onefour's capital expenditures are detailed below:

(M$) 2007 2006
Land 814 2,690
Geological and geophysical 160 6,385
Drilling and completions 4,949 15,020
Equipment and facilities 1,287 9,804
Furniture and fixtures - 7
Total 7,210 33,906

For the year ended December 31, 2007, capital expenditures totaled $7,210,000, a decrease of 79% from the 
prior year of 2006.  In 2007, drilling expenditures decreased to $4,949 as Onefour did not drill any new wells 
in 2007, but ran a re-completion program.

The 2007 capital program executed by Onefour weighted to the Senex area.  One gross well (0.8 net) was 
drilled in the 4th quarter of 2007 into the Wabamum (water disposal) area formation on the Senex area.  All 
wells were cased and standing at December 31, 2007.  Other than to drill a water disposal well at Senex and to 
perform maintenance and work-over operations, Onefour expended no capital in 2007.  With high drilling and 
operating costs in the Senex area, together with the disappointing production rates, further drilling was deemed 
to be uneconomic.

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, Onefour's drilling statistics are as follows:

2007 2006
Gross Wells Net Wells Gross Wells Net Wells

Gas 1.0 0.6 2.0 1.6
Oil 0 0 8.0 6.4
Standing 0 0 3.0 2.4
Dry 0 0 3.0 2.1
Total 1.0 0.6 16.0 10.5

Share Capital Data

Onefour is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common voting shares and an unlimited number of 
preferred shares.

(thousands) At December 31, 2007 At December 31, 2006

Outstanding Common Shares

Weighted average outstanding common shares –
Basic(1) 63,352 41,722
Diluted 63,460 42,444

Outstanding common shares at period end 65,306 53,084
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Outstanding securities data as December 31, 2007

Designation of Security
Authorized
(thousands)

Number Issued and Outstanding 
as at December 31 , 2007 (1)

(thousands)

Preferred Shares Unlimited -

Common Shares Unlimited 65,306 

Performance Warrants 7,890 904

Options 3,890 2,125

Note:
(1) See the 2007 audited financial statements and the notes thereto attached as Schedule A to this Appendix E.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2007, Onefour had a working capital deficiency of $4,623,000.  Onefour's demand credit 
facility may be drawn up to the current limit of $4,000,000 ($6,500,000 at December 31, 2007). At the end of 
2007, $5.1 million had been drawn under this facility.  Onefour received $11 million of equity financing 
proceeds in 2007.

In the normal course of business Onefour entered into contracts and incurred obligations that will impact future 
liquidity.  Onefour expects to fulfill its principal contractual obligations which include operating lease 
obligations for office space totaling $146,000 spread over the next three years and future working capital 
requirements from existing working capital, cash flow and the additional equity described above.

Onefour has limited its 2008 capital budget pending the completion of the Transaction.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Onefour does not have any off balance sheet financial arrangements.

Transactions with Related Parties

Onefour does not have any business transactions with related parties, other than a receivable owed to it by 
Brian Johnston, a former director.  See "Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers" in the Information 
Circular.

Proposed Transactions

As a result of Onefour's recent lack of success and poor performance, the Board of Directors have investigated 
various alternatives for disposal of the Corporation or its assets, the most attractive of which was the Purchase 
Agreement. "Matters to be acted upon at the meeting - Background to, and reasons for the Transaction" in the 
Information Circular.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of Onefour's financial statements requires management to adopt accounting policies that 
involve the use of significant estimates and assumptions.  These estimates and assumptions are developed 
based on the best available information and are believed by management to be reasonable under the existing 
circumstances.  New events or additional information may result in the revision of these estimates over time.
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Full Cost Accounting Ceiling Test:  The Corporation reviews the carrying value of all petroleum and natural 
gas assets for potential impairment on a quarterly basis. Impairment is indicated if the carrying value of the 
assets is not recoverable by the future undiscounted cash flows. This impairment test is based on estimates of 
proved reserves, production rates, petroleum and natural gas prices, future costs and other relevant 
assumptions. If impairment exists, the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of 
the assets will be charged to earnings.

Asset Retirement Obligations:  The provision for asset retirement obligations is estimated based on costs to 
abandon and reclaim wells and facilities, timing of abandonment and reclamation of wells and facilities, and 
inflation and discount rates over the life of the reserves. Changes to any assumptions used in the calculation 
will have an impact on the provision and the accretion expense included in earnings.

Stock-based Compensation Expense:  Compensation costs attributable to stock options and warrants granted 
by the Corporation are charged to earnings over the vesting period of the securities. The fair value calculation 
method adopted by the Corporation is the Black-Scholes model, which requires management to estimate the 
expected life of the securities and the expected volatility of Corporation's share price over the life of the 
options and warrants. These estimates may be different than the actual life and volatility.

Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization Expense:  Onefour uses the full cost method of accounting for 
exploration and development activities whereby all costs associated with these activities are capitalized, 
whether successful or not.  The aggregate of capitalized costs, net of certain costs related to unproved 
properties, and estimated future development costs is amortized using the unit-of-production method based on 
estimated proved reserves.  Changes in estimated proved reserves or future development costs have a direct 
impact on depletion and depreciation expense.

Certain costs related to unproved properties and major development projects may be excluded from costs 
subject to depletion until proved reserves have been determined or their value is impaired.  These properties 
are reviewed quarterly to determine if proved reserves should be assigned, at which point they would be 
included in the depletion calculation, or for impairment which would be included in depletion and depreciation 
expense.

Income Taxes: The determination of Onefour's income and other tax liabilities requires interpretation of 
complex laws and regulations often involving multiple jurisdictions.  All tax filings are subject to audit and 
potential reassessment after the lapse of considerable time.  Accordingly, the actual income tax liability may 
differ significantly from that estimated and recorded.

Risk Factors

Working Capital

Onefour's working capital position and internally generated cash flow will not be sufficient to fund its future 
development costs or its long term general and administrative costs.  

Business Risks

There are inherent risks in the exploration for, and development of, oil and natural gas.  Operational risks 
include finding economic oil and natural gas reserves, production once the reserves are discovered, cost of 
materials and services, access to production facilities and transportation, and the ability to attract and retain the 
best human resources available at a reasonable cost.

Financial risks that are not within Onefour's control include, but are not limited to, the fluctuation in 
commodity prices and foreign exchange rates, provincial and federal regulations, royalties, taxes and interest 
rates.  Onefour has not entered into any arrangements to hedge against a downturn in commodity prices.



E-25

Onefour endeavours to manage certain risks by focusing on controlling finding and development costs, 
operating costs and general and administrative expenses.  Onefour's strategy of focusing on core geographical 
areas and geological targets assists in controlling capital risk.

Onefour also faces environmental risks associated with the pollution of ground, air and water.  While 
operations are conducted so as to reduce the potential of an incident, a comprehensive insurance program is 
maintained to mitigate risks and protect against significant losses.  This program protects against losses from 
pollution, well blowouts and other forms of asset damage.

Changes in Legislation

On October 25, 2007, the Alberta government announced proposed changes to the royalties' payable on all 
Crown mineral rights owned by the province.  If enacted on January 1, 2009 as released, factors determining 
the calculation of Crown royalties to be paid will include the rate of production per well, commodity prices and 
the depth drilled.  All of Onefour's production and reserves are in Alberta and will be subject to the proposed 
changes.  Management estimates that the net present value of proven and probable reserves before tax, 
discounted at 10%, as at December 31, 2007 will decrease by 20% as a result of the proposed royalty changes.

The royalty change analysis did not take into account future drilling plans that do not have reserves assigned to 
them at December 31, 2007 and makes certain assumptions regarding future prices and production which could 
have a material impact on the actual impact of the proposed changes.  Management believes the proposed 
royalty changes will have a more significant and potentially downward impact on the net present value of 
future wells.

The reader is cautioned that the foregoing description of certain risks is not exhaustive.  If any events or 
circumstances arise as a result of the foregoing, or other risks occur, the business, prospects, financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows of Onefour could be materially adversely affected.  See "Risk 
Factors" in this Appendix E.

Changes in Accounting Policies

See Notes 3 and 4 to Onefour's audited annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007 
attached to this Appendix as Schedule A.

Outlook for 2008

In early 2008, the Board of Directors and management of Onefour decided to consider strategic alternatives.  
As such, Onefour has entered into the Purchase Agreement.  See "Matters to be acted upon at the meeting -
Background to, and reasons for the Transaction" in the Information Circular.

The Corporation does not have 2008 guidance due to the transactions contemplated by the Purchase 
Agreement.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis for the Period Ended June 30, 2008

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis is dated September 29, 2008.

Overall Performance

In 2008, due to the continuing effect of the lack of access to capital and the focus of the new management team 
on pursuing strategic alternatives, the Corporation's overall performance through the second quarter of 2008 
remained unchanged from 2007.

Selected Financial Information

Set out below is selected financial information for Onefour for the first half of 2008 and the same period in 
2007:

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2008

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2007

Operating
Average daily production

Natural gas (mcf/d) 97.11 235.32
Oil (bbl/d) 150.88 184.00

Prices
 Natural gas ($/mcf) 11.68 8.55
Oil ($/bbl) 106.00 64.33

Financial (M$) (except per share data)
Petroleum and natural gas sales 3,133 2,533
Royalty expense
Interest revenue

(429)
25

(374)
36

Funds from operations
Per share-basic 0.02 0.02
Per share-diluted 0.02 0.02

Net Loss 20,945 12,814
Per share-basic and diluted 0.32 (0.21)

Working capital (3,691) (1,224)

Capital expenditures 46 3,527

Weighted average shares outstanding (000) 65,466 61,347

Results of Operations

There has been no significant change in operations in the first 6 months of 2008 compared to December 31, 
2007.  Natural gas production was lower in the first six months of 2008 compared to 2007 because one of the 
gas wells was shut in.

Financial results for the six months ended June 30, 2008

For the six months ended June 30, 2008, Onefour incurred a net loss of $20,945,000 or $0.32 per share 
compared to a net loss of $12,814,000 or $0.21 per share, for the corresponding period in 2007.  At June 30, 



E-27

2008, Onefour performed a full cost impairment test to assess the recoverability of the cost of its petroleum 
and natural gas interests which resulted in a write-down of $16,197,000.  The majority of the write-down 
relates to undeveloped and producing properties in the Senex area which were given value at December 31, 
2007, but in light of the Purchase Agreement value can no longer be assigned to these assets.

Funds generated from operations for the six months ended June 30, 2008 was $1,053,000, or $0.02 per share. 
compared to $1,023,000, or $0.02 per share for the comparable period in 2007.

Revenues and Royalties

For the six months ended June 30, 2008, due to lower production sales volumes averaged 165.6 boe/d, a 21% 
decrease from the 211.0 boe/d reported for the six months ended June 30, 2007.  Production rates for the third 
quarter of 2008 are expected to average approximately 111 boe/d.

Revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2008 of $3,133,000 were higher than the $2,533,000 realized in 
the six months ended June 30, 2007.  The decrease in production was offset by increases to commodity prices; 
oil prices increased by 65%. The following table summarizes the sales volumes and realized prices for the 
periods indicated below:

Six Months Ended 
June 30

Six Months Ended 
June 30

2008 2007
Production:
d)
Natural Gas (Mcf/d) 92.11 235.32
Oil (bbls/d) 150.88 184.48
Total (boe/d) 167.06 223.69

Revenue:
Natural Gas (M$) 207 368
Oil (M$) 2,926 2,166
Total 3,133 2,533

Average sales price:
Natural Gas ($/mcf) 11.68 8.55
Oil ($/bbl) 106.00 64.33
Total per boe ($/boe) 102.80 67.05

Benchmark Pricing:
Aeco-C Daily spot ($/mcf) 9.08 7.24
Light Oil Edmonton par price ($/bbl) 112.48 70.19

The decreased rate of production for the six months ending June 30, 2008 as compared to the same period 
occurring in 2007 is attributable to one gas well being shut in and various production problems with the 
operated oil wells.  The increase in the revenues generated from oil between the period ending June 30, 2008 
and the period ending June 30, 2007 is attributable to significantly higher commodity prices.

The change in the average oil price realized for the first half of 2008 compared to the first half of 2007 is 
consistent with the change in benchmark oil prices.  In the first half of 2008, the Light Oil Edmonton par price 
was $112.48 per bbl compared to $70.19 per bbl for the first half of 2007.

Onefour did not hedge or enter into any fixed price arrangements for the six months ended June 30, 2008 or 
during 2007.
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Interest charged on overdue accounts receivable contributed $25,000 and $11,000 to revenues for the six 
months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  Onefour charges interest on the past due amounts owed 
by its joint venture partner.  The level of interest revenue will fluctuate as the outstanding balance fluctuates.

Operating Netback

The following table outlines Onefour's total and per unit operating results for the periods indicated below:

(M$) Six Months Ended June 30
2008 2007

Revenue 3,133 2,533
Royalties 429 374
Operating expense 975 1,074
Operating netback 1,729 1,085

Total royalties averaged $12.71 per boe or 12% of gross revenues for the first six months of 2008 compared to 
15% or $9.80 per boe in the first six months of 2007.  The royalty burden for the second half of 2008 is typical 
of the levels experienced for most of 2007 and within the range of the crown royalty forecast for future 
periods.

Operating expenses decreased to $975,000 or $32.34/boe from $1,074,000 or $28.11/boe for the first half of 
2008 compared to the first half of 2007.  Operating costs are driven primarily by third party processing, 
compression and gathering fees which fluctuate with throughput volumes and with electrical power costs. 
Throughput volumes at a third party operated compression facility have declined significantly and electric 
power costs have increased and as a result, the unit operating compression costs have increased significantly.

General and Administrative Expenses

G&A expenses for the first half of 2008 were $725,000 compared to $947,000 for the comparable period in 
2007.  The year over year decrease of 23% is the result of a decrease in the number of employees. Onefour 
does not capitalize any corporate general and administrative or internal geological and geophysical expenses.

Depreciation, Depletion and Accretion

DD&A expense totaled $21,687,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2008 compared to $13,016,000 for 
same period in 2007.  DD&A expense for 2008 year-to-date includes a ceiling test impairment loss of 
$16,197,022 (2007 - $7,690,000).

Stock Based Compensation

Stock based compensation expense related to the outstanding stock options.  The expense increased to $17,000 
for the six months ended June 30, 2008 from $7,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2007.

During the six months ended June 30, 2008, no options were granted and no options were exercised.  At 
June 30, 2008, 2,048,448 stock options had vested and the average remaining life of the outstanding options 
was 2 years.

Income Taxes

Presently Onefour does not expect to pay current income tax for the predictable future.  The estimated tax 
pools at June 30, 2008 totaled $50,595,000.  This estimate is based on existing tax pools, planned capital 
activities and current forecasts of taxable income, however, several factors can affect this prediction including 
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commodity prices, future production, corporate expenses and both the type and amount of capital expenditures 
incurred in future reporting periods.

Capital Expenditures

Onefour's capital expenditures are detailed below:

(M$) Q2 2008 Q2 2007
Land 31 583
Geological and geophysical 7 146
Drilling and completions 2 2,430
Equipment and facilities 6 368
Furniture and fixtures - -
Total 46 3,527

For the six months ended June 30, 2008, capital expenditures totaled $46,000 a decrease of 99% from the same 
period in 2007.  No new wells were drilled in the six months ended June 30, 2008.  In the six months ended 
June 30, 2007, drilling expenditures were $2,430,000 as Onefour drilled 2 gross wells (1.4 net), one of which 
was unsuccessful.

Share Capital Data

Onefour is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common voting shares.

At June 30, 2008 At June 30, 2007

Outstanding Onefour Shares

Weighted average outstanding Onefour Shares –
Basic and diluted 65,465,758 61,238,237

Outstanding Onefour Shares at period end
65,125,321 65,307,597

Outstanding securities data as at June 30, 2008

Designation of Security
Authorized
(thousands)

Number Issued and Outstanding 
as at June 30, 2008)

(thousands)

Preferred Shares Unlimited − 

Common Shares Unlimited 65,125

Performance Warrants 7,890 904

Options 3,890 2,125 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At June 30, 2008, Onefour had a working capital deficiency of $3,691,000.  The bank credit facility is 
$3,849,000 of the deficiency.  If satisfied, the working capital position of Onefour would be positive, and 
Onefour would be in compliance with the covenants in the credit facility.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Onefour does not have any off balance sheet financial arrangements.

Transactions with Related Parties

Onefour does not have any business transactions with related parties, other than a receivable owed to it by 
Brian Johnston, a former director.  See "Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers" in the Information 
Circular.

Proposed Transactions

As a result of Onefour's recent lack of success and poor performance, the Board of Directors have investigated 
various alternatives for disposal of the Corporation or its assets, the most attractive of which was the Purchase 
Agreement.  "Matters to be acted upon at the meeting - Background to, and reasons for the Transaction" in the 
Information Circular.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of Onefour's financial statements requires management to adopt accounting policies that
involve the use of significant estimates and assumptions.  These estimates and assumptions are developed 
based on the best available information and are believed by management to be reasonable under the existing 
circumstances.  New events or additional information may result in the revision of these estimates over time.

Full Cost Accounting Ceiling Test:  The Corporation reviews the carrying value of all petroleum and natural 
gas assets for potential impairment on a quarterly basis. Impairment is indicated if the carrying value of the 
assets is not recoverable by the future undiscounted cash flows. This impairment test is based on estimates of 
proved reserves, production rates, petroleum and natural gas prices, future costs and other relevant 
assumptions. If impairment exists, the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of 
the assets will be charged to earnings.

Asset Retirement Obligations:  The provision for asset retirement obligations is estimated based on costs to 
abandon and reclaim wells and facilities, timing of abandonment and reclamation of wells and facilities, and 
inflation and discount rates over the life of the reserves. Changes to any assumptions used in the calculation 
will have an impact on the provision and the accretion expense included in earnings.

Stock-based Compensation Expense:  Compensation costs attributable to stock options and warrants granted 
by the Corporation are charged to earnings over the vesting period of the securities. The fair value calculation 
method adopted by the Corporation is the Black-Scholes model, which requires management to estimate the 
expected life of the securities and the expected volatility of Corporation's share price over the life of the 
options and warrants. These estimates may be different than the actual life and volatility.

Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization Expense:  Onefour uses the full cost method of accounting for 
exploration and development activities whereby all costs associated with these activities are capitalized, 
whether successful or not.  The aggregate of capitalized costs, net of certain costs related to unproved 
properties, and estimated future development costs is amortized using the unit-of-production method based on 
estimated proved reserves.  Changes in estimated proved reserves or future development costs have a direct 
impact on depletion and depreciation expense.

Certain costs related to unproved properties and major development projects may be excluded from costs 
subject to depletion until proved reserves have been determined or their value is impaired.  These properties 
are reviewed quarterly to determine if proved reserves should be assigned, at which point they would be 
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included in the depletion calculation, or for impairment which would be included in depletion and depreciation 
expense.

Income Taxes: The determination of Onefour's income and other tax liabilities requires interpretation of 
complex laws and regulations often involving multiple jurisdictions.  All tax filings are subject to audit and 
potential reassessment after the lapse of considerable time. Accordingly, the actual income tax liability may 
differ significantly from that estimated and recorded.

Risk Factors

Working Capital

Onefour's working capital position and internally generated cash flow will not be sufficient to fund its future 
development costs or its long term general and administrative costs.  

Business Risks

There are inherent risks in the exploration for, and development of, oil and natural gas.  Operational risks 
include finding economic oil and natural gas reserves, production once reserves are discovered, cost of 
materials and services, access to production facilities and transportation, and the ability to attract and retain the 
best human resources available at a reasonable cost.  Financial risks that are not within Onefour's control 
include, but are not limited to, the availability of capital, the fluctuation in commodity prices and foreign 
exchange rates, provincial and federal regulations, royalties, taxes and interest rates.  Onefour has not entered 
into any arrangements to hedge against a downturn in commodity prices.

Onefour also faces environmental risks associated with the pollution of ground, air and water.  While 
operations are conducted so as to reduce the potential of an incident, a comprehensive insurance program is 
maintained to mitigate risks and protect against significant losses.  This program protects against losses from 
pollution, well blowouts and other forms of asset damage.

The reader is cautioned that the foregoing description of certain risks is not exhaustive.  If any events or 
circumstances arise as a result of the foregoing, or other risks occur, the business, prospects, financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows of Onefour could be materially adversely affected.

Changes in Accounting Policies

See Note 2 to the June 30, 2008 financial statements of Onefour attached hereto.

Outlook for 2008

In early, 2008, the Board of Directors and management of Onefour decided to consider strategic alternatives.  
As such, Onefour has entered into the Purchase Agreement.  See "Matters to be acted upon at the Meeting -
Background to, and reasons for the Transaction" in the Information Circular.

The Corporation does not have 2008 guidance due to the transactions contemplated by the Purchase 
Agreement.
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DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL OF ONEFOUR

General

The authorized capital of Onefour consists of an unlimited number of Onefour Shares and an unlimited number 
of preferred shares.  The following is a summary of the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching 
to the Onefour Shares.

Onefour Shares entitle the holders thereof to notice of and to attend and vote at all meetings of Shareholders, to 
receive any dividend declared by Onefour, and subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions 
attached to any issued and outstanding preferred shares, to share equally in any distribution of the assets of 
Onefour in the event of liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of Onefour.

Preferred shares may from time to time be issued in one or more series and the Board of Directors may fix,
from time to time before each such series is issued, the number of preferred shares which are to comprise each 
series and the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to each series including any 
voting rights attached thereto, the rate or amount of dividends, the terms and conditions of redemption, 
purchase or conversion and any sinking fund or other provisions.  The preferred shares shall rank in priority to 
all Onefour Shares with respect to a distribution of assets upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the 
Corporation. No preferred shares are currently outstanding.

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION OF ONEFOUR

The following table sets out the capitalization of Onefour as of the dates indicated:

Designation of 
Security Authorized

Number Issued 
and Outstanding 

as at
June 30 , 2008

Number Issued and 
Outstanding as at June 30, 
2008 after giving effect to 
the Purchase Agreement 

and Consolidation(1)

Preferred Shares Unlimited - -

Common Shares Unlimited 65,125,321 10 

Warrants 7,890,816 904,000 904,000

Options 3,890,000 2,125,000 2,125,000

Note:

(1) Assumes that no Dissent Rights are exercised.

As of the date of this Information Circular, there has been no material change to the share or loan capital of 
Onefour since June 30, 2008.

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES

The following table outlines all of the outstanding options to purchase securities of Onefour as of 
September 29, 2008.
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Number of 
Onefour Shares 
under Option Exercise Price Expiry Date

Resigned Directors
975,000

 
$0.50 May 31, 2009

Directors
(4 individuals) - - -

Officers
(1 individual) - - -

Employees
(3 individuals)

200,000
600,000

$0.74
$0.90

Aug 31, 2010
Aug 10, 2010 –
Apr 29, 2012

Consultants & Other
(3 individuals)

150,000
200,000

$0.50
$0.90

Jan 30, 2009
Oct 31, 2010 –
Nov 30, 2011

Total 2,125,000

Note:

(1) There is no public market for the Onefour Shares.

PRIOR SALES

Onefour has not sold or issued any Onefour Shares from treasury in the twelve months preceding the date of 
this Information Circular.

TRADING VOLUME AND PRICE

There is no market established for the trading of Onefour Shares.

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS OF ONEFOUR

To the best of the knowledge of the directors and officers of Onefour, at the date hereof no person beneficially 
owns, or exercises control or direction over, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the votes attached to the 
issued and outstanding Onefour Shares other than as set out below.

Name Common Shares
Percentage of Common Shares Owned, 

Controlled or Directed

WRH Partners II, LLC(1) 41,666,666 63.82%

Note:

(1) Common Shares are indirectly held through the following entities in the following numbers and percentages: (i) Huff 
Alternative Netherlands, B.V. (37,638,820 Common Shares / 57.65%); and (ii) Huff-Onefour L.P. (4,027,846 Common 
Shares / 6.17%).

DIVIDENDS

Onefour has not declared or paid any dividends since its incorporation and does not foresee the declaration or
payment of dividends in the near future.  Any decision to pay dividends on Onefour Shares will be made by 
the board of directors of Onefour on the basis of Onefour's earnings, financial requirements and other 
conditions existing at such future time.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS OF ONEFOUR

The name, municipality of residence and principal occupation during the last five years of each of the directors 
and senior officers of Onefour are as follows:

Name and Position 
with the Corporation(6)

Jurisdiction 
of Residence Principal Occupation Director Since

Number of 
Onefour Shares 

Owned, 
Controlled or 

Directed(1)

Barry Borak
Acting President and 
Director 

New Jersey, 
United States

Acting President of the Corporation; 
Analyst for The Huff Alternative Fund, 
L.P.  and The Huff Energy Fund L.P.(4)

February 14, 2008 Nil(2)

Lane McKay
Director

Alberta, 
Canada

Managing Director of COSCO Capital 
Management LLC and Chief Executive 
Officer and director of COSCO Canada 
Ltd.(5)

February 14, 2008 4,104,9773)

Rick D'Angelo
Director

New Jersey,
United States

Analyst for The Huff Alternative Fund, 
L.P. and The Huff Energy Fund L.P.(4)

June 20, 2006 41.666.666(2)

Eric L. Schnur
Director

New Jersey,
United States

Analyst for The Huff Alternative Fund, 
L.P. and The Huff Energy Fund L.P.(4)

November 16, 
2006

41.666.666(2)

Notes:

(1) The information as to Onefour Shares beneficially owned or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly has been 
furnished by the respective nominees individually.

(2) Mr. D'Angelo and Mr. Schnur are principals of WRH Partners II, LLC, which beneficially own or controls or directs, 
directly or indirectly, 41,666,666 Onefour Shares.  See "Principal Shareholders of Onefour".

(3) In addition to 58,824 Onefour Shares beneficially owned, controlled or directed personally, Mr. McKay is a principal
of COSCO Capital Management LLC, which is the beneficial holder, directly or indirectly, of 4,046,153 or 6.2% of 
Onefour Shares.

(4) The Huff Alternative Fund L.P. is a private equity fund.

(5) COSCO Capital Management LLC is a financial advisory firm operating in the private energy sector.

(6) The term of office of each director is from the date of the meeting at which such director is elected or the date at which 
such director is appointed until the close of the first annual general meeting of shareholders following the date of 
appointment or election, or until such director's successor is elected or appointed.  The Board of Directors has not 
established any committees.

Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies

No current or proposed director, officer or shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of Onefour to 
affect materially the control of Onefour is, or has been within the past ten years, a director or executive officer 
of any other issuer that, while that person was acting in that capacity or after that person acted in that capacity, 
but resulting from an event that occurred while that person was in that capacity, was the subject of a cease 
trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other issuer access to any exemptions under Canadian 
securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days or became a bankrupt, made a proposal 
under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its 
assets.
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Penalties or Sanctions

No current or proposed director, officer or shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of Onefour to 
affect materially the control of Onefour has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court 
relating to Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a 
settlement agreement with a Canadian Securities regulatory authority or been subject to any other penalties or 
sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable 
investor in making an investment decision.

Personal Bankruptcies

No current or proposed director, officer or shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of Onefour to 
affect materially the control of Onefour, or a personal holding company of any such person has, within the past 
ten years, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or was 
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of such person.

Conflicts of Interest

There are potential conflicts of interest to which some of the directors, senior officers and executive officers of 
Onefour will be subject in connection with the operations of Onefour.  Situations may arise where some of the 
business activities of the directors and officers will be in direct competition with Onefour.  In particular, 
certain directors and officers of Onefour will be in managerial or director positions with other oil and gas 
companies, whose operations may, from time to time, be in direct competition with those of Onefour or with 
entities which may, from time to time, provide financing to, or make equity investments in, competitors of 
Onefour.  Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies under the ABCA.  The ABCA 
provides that in the event that a director has an interest in a contract or proposed contract or agreement, the 
director shall disclose his interest in such contract or agreement and shall refrain from voting on any matter in 
respect of such contract or agreement unless otherwise provided by the ABCA.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation of Named Executive Officers

Securities legislation requires the disclosure of the compensation of certain executive officers, including the 
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and each of Onefour's three most highly compensated 
executive officers other than the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, whose total salary and 
bonus exceed $150,000 per year (collectively, the "Named Executive Officers"), who are serving as executive 
officers at the end of the most recently completed financial year, and any individuals who would have been 
included except for the fact that such individual was not serving as an officer of Onefour at the end of the most 
recently completed financial year.

As at December 31, 2007 Onefour had five Named Executive Officers.

Summary compensation table

The following table and notes thereto set out information concerning the compensation paid to the Named 
Executive Officers during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
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Annual Compensation
Long-Term 

Compensation

Name Year
Salary

($)
Bonus

($)

Other Annual 
Compensation

($)

Onefour Shares 
Under Options 

Granted(1)

(#)

Barry Borak(2)

Acting President

Lou A. Sanche
President

2007

2007(3)

2006
2005

-

110,724
156,000
150,000

-

-
-
-

-

-
-
-

-

-
750,000
550,000

Brian Johnston
Executive Vice President and 
Secretary

2007(4)

2006
2005

35,254
156,000
150,000

-
-
-

156,000(7)

-
-

-
600,000
400,000

Brent Cooper
Vice President, Land and 
Exploration

Tanis McIntosh
Chief Financial Officer

2007(5)

2006
2005

2007(6)

104,804
156,000
150,000

103,556

-
-
-

50,000

-
-
-

-
625,000
425,000

350,000

Note:

(1) All options granted are exercisable at prices ranging from $0.50 to $0.90.

(2) Mr. Borak was appointed Acting President of the Corporation on August 21, 2007. Mr. Borak is a principal of WRH  
Partners II, LLC, which is an affiliate of a major shareholder of the Corporation.  Mr. Borak receives no direct 
compensation from the Corporation for his service as a director and, to date, has received no compensation for serving 
as Acting President.

(3) Mr. Sanche ceased to act as President on August 21, 2007, at which time 200,000 outstanding options were terminated.

(4) Mr. Johnston ceased to act as Executive Vice President and Secretary on March 19, 2007, at which time 600,000 
outstanding options were terminated.

(5) Mr. Cooper ceased to act as Vice President, Land and Exploration on August 21, 2007, at which time 200,000 
outstanding options were terminated.

(6) Ms. McIntosh acted as CFO of the Corporation until her resignation on July 31, 2008.  Upon her resignation, all of her 
outstanding options were cancelled.  She was retained on a temporary basis as a consultant for the purpose of assisting 
the Corporation in preparing this Information Circular.

(7) Mr. Johnston received this amount as a severance payment.

During the financial year ended December 31, 2007, the total compensation paid to the five highest paid 
officers and employees of the Corporation was $690,380.

Option and warrant grants during the year ended December 31, 2007

The following table sets forth information concerning warrants and options to acquire Onefour Shares granted 
to the Named Executive Officers during the year ended December 31, 2007.
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Name

Onefour Shares 
Under Options / 

Warrants Granted
(#)

% of Total 
Warrants / 

Options Granted 
to Employees 

During the Twelve 
Months Ended 

December 31, 2007

Exercise Price 
($/Common 

Share)

Market Value of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Warrants/Options/ 
SARs on the Date of 
Grant ($/Security) Expiration Date

Lou Sanche
Options - - - - -

Warrants(1) 1,101,908 41% $1.00 - September 29, 
2016

Brent Cooper

Options) - - - - -

Warrants(1) 1,101,908 41% $1.00 - September 29, 
2016

Tanis McIntosh

Options(2)
150,000 50%- $0.90 - January 31, 2012

Warrants - - - - -

(1) Warrants are not exercisable until a change in control of the company.  Exercise price fluctuates based on the 
majority shareholder earning a 12% return.  All above warrants were forfeited upon termination of employment of 
the said executives on August 21, 2007.

(2) Ms. McIntosh was granted 150,000 options during the year ended December 31, 2007, which were cancelled 
along with all other options held by her upon her resignation on July 31, 2008.

Aggregated option exercises during the year ended December 31, 2007 and financial year-end 
option values

No options were exercised by the Named Executive Officers during the year ended December 31, 2007.  As at 
December 31, 2007, 1,275,000 options to acquire Onefour Shares and no warrants entitling the officers and 
directors of Onefour to acquire Onefour Shares were outstanding.

Name

Securities Acquired on 
Exercise

(#)

Unexercised Onefour Options at
December 31, 2007

(#)
Exercisable Unexercisable

Lou Sanche - 550,000 - 
Brent Cooper - 425,000 - 
Tanis McIntosh - 300,000(1) -

(1) All of Ms. McIntosh' s options were cancelled upon her resignation in July 31, 2008.

Other Plans

As at the date hereof, Onefour had no retirement plans, pension plans or other forms of retirement 
compensation for its employees.

Compensation of Directors

No cash remuneration has been, or is to be, paid to the directors in their capacity as directors of the 
Corporation for the financial year ended December 31, 2007.  During the financial year ended December 31, 
2007, no options to acquire common shares were granted to directors who were not also senior officers of the 
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Corporation.  Each director is entitled to be reimbursed by the Corporation for all reasonable out-of-pocket 
expenses in connection with attendance at meetings of the Board or any committee thereof.

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS

See "Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers" in the Information Circular.

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS

See "Interest of Informed Persons in Material Transactions" in the Information Circular.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Other than the Purchase Agreement, Onefour has not entered into any material contract since January 1, 2007, 
or before January 1, 2007 that is still in effect.

RISK FACTORS

The risk factors described below are not the only risk factors that Onefour faces and should be carefully 
considered in connection with the Transaction  In addition, Onefour Shareholders should carefully 
review and consider all other information contained in this Information Circular before making a 
decision as to how to vote on the Special Resolutions.

Working Capital

Onefour's working capital position and internally generated cash flow will not be sufficient to fund its future 
development costs or its long term general and administrative costs.

Reliance on Key Personnel

Onefour's success depends in large measure on certain key personnel.  The loss of the services of such key 
employees could have a material adverse effect on Onefour.  Onefour currently has a shortage of key 
personnel.

Onefour will not have key person insurance in effect for management.  The contributions of these individuals 
to Onefour's immediate operations are likely to be of central importance.  In addition, the competition for 
qualified personnel in the oil and natural gas industry is intense and there can be no assurance that Onefour 
will be able to continue to attract personnel necessary for the development and operation of Onefour's 
business.  Holders of securities of Onefour must rely upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion, integrity 
and good faith of Onefour's management.

Exploration, Development and Production Risks

Oil and natural gas operations involve many risks that even a combination of experience, knowledge and 
careful evaluation may not be able to overcome.  Onefour's long-term commercial success depends on its 
ability to find, acquire, develop and commercially produce oil and natural gas reserves.  Without the continual 
addition of new reserves, any existing reserves Onefour may have at any particular time and the production 
therefrom will decline over time as such existing reserves are exploited.  A future increase in reserves will 
depend not only on Onefour's ability to explore and develop any properties Onefour may have from time to 
time, but also on Onefour's ability to select and acquire suitable producing properties or prospects.  No 
assurance can be given that Onefour will be able to, or be able to continue to, locate satisfactory properties for 
acquisition or participation.  Moreover, if such acquisitions or participations are identified, Onefour may 
determine that current markets, terms of acquisition and participation or pricing conditions make such 
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acquisitions or participations uneconomic.  There is no assurance that commercial quantities of oil and natural 
gas will be discovered or acquired by Onefour.

Future oil and natural gas exploration may involve unprofitable efforts, not only from dry wells, but from wells 
that are productive but do not produce sufficient net revenues to return a profit after drilling, operating and 
other costs.  Completion of a well does not assure a profit on the investment or recovery of drilling, completion 
and operating costs.  In addition, drilling hazards or environmental damage could greatly increase the cost of 
operations, and various field operating conditions may adversely affect the production from successful wells.  
These conditions include: delays in obtaining governmental approvals or consents, shut-ins of connected wells
resulting from extreme weather conditions, insufficient storage or transportation capacity or other geological 
and mechanical conditions.  While diligent well supervision and effective maintenance operations can 
contribute to maximizing production rates over time, production delays and declines from normal field 
operating conditions cannot be eliminated and can be expected to adversely affect revenue and cash flow levels 
to varying degrees.

Oil and natural gas exploration, development and production operations are subject to all the risks and hazards 
typically associated with such operations, including hazards such as fire, explosion, blowouts, cratering, sour 
gas releases and spills, each of which could result in substantial damage to oil and natural gas wells, 
production facilities, other property and the environment or in personal injury.  In accordance with industry 
practice, Onefour will not be fully insured against all of these risks, nor are all such risks insurable.  Although 
Onefour will maintain liability insurance in an amount considered consistent with industry practice, the nature 
of these risks is such that liabilities could exceed policy limits, in which event Onefour could incur significant 
costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its financial condition.  Oil and natural gas production 
operations are also subject to all the risks typically associated with such operations, including encountering 
unexpected formations or pressures, premature decline of reservoirs and the invasion of water into producing 
formations.  Losses resulting from the occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on 
future results of operations, liquidity and financial condition.

Prices, Markets and Marketing

The marketability and price of oil and natural gas that may be acquired or discovered by Onefour will be 
affected by numerous factors beyond Onefour's control.  Onefour's ability to market natural gas may depend 
upon its ability to acquire space on pipelines that deliver natural gas to commercial markets.  Onefour may also 
be affected by deliverability uncertainties related to the proximity of Onefour's reserves to pipelines and 
processing facilities, and related to operational problems with such pipelines and facilities as well as extensive 
government regulation relating to price, taxes, royalties, land tenure, allowable production, the export of oil 
and natural gas and many other aspects of the oil and natural gas business.

Both oil and natural gas prices are unstable and are subject to fluctuation.  Any material decline in prices could 
result in a reduction of Onefour's net production revenue.  The economics of producing from some wells may 
change as a result of lower prices, which could result in a reduction in the volumes of Onefour's reserves.  
Onefour might also elect not to produce from certain wells at lower prices.  All of these factors could result in 
a material decrease in Onefour's net production revenue causing a reduction in Onefour's oil and gas 
acquisition, development and exploration activities.  In addition, bank borrowings available to Onefour may in 
part be determined by Onefour's borrowing base.  A sustained material decline in prices from historical 
average prices could reduce such borrowing base, therefore reducing the bank credit available to Onefour 
which could require that a portion, or all, of Onefour's bank debt be repaid.

Operational Dependence

Other companies operate some of the assets in which Onefour has an interest. As a result, Onefour has limited 
ability to exercise influence over the operation of these assets or their associated costs, which could adversely 
affect Onefour's financial performance.  Onefour's return on assets operated by others will therefore depend 
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upon a number of factors that may be outside of Onefour's control, including the timing and amount of capital 
expenditures, the operator's expertise and financial resources, the approval of other participants, the selection 
of technology and risk management practices.

Competition

The petroleum industry is competitive in all its phases.  Onefour will compete with numerous other 
participants in the search for, and the acquisition of, oil and natural gas properties and in the marketing of oil 
and natural gas.  Onefour's competitors will include oil and natural gas companies that have substantially 
greater financial resources, staff and facilities than Onefour.  Onefour's ability to obtain and increase reserves 
in the future will depend not only on Onefour's ability to explore and develop its then present properties, but 
also on Onefour's ability to select and acquire suitable producing properties or prospects for exploratory 
drilling.  Competitive factors in the distribution and marketing of oil and natural gas include price and methods 
and reliability of delivery.

Regulatory

Oil and natural gas operations (exploration, production, pricing, marketing and transportation) are subject to 
extensive controls and regulations imposed by various levels of government that may be amended from time to 
time.  Onefour's operations may require licenses from various governmental authorities.  There can be no 
assurance that Onefour will be able to obtain all necessary licenses and permits that may be required to carry 
out exploration and development at Onefour's future projects.

Kyoto Protocol

Canada is a signatory to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change and has ratified the 
Kyoto Protocol established thereunder to set legally binding targets to reduce nationwide emissions of carbon 
dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide and other so-called "greenhouse gases".  Onefour's exploration and production 
facilities and other operations and activities, as acquired, will emit greenhouse gases which may subject 
Onefour to legislation regulating emissions of greenhouse gases.  The Government of Canada has put forward 
a Climate Change Plan for Canada which suggests further legislation will set greenhouse gases emission 
reduction requirements for various industrial activities, including oil and gas exploration and production.  
Future federal legislation, together with provincial emission reduction requirements such as those proposed in 
Alberta's Bill 37: Climate Change and Emissions Management, may require the reduction of emissions or 
emissions intensity then produced by Onefour's operations and facilities, if any.  The direct or indirect costs of 
these regulations may adversely affect the business of Onefour.

Environmental

All phases of the oil and natural gas business present environmental risks and hazards and are subject to 
environmental regulation pursuant to a variety of federal, provincial and local laws and regulations.  
Environmental legislation provides for, among other things, restrictions and prohibitions on spills, releases or 
emissions of various substances produced in association with oil and natural gas operations.  The legislation 
also requires that wells and facility sites be operated, maintained, abandoned and reclaimed to the satisfaction 
of applicable regulatory authorities.  Compliance with such legislation can require significant expenditures and 
a breach may result in the imposition of fines and penalties, some of which may be material.  Environmental 
legislation is evolving in a manner expected to result in stricter standards and enforcement, larger fines and 
liability and potentially increased capital expenditures and operating costs.  The discharge of oil, natural gas or 
other pollutants into the air, soil or water may give rise to liabilities to governments and third parties and may 
require Onefour to incur costs to remedy such discharge.  Although Onefour intends to be in material 
compliance with current applicable environmental regulations, no assurance can be given that environmental 
laws will not result in a curtailment of production or a material increase in the costs of production, 
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development or exploration activities or otherwise adversely affect Onefour's financial condition, results of 
operations or prospects.

Alberta Government Royalty Framework

On October 25, 2007, the Government of Alberta announced a new royalty framework which is scheduled to 
take effect on January 1, 2009.  The new framework was announced in response to a report released by an 
independent Royalty Review Panel appointed by the Government of Alberta in September 2007 that 
recommended an increase in the overall resource charges to oil and gas producers in the Province of Alberta.  
Under the new royalty framework, royalty rights will be increased on conventional oil, natural gas and the oil 
sands.  The Government of Alberta estimates that overall royalties will increase by approximately 20% 
(representing an increase of approximately $1.4 billion) over its previous estimated royalty revenues for 2010.  
Substantial legislative, regulatory and systems updates will be introduced before the changes become fully 
effective in January 2009.

The implementation of the proposed changes to the royalty regime in Alberta is subject to certain risks and 
uncertainties.  The significant changes to the royalty regime require new legislation, changes to existing 
legislation and regulation and development of propriety software to support the calculation and collection of 
royalties.  Additionally, certain proposed changes contemplate further public and/or industry consultation.  
There may be modifications introduced to the proposed royalty structure prior to the implementation thereof.  
An increase in the royalties payable by Onefour will result reduced profitability.

Reserves Estimates

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of reserves and cash flows to be derived 
therefrom, including many factors beyond the control of Onefour.  The reserve and cash flow information set 
forth herein present estimates only.  The evaluations include a number of assumptions relating to factors such 
as initial production rates, production decline rates, ultimate recovery of reserves, timing and amount of capital 
expenditures, marketability of production, future prices of oil and natural gas, operating costs and royalties and 
other  government levies that may be imposed over the producing life of the reserves.  These assumption were 
based on price forecasts in use at the date the relevant evaluations were prepared and many of these 
assumptions are subject to change and are beyond the control of Onefour.  Actual production and cash flows 
derived therefrom will vary from these evaluations, and such variations could be material.  These evaluations 
are based in part on the assumed success of exploitation activities intended to be undertaken in future years.  
The reserves and estimated cash flows to be derived therefrom contained in such evaluations will be reduced to 
the extent that such exploitation activities do not achieve the level of success assumed in the evaluations.

Reserve Replacement

Onefour's future oil and natural gas reserves, production, and cash flows to be derived therefrom are highly 
dependent on successfully acquiring or discovering new reserves.  Without the continual addition of new 
reserves, aggregate production will decline over time as existing reserves are exploited and not replaced.  A 
future increase in reserves will depend not only on Onefour's ability to develop any properties it may have 
from time to time, but also on its ability to select and acquire suitable producing properties or prospects.  There 
can be no assurance that Onefour's future exploration and development efforts will result in the discovery and 
development of additional commercial accumulations of oil and natural gas.

Substantial Capital Requirements

Onefour anticipates that continued operations would require making substantial capital expenditures for the 
acquisition, exploration, development and production of oil and natural gas reserves in the future.  If revenues 
or reserves decline, Onefour may have limited ability to expend the capital necessary to undertake or complete 
future drilling programs.  There can be no assurance that debt or equity financing or cash generated by 
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operations will be available or sufficient to meet these requirements or for other corporate purposes or, if debt 
or equity financing is available, that it will be on terms acceptable to Onefour.  Onefour's inability to access 
sufficient capital for its operations could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of 
operations or prospects.

Additional Funding Requirements

The cash flow from Onefour's reserves may not be sufficient to fund Onefour's ongoing activities at all times.  
From time to time, Onefour may require additional financing in order to carry out its oil and gas acquisition, 
exploration and development activities.  Failure to obtain such financing on a timely basis could cause Onefour 
to forfeit its interest in certain properties, miss certain acquisition opportunities and reduce or terminate 
Onefour's operations.  If the revenues from Onefour's reserves decrease as a result of lower oil and natural gas 
prices or otherwise, it will affect Onefour's ability to expend the necessary capital to replace Onefour's reserves 
or to maintain Onefour's production.  If Onefour's cash flow from operations is not sufficient to satisfy its 
capital expenditure requirements, there can be no assurance that additional debt or equity financing will be 
available to meet these requirements or available on terms acceptable to Onefour.

Issuance of Debt

From time to time Onefour may enter into transactions to acquire assets or the shares of other corporations.  
These transactions may be financed partially or wholly with debt, which may increase Onefour's debt levels 
above industry standards.  Depending on future exploration and development plans, Onefour may require 
additional equity and/or debt financing that may not be available or, if available, may not be available on 
favourable terms.  Neither Onefour's articles nor by-laws limit the amount of indebtedness that Onefour may 
incur.  The level of Onefour's indebtedness from time to time could impair Onefour's ability to obtain 
additional financing in the future on a timely basis to take advantage of business opportunities that may arise.

Hedging

From time to time Onefour may enter into agreements to receive fixed prices on its oil and natural gas 
production to offset the risk of revenue losses if commodity prices decline; however, if commodity prices 
increase beyond the levels set in such agreements, Onefour will not benefit from such increases.  Similarly, 
from time to time Onefour may enter into agreements to fix the exchange rate of Canadian to United States 
dollars in order to offset the risk of revenue losses if the Canadian dollar increases in value compared to the 
United States dollar; however, if the Canadian dollar declines in value compared to the United States dollar, 
Onefour will not benefit from the fluctuating exchange rate.

Availability of Drilling Equipment and Access

Oil and natural gas exploration and development activities are dependent on the availability of drilling and 
related equipment in the particular areas where such activities will be conducted.  Demand for such limited 
equipment or access restrictions may affect the availability of such equipment to Onefour and may delay 
exploration and development activities.  To the extent Onefour is not the operator of its oil and gas properties, 
it will be dependent on such operators for the timing of activities related to such properties and will be largely 
unable to direct or control the activities of the operators.

Title to Assets

Although title reviews may be conducted prior to the purchase of oil and natural gas producing properties or 
the commencement of drilling wells, such reviews do not guarantee or certify that an unforeseen defect in the 
chain of title will not arise to defeat Onefour's claim, which could result in a reduction of the revenue received 
by Onefour.
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Insurance

Onefour's involvement in the exploration for and development of oil and natural gas properties may result in 
Onefour becoming subject to liability for pollution, blow-outs, property damage, personal injury or other 
hazards.  Although prior to drilling Onefour will obtain insurance in accordance with industry standards to 
address certain of these risks, such insurance has limitations on liability that may not be sufficient to cover the 
full extent of such liabilities.  In addition, such risks may not in all circumstances be insurable or, in certain 
circumstances, Onefour may elect not to obtain insurance to deal with specific risks due to the high premiums 
associated with such insurance or other reasons.  The payment of such uninsured liabilities would reduce the 
funds available to Onefour.  The occurrence of a significant event that Onefour is not fully insured against, or 
the insolvency of the insurer of such event, could have a material adverse effect on Onefour's financial 
position, results of operations or prospects.

Dividends

At present there is no intention to pay any dividends on the Onefour Shares.  Any decision to pay dividends on 
the Onefour Shares will be made by the board of directors of Onefour on the basis of Onefour's earnings, 
financial requirements and other conditions existing at such time.

Conflicts of Interest

Certain of Onefour's directors are also directors of other oil and gas companies and as such may, in certain 
circumstances, have a conflict of interest requiring them to abstain from certain decisions.  Conflicts, if any, 
will be subject to the procedures and remedies of the ABCA.

Limited Operating History

Onefour has a limited history of earnings and will be subject to all the risks inherent in the oil and natural gas 
exploration and production business, including operating and revenue uncertainties, market size, profitability 
and the ability to raise further capital.  Accordingly, Onefour's prospects must be weighed in light of the risks 
associated with such companies.  There can be no assurances that Onefour will in fact be successful in 
overcoming these risks.

Seasonality

Onefour's development activities are seasonal in nature with activity, particularly in spring and early summer, 
being subject to weather variation.

INTERESTS OF EXPERTS

Certain legal matters relating to the Transaction will be passed upon on behalf of Onefour by Bennett 
Jones LLP.  Partners and associates of Bennett Jones LLP currently own, directly or indirectly, less than 1.0% 
of the Onefour Shares.

Certain information relating to the reserves of Onefour has been prepared by GLJ.  As of the date of the 
Information Circular, the partners and associates of GLJ beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, none of the 
outstanding Onefour Shares.

Deloitte & Touche LLP are independent in accordance with the auditor's rules of professional conduct of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Alberta.
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Onefour is currently a party to two legal proceedings that are material to its business in that the claims are for 
amounts greater than 10% of Onefour's current assets.  Subsequent to the termination by the Corporation of 
Lou Sanche's employment with Onefour on August 21, 2007, Mr. Sanche, a former director and officer of 
Onefour, initiated Claim No. 0701-09367 in the Alberta Court of Queen's Bench for wrongful dismissal, 
claiming damages of $150,000 and loss of benefits.  The Corporation has since reached the terms of, and is in 
the process of discharging its responsibilities under, a settlement for the claim, the details of which are subject 
to terms of confidentiality.  In addition, subsequent to the termination by the Corporation of Brent Cooper's 
employment with Onefour on August 21, 2007, Mr. Cooper, a former director and officer of Onefour, initiated 
Claim No. 0701-10204 in the Alberta Court of Queen's Bench for wrongful dismissal claiming damages of 
$156,000.  This action is ongoing, and the Board of Directors has reserved an amount of funds which it 
considers to be reasonable for the purposes of resolving it.

PROMOTERS

Under applicable Canadian securities laws, WRH may be considered a promoter of Onefour in that it took the 
initiative in substantially reorganizing the business of Onefour pursuant to the Transaction, which will result in 
substantially all of the assets of Onefour being sold to Galleon.  

See "Principal Shareholders" in the Information Circular, "Matters to be acted upon at the Meeting - Structure 
of the Corporation immediately after completion of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase 
Agreement", "Matters to be acted upon at the Meeting - Basis for calculating the value of a Onefour Share" 
and "Matters to be acted upon at the Meeting - Consolidation of Onefour Shares" in the Information Circular 
for a description of the Transaction.  

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The auditor of Onefour is Deloitte & Touche LLP, Chartered Accountants, 3000 Scotia Centre, 700 – 2nd

Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 0S7.

The registrar and transfer agent for the Onefour Shares at the date of mailing of this Information Circular is 
Bennett Jones LLP at its offices in Calgary, Alberta.
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Auditors’ Report

To the Directors of 
Onefour Energy Ltd.:

We have audited the balance sheets of Onefour Energy Ltd. (the “Company”) as at December 31, 

2006 and 2005 and the statements of operations and deficit and cash flows for the years then ended.  

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is 

to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those 

standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 

financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes 

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

the Company as at December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 

the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

        Signed “Deloitte & Touche LLP”
April 10, 2007 (except as to Note 14, which is Chartered Accountants

                          as of September 11, 2008)



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.
Balance Sheet

($000s)
As at

December 31,
As at

December 31,
2006 2005

Assets

Current
Cash 45 10,694

   Term deposits - 1,894
   Accounts receivable 2,792 710
   Other assets 102 145

2,939 13,443

Future income tax asset (note 10) 134 824

Petroleum and natural gas interests (note 3) 46,360 15,729

49,433 29,996

Liabilities

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11,434 2,739

   Convertible debentures (note 4) - 2,393
11,434 5,132

Asset retirement obligations (note 5) 394 136
11,828 5,268

Commitments and contingencies (note 13)
Subsequent events (note 14)

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital (note 7) 37,635 17,072
Contributed surplus (notes 7 and 8) 4,414 9,211
Convertible debentures (note 4) - 192
Deficit (4,444) (1,747)

37,605 24,728

49,433 29,996
See accompanying notes.

Approved by the Board of Directors:

Signed “•” Signed “•”



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.
Statement of Operations and Deficit

($000s except per share amounts)

Year ended 
December 31, 

2006

Year ended 
December 31, 

2005

Revenue
Oil and natural gas 3,138 380
Royalties (263) (10)
Interest and other income 194 40

3,069 410
Expenses
Operating 637 195
Administrative 1,875 965
Interest and accretion on convertible debentures

short-term (note 4)
72 281

Depletion, depreciation, amortization and accretion 2,812 393
Stock-based compensation (note 8) 447 715
Gain on conversion of debentures (8) -

5,835 2,549

Loss before income taxes (2,766) (2,139)

Future income tax recovery (note 10) 209 605

Net loss for the year (2,557) (1,534)

Deficit, beginning of year         (1,747) (213)
Repayment of convertible debentures, net of tax recovery)

of $124 (note 4)
(140)

Deficit, end of year      (4,444) (1,747)

Loss per share (note 9)
Basic and diluted (0.06) (0.11)

See accompanying notes.



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.
Statement of Cash Flows

($000s)
Year ended 

December 31, 
2006

Year ended 
December 31, 

2005

Cash flows from the following:

Operating activities
Net loss for the year (2,557) (1,534)
Items not affecting cash
Depletion, depreciation, amortization and accretion 2,880 393
Stock-based compensation 447 715
Gain on conversion of debenture (8) -
Future income tax recovery (209) (605)

553 (1,031)
Settlement of asset retirement obligations (13) -
Changes in non-cash working capital (note 11) 600 1,412

1,140 381

Financing activities
Issue of common shares net of issue costs (note 7)        15,795 20,330

   Repurchase of shares (153) -
   Increase in bank indebtedness - 1,000
   Repayment of loan facility - (1,000)

Issue (repayment) of convertible debentures (2,208) 2,585
   Changes in non-cash working capital (note 11) 34 85

13,468 23,000

Investing activities
Petroleum and natural gas expenditures (33,906) (13,487)
Petroleum and natural gas disposals 733 -
Changes in non-cash working capital (note 11) 6,022 363
Net (increase)/decrease in short-term investments 1,894 (604)

(25,257) (13,728)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash (10,649) 9,653

Cash, beginning of period 10,694 1,041

Cash, end of period 45 10,694

See accompanying notes.



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except as otherwise stated)

- 1 -

1. Description of Business
Onefour Energy Ltd. (“the Company” or “Onefour Energy”) was incorporated under the Business 
Corporations Act on January 23, 2004 and commenced operations on June 1, 2004.  The 
Company is in the business of exploration, development and production of petroleum and natural
gas reserves.

The Company’s continuing operations as a going concern and the underlying value and the 
recoverability of the amounts shown for oil and gas properties are dependent upon the existence of 
economically recoverable oil and gas reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary 
financing to complete the exploration and development of its oil and gas property interests, and on 
future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of the oil and gas property interests.  
The business of exploring for and producing oil and gas reserves involves a high degree of risk and 
there can be no assurance that current exploration programs will result in profitable operations.  
Changes in future conditions could require material write downs of the carrying values of the oil and
gas assets.  At December 31, 2006, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $8,495,000.  
The Company is confident that cash flow from operations, the proceeds of the equity offering in 
January 2007 (note 7(b)) and future financings will allow the Company to continue as a going 
concern until at least December 31, 2007.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
The financial statements are presented in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles and are expressed in Canadian dollars.  The preparation of financial 
statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements, and revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could 
differ from these estimates.  

(a) Joint Venture Activities

Substantially all of the Company’s exploration, development and production activities are 
conducted jointly with others.  These financial statements reflect the Company’s 
proportionate interest in such activities.

(b) Cash

Cash includes cash and short-term investments with a maturity of 90 days or less at the 
time of issue.



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except as otherwise stated)

- 2 -

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(c) Petroleum and Natural Gas Interests

Capitalized Costs

The Company follows the full-cost method of accounting for petroleum and natural gas 
interests whereby all costs relating to exploration for and development of petroleum and 
natural gas reserves are capitalized.  Such costs include land acquisition costs; geological 
and geophysical expenses; costs of drilling both productive and non-productive wells; 
tangible equipment and administrative costs directly related to acquisition, exploration and 
development activities.  Gains or losses are not recognized upon disposition of oil and 
natural gas properties unless crediting the proceeds against accumulated costs would 
result in a change in the rate of depletion of 20% or more.

Depletion and Depreciation

The costs associated with proved reserves are depleted or depreciated using the 
unit-of-production method based on an independent engineering estimate of the 
Company’s share of proved reserves, before royalties, with natural gas converted to its 
energy equivalent at a ratio of six thousand cubic feet of natural gas to one barrel of oil.

Office equipment is amortized on a straight-line basis over various periods between one to 
five years.

Unproved Property

Costs of acquiring and evaluating unproved properties are initially excluded from the 
depletion calculation.  These unevaluated properties are assessed periodically to ascertain 
whether impairment has occurred.  When proved reserves are assigned or the property is 
considered to be impaired, the cost of the property or the amount of the impairment is 
added to costs subject to depletion.

Impairment

Petroleum and natural gas interests are evaluated at least annually to determine that the 
costs are not impaired.  The costs are assessed to be impaired if the sum of the 
undiscounted cash flows expected from the production of proved reserves and the lower of 
cost and market of unproved properties are less than the carrying value of the assets.  If 
the carrying value is assessed as impaired, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent 
that the carrying value of assets exceeds the sum of the discounted cash flows expected 
from the production of proved and probable reserves and the lower of cost and market of 
unproved properties.  The cash flows are estimated using expected future product prices 
and costs and are discounted using a risk-free rate.



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except as otherwise stated)

- 3 -

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Asset Retirement Obligations

The fair value of a liability for asset retirement obligations is recorded in the period when a 
reasonable estimate of the fair value can be determined, with a corresponding increase to 
the carrying amount of the related asset.  The asset recorded is depleted on the same 
basis as related petroleum and natural gas interests.  Increases in the fair value of the 
asset retirement obligations due to the passage of time are recorded as accretion expense.  
Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the obligations.  

Spare Parts Inventory

Spare parts are recorded at fair value and are held for use in future development projects.

(d) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when title passes to the customer.

(e) Foreign Currency Translation

Transactions of the Company that are denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in 
Canadian dollars at exchange rates in effect at the related transaction dates.  Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are adjusted to reflect exchange 
rates at the balance sheet date.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the exchange rate in effect when the assets are acquired or the 
liabilities assumed.  Exchange gains and losses arising on the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities are included in the determination of income for the period.

(f) Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company has a stock option plan that allows employees, independent directors and 
consultants to be granted options to purchase common shares at a fixed price not less than 
the fair market value of the stock on the day preceding the grant date.  The Company has 
also issued performance warrants in conjunction with a private placement to executives as 
disclosed in Note 6.  The fair value of the options and warrants is estimated using the 
Black-Scholes option-pricing model that takes into account, as of the grant date:  exercise 
price; expected life; current price; expected volatility; expected dividends; and risk-free 
interest rates.  

Consideration paid upon the exercise of the stock options or performance warrants, 
together with corresponding amounts previously recognized in contributed surplus, is 
recorded as an increase to share capital.



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except as otherwise stated)

- 4 -

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(f) Stock-Based Compensation Plans (Continued)

The Company has not incorporated an estimated forfeiture rate for stock options or 
warrants in determining the stock option or warrant fair value in order to calculate its 
compensation expense, as the Company has assumed that all stock options and warrants 
granted will vest.  Accordingly, forfeitures are accounted for as they occur and are treated 
as a change in estimate.  The cumulative effect of the change on current and prior periods 
is recognized in the period of the change in estimate.  In the event that vested options or 
warrants expire without being exercised, previously recognized compensation costs 
associated with such stock options are not reversed.  

(g) Income Taxes

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes.  Under this 
method, income tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated tax 
consequences attributable to differences between the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and their respective tax basis, using enacted income tax rates.  The effect of a 
change in income tax rates on future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in 
income in the period that the change occurs.  

(h) Earnings per Share

Per share information is calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the fiscal year.  Diluted per share information is 
calculated using the treasury stock method which assumes that any proceeds received by 
the Company upon the exercise of in-the-money stock options, plus unamortized stock 
compensation costs, would be used to buy back common shares at the average market 
price for the period.

(i) Measurement Uncertainty

Management has made estimates and assumptions regarding certain assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses in the preparation of the financial statements.  Such estimates 
primarily relate to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the financial 
statements.  Accordingly, actual results may differ from these estimates.

Unproved properties are tested for impairment at least annually. The impairment test 
includes the application of a fair value test which makes certain assumptions about 
future events. Impairment allowances recorded are based on management’s best 
estimates and are not reversed in subsequent periods. The differences between the 
results of actual operations versus planned operations could have a significant impact on 
the impairment assessment. In addition, depletion, depreciation and amortization, and 
amounts used for impairment calculations are based on estimates of oil and natural gas 
reserves and future commodity prices, production expenses and capital costs required to 
develop and produce those reserves.  The majority of the Company’s reserve estimates 
are evaluated annually by an independent engineering firm.  By their nature, estimates 
of reserves and the related future cash flows are subject to measurement uncertainty, 
and the impact of differences between actual and estimated amounts on the financial 
statements of future periods could be material.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(i) Measurement Uncertainty (Continued)

The calculation of asset retirement obligations includes estimates of the future costs to 
settle the asset retirement obligation, the timing of the cash flows to settle the obligation, 
and the future inflation rates.  The impact of differences between actual and estimated 
costs, timing and inflation on the financial statement of future periods could be material.

(j) Share Purchase Loans
The Company has adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Emerging 
Issue Committee No. 132 abstract on Share Purchase Financing.  This abstract provides 
interpretive guidance to the accounting requirements for outstanding share purchase loans 
receivable.  The new guidance requires that share purchase loans receivable should be 
presented as reductions from shareholders' equity unless there is substantial evidence that 
the borrower, not the Company, is at risk for any decline in the price of the shares, there is 
reasonable assurance that the Company will collect the full amount of the loan in cash and 
the loan is in accordance with current arm's length market terms and conditions.  This 
standard also requires the loans to be treated in a manner similar to stock-based 
compensation if the loans are reclassified to equity.

3. Petroleum and Natural Gas Interests
Accumulated
Depletion and Net Book

Cost Depreciation Value
December 31, 2006
Petroleum and natural gas interests 48,819 (2,979) 45,840
Asset retirement provision 341 (43) 298
Spare parts inventory 151 - 151
Other assets 192 (121) 71

49,503 (3,143) 46,360
December 31, 2005
Petroleum and natural gas interests 15,806 (279) 15,527
Asset retirement provision 119 (4) 115
Other assets 185 (98) 87

16,110 (381) 15,729

As at December 31, 2006, unproved Canadian properties with capitalized costs of $23,216,564
(December 31, 2005 - $5,659,000) were not subject to depletion or amortization.

The Company capitalized overhead expenses of $526,144 (2005 - $83,638) relating to 
petroleum and natural gas exploration and development activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2006.
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3. Petroleum and Natural Gas Interests (Continued)

The Company purchased $75,000 of petroleum and natural gas interests in exchange for 
common shares in 2005.  The exchange was based on the fair value of the assets purchased.

Onefour Energy performed a ceiling test calculation at December 31, 2006 to assess the 
recoverable value of the petroleum and natural gas interests.  The following table summarizes 
the benchmark prices used in the ceiling test calculation.  Based on these assumptions, there 
was no impairment recorded at December 31, 2006.

Year
WTI Oil

($US/bbl)

Foreign
Exchange

Rate

Edmonton
Light Crude Oil

($Cdn/bbl) 
AECO C Gas

($Cdn/MMBtu)
2007 62.00 0.87 70.25 7.20
2008 60.00 0.87 68.00 7.45
2009 58.00 0.87 65.75 7.75
2010 57.00    0.87 64.50 7.80
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

57.00
57.50
58.50
59.75
61.00
62.25

   0.87 
   0.87
  0.87
  0.87
  0.87
  0.87

64.50
65.00
66.25
67.75
69.00
70.50

7.85
8.15
8.30
8.50
8.70
8.90

2017 63.50   0.87 71.75 9.10
Escalate thereafter 2.0% per year 2.0% per year 2.0% per year

4. Convertible Debentures
On June 24, 2005, the Company entered into a convertible debt facility of $1,500,000 and a 
demand bridge facility of $2,000,000.  On October 6, 2005, $1,000,000 of the bridge facility was 
repaid and the remaining balance was transferred into the convertible debt facility.  In 2006, the 
Company elected to early extinguish the outstanding balance.  On April 24, 2006, at the election 
of the lenders, $660,000 of the outstanding balance was converted to equity at $0.65 per 
common share.  The remaining $1,840,000 of the principal was paid out at a 20% premium.  A 
gain of $8,000 (before tax of $3,000) was recorded in the statement of operations and a loss of 
$264,000 (before tax of $124,000) was recorded directly to deficit as a result of the early 
extinguishment at a premium of the $1,840,000 liability.

A portion of the convertible debenture was held by certain employees and organizations owned 
by employees of the Company whom are considered related parties.  These parties converted 
$215,000 of the debt into 330,769 shares.  Prior to conversion, the Company paid $8,058 in 
interest to these related parties.
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4. Convertible Debentures (Continued)

Borrowings were made by way of prime loans with interest at 12%.  The facility was convertible 
at the election of the lender into common shares at a conversion price of $0.65. The facility was
secured by a $5,000,000 first floating charge debenture and general assignment of book assets
and was subject to periodic review by the lenders.  The facility had a maturity date of June 30, 
2006.  

The Company valued the conversion option at $192,000 at the date of issue and classified this 
portion as equity.

($000s) Debt Equity Total

December 31, 2004 - - -
      Issuance, June 20, 2005 1,375 125 1,500
      Issuance, October 6, 2005 933 67 1,000

Accretion on debentures 85 - 85
      Carrying value, December 31, 2005 2,393 192 2,585
      Accretion on debentures 67 - 67
      Conversion/payment, April 24, 2006 (2,460) (192) (2,652)
      Carrying value, December 31, 2006 - - -

5. Asset Retirement Obligations
Onefour Energy’s asset retirement obligations are based on the Company’s net ownership in 
wells and facilities and management’s estimate of costs to abandon and reclaim those wells and 
facilities as well as an estimate of the future timing of the costs to be incurred.

The Company has estimated the present value of its total asset retirement obligations to be 
$394,000 at December 31, 2006 ($136,000 - 2005) based on a total future liability of $944,934
($364,676 - 2005). Payments to settle asset retirement obligations occur over the operating 
lives of the underlying assets, estimated to be from zero to 17 years.  Estimated cash flows 
have been computed using a discount rate of 8.0% and an inflation rate of 2.0%.

($000s)

Year ended 
December 31,

2006

Year ended 
December 31,

2005

Asset retirement obligations, beginning of year 136 -
Liabilities incurred during year 201 119
Liabilities settled during the year (13) -
Revision of estimates 21 -
Accretion 49 17
Asset retirement obligations, end of year 394 136
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6. Credit Facilities
The Company has two credit facilities from a Canadian chartered bank: a $3 million revolving operating 
demand facility and a $1 million non-revolving acquisition/development demand loan.  The revolving 
facility is subject to periodic review (with the next review being May 31, 2007) and bears interest at 
prime plus 0.5%.  The non-revolving facility is due on demand with monthly principal repayments over 
the half-life of reserves up to a maximum of two years and bears interest at prime plus 1%.  These 
facilities are secured by a $10 million first floating charge over all of the Company’s assets.

7. Share Capital
(a) Authorized

Unlimited number of common shares
Unlimited number of preferred shares

(b) Issued
Number
(000s)

Consideration
($000s)

Common Shares
Balance, December 31, 2004 9,182 4,963
Issued for non-cash consideration(1) 150 75
Issued for cash:
    Private placement (one at $0.50) 100 50
    Flow through shares (various at $0.85) 5,267 4,477
    Private placements (various at $0.90) 17,333 15,600
Exercise of stock options 25 17
Exercise of warrants 470 555
Exercise of financing warrants 1,111 1,311
Share issue costs (net of tax effect of $413) - (9,686)
Tax effect of flow-through shares renounced during the year - (290)
Balance, December 31, 2005 33,638 17,072
Issued for non-cash consideration - -
Issued for cash:
     Private placement (one at $0.90) 120 108
Repurchased for cash:
     Private placement (one at $0.90) (180) (153)
Exercise of warrants (at $0.90) 316 285
Exercise of financing warrants (at $0.90) 18,333 16,500
Contributed surplus upon conversion of options and warrants 5,236
Share purchase loan(2) (158) (142)
Conversion of debenture
      (including $40 at reclassification) (note 4) 1,015 700
Share issue costs (net of tax effect of $275) - (673)
Tax effect of flow-through shares renounced during the year - (1,298)
Balance, December 31, 2006 53,084 37,635

(1) 150,000 shares were issued for $75,000 to an employee of the Company in exchange for 
geological data.  The exchange value was based on fair value of the shares.

(2) 158,161 shares were issued to a director of the Company in exchange for promissory notes 
with a carrying amount of $142,345.  The notes are due upon the liquidation of the Company 
and carry interest at 6% per annum.

In January, 2007, 7,156,703 of financing warrants were exercised for gross proceeds of $6,441,034.
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7. Share Capital (Continued)
(c) Warrants

As part of a private placement equity structure, certain investors were issued an aggregate of 
31,666,665 financing warrants on December 16, 2005.  The main investor is committed to 
providing financing up to $25,000,000 via the exercise of the financing warrants at $0.90 per 
share.  The financing warrants may be exercised at the demand of the Company dependent 
on the review of the Company’s financial position by the holders of the warrants.  In 2006,
18,333,334 (2005 - 1,111,111) financing warrants were exercised.  The financing warrants 
expire on December 2, 2013.  As the financing warrants vest immediately, the entire fair 
value of $8,866,666 was recognized in 2005 as share issue costs with a corresponding 
increase in contributed surplus.

As part of the same private placement, certain founding shareholders were issued an 
aggregate of 1,644,100 warrants.  The warrants can only be exercised in order for the 
warrant holder to maintain their pro-rata interest in the common shares of the Company.  The 
warrants expire at the earliest of 15 days subsequent to the exercise of the financing 
warrants and December 2, 2013.  In 2006, 316,322 (2005 - 469,743) warrants were 
exercised and 467,489 expired (2005 - Nil).  As the warrants vest immediately, the entire fair 
value of $460,348 was charged to stock-based compensation expense in 2005.

The total warrants and financing warrants outstanding at December 31, 2006 is 12,612,766
(2005 -31,729,911) and the exercise price is $0.90.

On September 29, 2006, 5,312,000 performance warrants were issued to certain employees 
and management of the Company.  The warrants vest immediately and are exercisable upon 
a change in control.  The exercise price is dependent on the main investor earning a 12% 
return and has been estimated to be $1.14 for the fair value estimation assuming a liquidation 
date of late 2008 and the exercise of the remaining financing warrants.  The performance 
warrants expire on September 29, 2016.  As the performance warrants vest immediately, the 
entire fair value of the $265,600 was charged to stock-based compensation expense in 2006

The fair value of each warrant, financing warrant and performance warrant granted in 2006
was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with a risk-
free interest rate of 3.79% (2005 -3.65%), a 2 year (2005 - 3 year) expected term, an 
expected volatility factor of 20% (2005 - 40%) and a 0% dividend yield.  The weighted 
average fair value is $0.05 (2005 - $0.28).
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7. Share Capital (Continued)
(c) Warrants (Continued)

Number
(000s)

Warrants
Balance, December 31, 2004 -
Issue of warrants 1,644
Exercise of warrants (470)
Balance, December 31, 2005 1,174
Exercise of warrants (316)
Expiry of warrants (468)
Balance, December 31, 2006 390

Financing Warrants
Balance, December 31, 2004 -
Issue of warrants 31,667
Exercise of warrants (1,111)
Balance, December 31, 2005 30,556
Exercise of warrants (18,333)
Expiry of warrants -
Balance, December 31, 2006 12,223

Total Warrants and Financing Warrants 12,613

Performance Warrants
Balance, December 31, 2005 -
Issue of warrants 5,312
Balance, December 31, 2006 5,312

Total Warrants, Financing Warrants and 
Performance Warrants - December 31, 2006 17,925
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7. Share Capital (Continued)
(d) Contributed Surplus

Consideration
($000s)

Balance, December 31, 2004 77
Compensation cost – options 255
Compensation cost – warrants 460
Issue of financing warrants 8,867
Exercise of options (5)
Exercise of warrants (132)
Exercise of financing warrants (311)
Balance, December 31, 2005 9,211
Compensation cost – options and warrants 447
Exercise of warrants (88)
Exercise of financing warrants (5,148)
Repurchase of shares (8)

Balance, December 31, 2006 4,414

The company repurchased 180,000 shares in 2006 at a cost of $0.85 per share.

8. Stock-Based Compensation
(a) Stock Option Plan

The Company has established a stock option plan whereby officers, directors, employees 
and service providers may be granted options to purchase common shares, at a fixed price 
not less than the fair market value of the stock on the day preceding the grant date.  
Vesting and expiry provisions are determined at the date of grant.  At December 31, 2006, 
shareholders have authorized 3,363,851 stock options or 10.0% of outstanding common 
shares, of which 3,315,000 (2005 - 2,405,000) are outstanding and 48,851 (2005 -
958,851) are available for future grants.
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8. Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)
(a) Stock Option Plan (Continued)

The following table summarizes information about the Company’s stock options 
outstanding at December 31, 2006:

Number of
Options

Weighted 
Average

Exercise Price 
($)

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 725,000 0.50

   Granted 1,705,000 0.68
   Exercised (25,000) 0.50
Outstanding at December 31, 2005 2,405,000 0.63

   Granted 1,160,000 0.90
   Expired (250,000) 0.90
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 3,315,000 0.70

Exercisable on December 31, 2006 2,561,887 0.65

The following table summarizes information about options exercised and outstanding at 
December 31, 2006:

Exercise Price
$

Options
Outstanding 

Remaining
Contractual 

Life
(Years)

Options
Exercisable

Remaining
Contractual 

Life
(Years)

0.50 – .075 1,805,000 2.9 1,744,398 2.9
0.76 – 1.00 1,510,000 4.3 817,490 4.3
0.50 – 1.00 3,315,000 2,561,888
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8. Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

(b) Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The fair value of each option granted in 2005 and 2006 is estimated on the date of grant 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with weighted average assumptions and 
resulting values for grants as follows:

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2006 2005

Risk free interest rate (%) 3.96 3.65
Expected life (years) 2 3
Expected volatility (%) 20 40
Dividend yield (%) - -

Weighted average fair value per option ($) 0.13 0.23

9. Loss Per Share
Loss per share figures have been calculated using the treasury stock method. The weighted 
average basic and dilutive shares outstanding at December 31, 2006 are 42,444,259 (2005 -
14,219,256).  There are 19,592,927 (2005 - 501,612) anti-dilutive stock options and warrants 
outstanding.  

10. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes differs from the result that would have been obtained by applying 
the combined federal and provincial income tax rates to the Company’s loss before income taxes.  
This difference results from the following items:

Year ended 
December 31,

Year ended 
December 31,

2006 2005

Net loss before income taxes (2,766) (2,139)

Expected tax recovery at the statutory rate of 33.6% (929) (821)
Increase (decrease) in income tax effect of:

Crown charges 455 (125)
Debenture accretion 23 -
Other (80) -
Rate reduction 172 72
Stock-based compensation 150 269

Income tax recovery (209) (605)
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10. Income Taxes (Continued)
The components comprising the future income taxes are as follows:

Year ended 
December 31,

2006

Year ended 
December 31,

2005

Non-capital loss carry forwards      983          650
Share issue costs     605          330
Petroleum and natural gas interests   (1,454)         (155)

    134          825

At December 31, 2006, the Company had approximately $2,225,000 (2005 - $1,933,000) of losses 
available to reduce future taxable income, expiring in 2015.

11. Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended 

December 31,
2006

Year ended 
December 31,

2005
Changes in non-cash working capital

Accounts receivable (2,082) (579)
Deferred financing - (38)
Other assets 43 (98)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8,695 2,575

6,656 1,860
Change in non-cash working capital relating to:

Operating activities 600 1,412
Financing activities 34 85
Investing activities 6,021 363

6,655 1,860
Interest and income taxes paid

Cash interest paid 281             196
Cash income taxes paid - -

12. Financial Instruments
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying value of cash, accounts receivable, short-term investments, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities approximates their fair value due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.

Credit Risk
A substantial portion of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers in the energy 
industry and are subject to normal industry credit risk at December 31, 2006.  38% of the accounts 
receivable is with one joint venture partner.  The Company routinely assesses the financial strength 
of its customers and partners.

13. Commitments and Contingencies
The Company has obligations under operating leases for office space, which expire between 
June 30, 2008 – May 30, 2010.  The total obligation, excluding operating costs over the next 
30 months is $256,860 (2007 - $127,920, 2008 - $85,620, 2008 - $43,320).
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14. Subsequent Events
On January 25, 2008, Onefour Energy filed a statement of claim against Berkley Resources Inc. 
(“Berkley”), a 20% joint venture partner in the Senex area.  The claim indicated that if Onefour 
Energy did not receive payment of the full amount of the arrears within the specified time period, 
the Company would petition the courts to sell the Berkley interest in the Senex property through a 
court appointed receiver.  On March 11, 2008, Onefour Energy filed and served a notice to request 
the courts to allow Onefour Energy to sell Berkley’s interest.  Onefour Energy believes Berkley’s 
interest will sell for more than the amount outstanding.

Effective February 1, 2008, Onefour Energy sold certain unproved properties in Montana for 
proceeds of $250,000.

On September 11, 2008 the Company entered into a purchase and sale agreement to sell the 
majority of the Company’s producing assets.
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Deloitte & Touche LLP
3000 Scotia Centre
700 Second Street S.W.
Calgary  AB  T2P 0S7
Canada

Tel: (403) 267-1700
Fax: (403) 264-2871
www.deloitte.ca

Auditors’ Report
To the Directors of Onefour Energy Ltd.:

We have audited the balance sheets of Onefour Energy Ltd. as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 

and the statements of operations and deficit and cash flows for the years then ended.  These 

financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  

Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 

the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test 

basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also 

includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 

as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of the Company as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the results of its operations and its 

cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles.

On March 14, 2008, we reported separately to the Company’s Shareholders on our audit of the 

Company’s financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2007 prepared in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for private companies.  Our 

March 14, 2008 report is rescinded and replaced with this audit report as a result of the Company 

requiring public company disclosure pursuant to the transaction noted in Note 16.

Calgary, Alberta Signed “Deloitte & Touche LLP”
September 11, 2008 Chartered Accountants
                             



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.
Balance Sheets

($000s)
As at

December 31,
As at

December 31,
2007 2006

Assets

Current
Cash - 45
Accounts receivable 1,597 2,792
Other assets 51 102

1,648 2,939

Future income tax asset (note 12) - 134

Petroleum and natural gas interests (note 5) 32,452 46,360

34,100 49,433

Liabilities

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,196 11,434
Bank debt (note 8) 5,075 -

6,271 11,434

Asset retirement obligations (note 7) 653 394
6,924 11,828

Commitments, contingencies and subsequent events
(notes 15 and 16)

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital (note 9) 51,508 37,635
Contributed surplus (notes 9 and 10) 1,061 4,414
Deficit (25,393) (4,444)

27,176 37,605

34,100 49,433
See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors:

Signed “•” Signed “•”



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.
Statements of Operations and Deficit

($000s except per share amounts)

Year ended 
December 31, 

2007

Year ended 
December 31, 

2006

Revenue
Oil and natural gas 4,684 3,138
Royalties (699) (263)
Interest and other income 109 194

4,094 3,069
Expenses
Operating 1,401 257
Transportation 267 380
Administrative 1,836 1,875
Interest and accretion on convertible debentures - short-term 

(note 6) - 72
Depletion, depreciation and accretion 21,336 2,812
Stock-based compensation (note 10) 69 447
Gain on conversion of debentures - (8)

24,909 5,835

Loss before income taxes (20,815) (2,766)

Future income tax recovery (expense) (note 12) (134) 209

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year (20,949) (2,557)

Deficit, beginning of year (4,444) (1,747)
Repayment of convertible debentures, 

net of tax recovery of $124 (note 6) - (140)
Deficit, end of year (25,393) (4,444)

Loss per share (note 11)
Basic and diluted (0.33) (0.06)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.
Statements of Cash Flows

($000s)
Year ended 

December 31, 
2007

Year ended 
December 31, 

2006

Cash flows from the following:

Operating activities
Net loss for the year (20,949) (2,557)
Items not affecting cash

Depletion, depreciation and accretion 21,336 2,880
Stock-based compensation 69 447
Gain on conversion of debenture - (8)
Future income tax recovery 134 (209)

590 553
Settlement of asset retirement obligations - (13)
Changes in non-cash working capital (note 13) 799 600

1,389 1,140

Financing activities
Issue of common shares, net of issue costs (note 9) 10,451 15,795

   Repurchase of shares - (153)
   Increase in bank indebtedness 5,075 -

Repayment of convertible debentures - (2,208)
   Changes in non-cash working capital (note 13) 3 34

15,529 13,468

Investing activities
Petroleum and natural gas expenditures (7,210) (33,906)
Petroleum and natural gas disposals 41 733
Changes in non-cash working capital (note 13 (9,794) 6,022
Net decrease in short-term investments - 1,894

(16,963) (25,257)

Net decrease in cash (45) (10,649)

Cash, beginning of period 45 10,694

Cash, end of period - 45

Supplementary information
Cash interest paid 104 281
Cash income taxes paid - -

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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1. Description of Business
Onefour Energy Ltd. (“the Company” or “Onefour Energy”) was incorporated on January 23, 
2004 and commenced operations on June 1, 2004.  The Company is in the business of 
exploration, development and production of petroleum and natural gas reserves.

The Company’s continuing operations as a going concern and the underlying value and the 
recoverability of the amounts shown for oil and gas properties are dependent upon the 
existence of economically recoverable oil and gas reserves, the ability of the Company to 
obtain the necessary financing to complete the exploration and development of its oil and gas 
property interests, and on future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of the oil 
and gas property interests.  The business of exploring for and producing oil and gas reserves 
involves a high degree of risk and there can be no assurance that current exploration programs 
will result in profitable operations.  No adjustments have been recorded to carrying value of 
assets and liabilities should the Company not be able to continue as a going concern.  
Changes in future conditions could require material write downs of the carrying values of the oil 
and gas assets.  

2. Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements are presented in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles and are expressed in Canadian dollars.  The preparation of financial 
statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements, and revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual 
results could differ from these estimates.  

(a) Joint Venture Activities

Substantially all of the Company’s exploration, development and production activities 
are conducted jointly with others.  These financial statements reflect the Company’s 
proportionate interest in such activities.

(b) Cash

Cash includes cash and short-term investments with a maturity of 90 days or less at the 
time of issue.

(c) Petroleum and Natural Gas Interests

Capitalized Costs

The Company follows the full-cost method of accounting for petroleum and natural gas 
interests whereby all costs relating to exploration for and development of petroleum and 
natural gas reserves are capitalized.  Such costs include land acquisition costs; 
geological and geophysical expenses; costs of drilling both productive and non-
productive wells; tangible equipment and administrative costs directly related to 
acquisition, exploration and development activities.  Gains or losses are not recognized 
upon disposition of oil and natural gas properties unless crediting the proceeds against 
accumulated costs would result in a change in the rate of depletion of 20% or more.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(c) Petroleum and Natural Gas Interests (continued)

Depletion and Depreciation

The costs associated with proved reserves are depleted or depreciated using the unit-
of-production method based on an independent engineering estimate of the Company’s 
share of proved reserves, before royalties, with natural gas converted to its energy 
equivalent at a ratio of six thousand cubic feet of natural gas to one barrel of oil.  

Office equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over various periods between 
one to five years.

Unproved Properties

Costs of acquiring and evaluating unproved properties are initially excluded from the 
depletion calculation.  These unevaluated properties are assessed periodically to 
ascertain whether impairment has occurred.  When proved reserves are assigned or 
the property is considered to be impaired, the cost of the property or the amount of the 
impairment is added to costs subject to depletion.

Impairment

Petroleum and natural gas interests are evaluated at least annually to determine that 
the costs are not impaired.  The costs are assessed to be impaired if the sum of the 
undiscounted cash flows expected from the production of proved reserves and the 
lower of cost and market of unproved properties are less than the carrying value of the 
assets.  If the carrying value is assessed as impaired, an impairment loss is recognized 
to the extent that the carrying value of assets exceeds the sum of the discounted cash 
flows expected from the production of proved and probable reserves and the lower of 
cost and market of unproved properties.  The cash flows are estimated using expected 
future product prices and costs and are discounted using a risk-free rate.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The fair value of a liability for asset retirement obligations is recorded in the period 
when a reasonable estimate of the fair value can be determined, with a corresponding 
increase to the carrying amount of the related asset.  The asset recorded is depleted on 
same basis as related petroleum and natural gas interests.  Increases in the fair value 
of the asset retirement obligations due to the passage of time are recorded as accretion 
expense.  Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the obligations.  

Spare Parts Inventory

Spare parts are recorded at fair value and are held for use in future development 
projects.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(d) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when title passes to the customer.

(e) Foreign Currency Translation

Transactions of the Company that are denominated in foreign currencies are recorded 
in Canadian dollars at exchange rates in effect at the related transaction dates.  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are adjusted to reflect 
exchange rates at the balance sheet date.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate in effect when 
the assets are acquired or the liabilities assumed.  Exchange gains and losses arising 
on the translation of monetary assets and liabilities are included in the determination of 
income for the period.

(f) Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company has a stock option plan that allows employees, independent directors 
and consultants to be granted options to purchase common shares at a fixed price not 
less than the fair market value of the stock on the day preceding the grant date.  The 
Company has also issued performance warrants in conjunction with a private 
placement to executives as disclosed in Note 8.  The fair value of the options and 
warrants is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model that takes into 
account, as of the grant date: exercise price; expected life; current price; expected 
volatility; expected dividends; and risk-free interest rates.  

Consideration paid upon the exercise of the stock options or performance warrants, 
together with corresponding amounts previously recognized in contributed surplus, is 
recorded as an increase to share capital.

The Company has not incorporated an estimated forfeiture rate for stock options or 
warrants in determining the stock option or warrant fair value in order to calculate its 
compensation expense, as the Company has assumed that all stock options and 
warrants granted will vest.  Accordingly, forfeitures are accounted for as they occur and 
are treated as a change in estimate.  The cumulative effect of the change on current 
and prior periods is recognized in the period of the change in estimate.  In the event 
that vested options or warrants expire without being exercised, previously recognized 
compensation costs associated with such stock options are not reversed.  

(g) Income Taxes

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes.  Under this 
method, income tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated tax 
consequences attributable to differences between the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and their respective tax basis, using enacted income tax rates.  The effect 
of a change in income tax rates on future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized 
in income in the period that the change occurs.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(h) Earnings per Share

Per share information is calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the fiscal year.  Diluted per share information is 
calculated using the treasury stock method which assumes that any proceeds received 
by the Company upon the exercise of in-the-money stock options, plus unamortized 
stock compensation costs, would be used to buy back common shares at the average 
market price for the period.

(i) Measurement Uncertainty

Management has made estimates and assumptions regarding certain assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses in their preparation of the financial statements.  Such estimates 
primarily relate to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the financial 
statements.  Accordingly, actual results may differ from these estimates.

Unproved properties are tested for impairment at least annually.  The impairment test 
includes the application of a fair value test which makes certain assumptions about 
future events.  Impairment allowances recorded are based on management’s best 
estimates and are not reversed in subsequent periods.  Impairment assessment also 
include judgments with respect to commodity pricing, availability of financing, expected 
resale value of certain intangible properties, and technical feasibility of planned 
extraction process and costs related.  The differences between the results of actual 
operations versus planned operations could have a significant impact on the 
impairment assessment. In addition, depletion, depreciation and accretion, and 
amounts used for impairment calculations are based on estimates of oil and natural gas 
reserves and future commodity prices, production expenses and capital costs required 
to develop and produce those reserves.  The majority of the Company’s reserve 
estimates are evaluated annually by an independent engineering firm.  By their nature, 
estimates of reserves and the related future cash flows are subject to measurement 
uncertainty, and the impact of differences between actual and estimated amounts on 
the financial statements of future periods could be material.

The calculation of asset retirement obligations includes estimates of future costs to 
settle the asset retirement obligation, the timing of the cash flows to settle the 
obligation, and the future inflation rates.  The impact of differences between actual and 
estimated costs, timing and inflation on the financial statement of future periods could 
be material.

The calculation of stock based compensation expense includes estimates of stock 
value, the timing of exercising the options.  The fair value of each option granted is 
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with 
weighted average assumptions as outlined in Note 8.



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except as otherwise stated)

- 5 -

3. Changes in Accounting Policy

Accounting Changes

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the revised recommendations of CICA 
Handbook Section 1506, Accounting Changes, which provides expanded disclosures for 
changes in accounting policies, accounting estimates and correction of errors.  Under the 
revised standards, a voluntary change in accounting policies is permitted only when required by 
a primary source of Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) or when the 
change results in financial statements providing more reliable and relevant information about 
the effects of transactions, other events or conditions on the entity's financial position, financial 
performance or cash flows.

Accounting changes are applied retrospectively unless otherwise permitted or unless it is 
impractical to determine the period or cumulative impact of the changes.  Corrections of prior 
period errors are applied retrospectively and changes in accounting estimates are applied 
prospectively.  This standard did not affect the Company's financial statements.  This standard 
also requires that any new CICA Handbook standards to be adopted in future periods and the 
impact of those new standards need to be disclosed in the financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (“CICA”) Section 3251 – “Equity” which replaces Section 3250 – “Surplus” and 
establishes standards for the presentation of equity and changes in equity during a reporting 
period including the disclosure of the components of accumulated other comprehensive 
income.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the CICA Section 3861 – “Financial 
Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation” which establishes standards for presentation of 
financial instruments and non-financial derivatives, and identifies the information that should be 
disclosed about them.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted CICA Section 3855 – “Financial Instruments 
– Recognition and Measurement” and Section 3861 – “Financial Instruments – Presentation 
and Disclosure”.  These sections establish the standards for recognizing and measuring 
financial instruments in the balance sheet and the standards for reporting gains and losses 
relating to financial instruments in the financial statements.  All financial instruments are 
classified into specific categories; financial assets available for sale, assets and liabilities held 
for trading, loans and receivables, investments held to maturity and other financial liabilities.  
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value with subsequent measurement based 
on initial classification.  Non-exempt derivative and embedded derivative financial instruments, 
part of a hedging relationship or not, have to be measured at fair value with all changes in their 
fair value recorded in net income unless hedge accounting is utilized, which then requires any 
changes in fair value to be recorded in other comprehensive income until such time as the 
underlying hedged transaction is recognized in net income.  If a hedge ceases to be effective, it 
is immediately recognized in net income.
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3. Changes in Accounting Policy (Continued)

The Company has made the following classifications:

a) Cash is classified as financial assets held for trading and is measured at fair value.  
Gains and losses from revaluation are recognized in net income.

b) Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables and are initially 
measured at fair value.  Subsequent measurement is amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

c) Accounts payable and bank debts are classified as other liabilities and are initially 
measured at fair value.  Subsequent measurement is amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

The Company has adopted these sections retroactively without restatement.  The adoption of 
these sections has had no material impact on the Company’s net earnings, cash flows or deficit
at January 1, 2007.

Derivatives 

All derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are recorded on the balance 
sheet at fair value unless they qualify for the normal sale and purchase exception. All 
changes in fair value are included in earnings unless cash flow hedge or net investment 
accounting is used, in which case changes in fair value are recorded in other 
comprehensive income, to the extent the hedge is effective, and in earnings, to the extent it 
is ineffective. 

Hedge Accounting 

Section 3865 establishes standards for when and how hedge accounting may be applied. 
Hedge accounting continues to be optional. At inception of the hedge, the Company must 
formally document the designation of the hedge, the risk management objectives, the 
hedging relationships between the hedged items and the hedging items and the methods for 
testing the effectiveness of the hedge. The Company assesses, both at inception of the 
hedge and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives designated as hedges are highly 
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. 

For cash flow hedges that have been terminated or cease to be effective, prospective gains 
or losses on the derivative are recognized in earnings. Any gain or loss that has been 
included in accumulated other comprehensive income at the time the hedge is discontinued 
continues to be deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income until the original 
hedged transaction is recognized in earnings. If the likelihood of the original hedged 
transaction occurring is no longer probable, the entire gain or loss in accumulated other 
comprehensive income related to this transaction is immediately reclassified to earnings. 
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3. Changes in Accounting Policy (Continued)

Comprehensive Income

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the CICA Handbook Section 1530 –
Comprehensive Income.   This section describes reporting and disclosure recommendations 
with respect to comprehensive income and its components.  Comprehensive income is the 
change in shareholders’ equity resulting from transactions and events from sources other than 
the Company’s shareholders.  These transactions and events include changes in currency 
translation adjustments and unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value of 
certain financial instruments.  The adoption of this Section requires the Company to present a 
statement of comprehensive income as part of the financial statements.  The adoption of this 
section has had no impact on the Company’s deficit at January 1, 2008.

Equity

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the CICA Handbook Section 3251 – Equity.  
This section establishes the standards for presentation of equity and recognizing changes in 
equity occurring in the reporting period as a result of the adoption and application of Section 
1530 – Comprehensive Income discussed above.

4. Future Accounting Changes

In fiscal 2008, the Company will be required to adopt the following sections from the Canadian 
CICA Handbook:

CICA Section 1530 – “Comprehensive Income” which introduces the concept of 
comprehensive income to Canadian GAAP.  It includes unrealized gains and losses, such as: 
changes in the currency translation adjustment relating to self-sustaining foreign operations; 
unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale investments; and the effective portion of gains 
or losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges.

CICA Section 1535 – “Capital disclosures” which establishes standards for disclosing 
information about an entity’s capital and how it is managed.  Under this standard, the Company 
will be required to disclose quantitative and qualitative information about its objectives, policies 
and processes for managing capital.

5. Petroleum and Natural Gas Interests

Cost

Accumulated 
Depletion and 
Depreciation

Net Book
 Value

December 31, 2007
Petroleum and natural gas interests 55,967 (24,026) 31,941
Asset retirement provision 553 (268) 285
Spare parts inventory 173 - 173
Other assets 191 (138) 53

56,884 (24,432) 32,452
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5. Petroleum and Natural Gas Interests (Continued)

Cost

Accumulated 
Depletion and 
Depreciation

Net Book
 Value

December 31, 2006
Petroleum and natural gas interests 48,819 (2,979) 45,840
Asset Retirement provision 341 (43) 298
Spare parts inventory 151 - 151
Other assets 192 (121) 71

49,503 (3,143) 46,360

As at December 31, 2007, unproved Canadian properties with capitalized costs of 
$22,074,758 (December 31, 2006 - $23,216,564) were not subject to depletion or 
depreciation.

The Company capitalized overhead expenses of $94,122 (2006 – $526,144) relating to 
petroleum and natural gas exploration and development activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2007.

Onefour Energy performed a ceiling test calculation at December 31, 2007 to assess the 
recoverable value of the petroleum and natural gas interests.  The following table 
summarizes the benchmark prices used in the ceiling test calculation.  Based on these 
assumptions, there was a $16,310,000 impairment recorded at December 31, 2007.

Year
WTI Oil

($US/bbl)

Foreign
Exchange

Rate

Edmonton
Light Crude Oil

($Cdn/bbl)
AECO C Gas

($Cdn/mmbtu)

2008 92.00 1.00 91.10 6.53
2009 88.00 1.00 87.10 7.33
2010 84.00 1.00 83.10 7.37
2011 82.00 1.00 81.10 7.37
2012 82.00 1.00 81.10 7.37
2013 82.00 1.00 81.10 7.37
2014 82.00 1.00 81.10 7.57
2015 82.00 1.00 81.10 7.74
2016 82.02 1.00 81.12 7.91
2017 83.66 1.00 82.76 8.08
Escalate thereafter 2.0% per year 2.0% per year 2.0% per year

6. Convertible Debentures
On June 24, 2005, the Company entered into a convertible debt facility of $1,500,000 and a 
demand bridge facility of $2,000,000.  On October 6, 2005, $1,000,000 of the bridge facility 
was repaid and the remaining balance was transferred into the convertible debt facility.  In 
2006, the Company elected to early conversion of the outstanding balance.  On April 24, 
2006, at the election of the lenders, $660,000 of the outstanding balance was converted to 



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except as otherwise stated)

- 9 -

6. Convertible Debentures (Continued)
equity at $0.65 per common share.  The remaining $1,840,000 of the principal was paid out 
at a 20% premium. 

A portion of the convertible debenture was held by certain employees and organizations 
owned by employees of the company whom are considered related parties.  These parties 
converted $215,000 of the debt into 330,769 shares.  Prior to conversion, the Company paid 
$8,058 in interest to these related parties.

Borrowings were made by way of prime loans with interest at 12%.  The facility was 
convertible at the election of the lender into common shares at a conversion price of $0.65. 
The facility was secured by a $5,000,000 first floating charge debenture and general 
assignment of book assets and was subject to periodic review by the lenders.  The facility 
had a maturity date of June 30, 2006.  

The Company valued the conversion option at $192,000 at the date of issue and classified 
this portion as equity.

Debt Equity Total

Carrying value, December 31, 2005 2,393 192 2,585
Accretion on debentures 67 - 67
Conversion/payment, April 24, 2006 (2,460) (192) (2,652)
Carrying value, December 31, 2006 - - -

7. Asset Retirement Obligations
Onefour Energy’s asset retirement obligations are based on the Company’s net ownership 
in wells and facilities and management’s estimate of costs to abandon and reclaim those 
wells and facilities as well as an estimate of the future timing of the costs to be incurred.

The Company has estimated the present value of its total asset retirement obligations to be 
$653,000 at December 31, 2007 ($394,000 – 2006) based on a total future liability of 
$963,000 ($944,934 – 2006).  Payments to settle asset retirement obligations occur over the 
operating lives of the underlying assets, estimated to be from zero to 20 years.  Estimated 
cash flows have been computed using a discount rate of 8.0% and an inflation rate of 2.0%.  
The $151,000 upward revision of the liability in 2007 is due to a downward revision of the 
expected reserve life.



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except as otherwise stated)

- 10 -

7. Asset Retirement Obligations (Continued)

Year ended 
December 31, 

2007

Year ended 
December 31, 

2006
Asset retirement obligations, beginning of period 394 136
Liabilities incurred during period 62 201
Liabilities settled during the period - (13)
Revision of estimates 151 21
Accretion 46 49
Asset retirement obligations, end of period 653 394

8. Bank Debt
As at December 31, 2007, the Company had two credit facilities from a Canadian chartered 
bank: a $4 million revolving operating demand facility and a $2.5 million non-revolving 
acquisition/development demand loan.  The revolving facility bears interest at prime plus 0.5%.  
The non-revolving facility is due on demand with monthly principal repayments over the half-life 
of the reserves up to a maximum of two years and bears interest at prime plus 1%.  These 
facilities are secured by a $10 million first floating charge over all of the Company’s assets.

The facilities are subject to periodic review.  Upon review in February 2008, the revolving 
facility was increased to $5.4 million, reducing by $150,000 per month commencing 
March 1, 2008 and by $200,000 per month effective May 1, 2008.  The revolving facility now 
bears interest at prime plus 1.50%.  The non-revolving facility has been cancelled.  The next 
review is May 31, 2008.

9. Share Capital
(a) Authorized

Unlimited number of common shares
Unlimited number of preferred shares
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9. Share Capital (Continued)

(b) Issued
Number
(000s)

Consideration
($000s)

Common Shares

Balance – December 31, 2005 33,638 17,072
Issued for cash:
     Private placement (one at $0.90) 120 108
Repurchased for cash:
     Private placement (one at $0.85) (180) (153)
Exercise of warrants (at $0.90) 316 285
Exercise of financing warrants (at $0.90) 18,333 16,500
Contributed surplus upon conversion of options and warrants - 5,236
Share purchase loan1 (158) (142)
Conversion of debenture (note 5) 1,015 700
Share issue costs (net of tax effect of $275) - (673)
Tax effect of flow-through shares renounced during the year - (1,298)
Balance – December 31, 2006 53,084 37,635
Exercise of financing warrants (at $0.90) 12,222 11,000
Contributed surplus upon conversion of  warrants - 3,422
Share issue costs (net of tax effect of $Nil) - (549)

Balance – December 31, 2007 65,306 51,508

(c) Warrants

As part of a private placement equity structure, certain investors were issued an 
aggregate of 31,666,665 financing warrants on December 16, 2005.  The main investor 
has provided financing of $25,000,000 via the exercise of the financing warrants at 
$0.90 per share.  As the financing warrants vest immediately, the entire fair value of 
$8,866,666 was recognized in 2005 as share issue costs with a corresponding increase 
in contributed surplus.  The financing warrants were exercised at the demand of the 
Company dependent on the review of the Company’s financial position by the holders 
of the warrants.  In 2007, 12,222,220 (2006 – 18,333,334) financing warrants were 
exercised.  There are no remaining financing warrants.

As part of the same private placement, certain founding shareholders were issued an 
aggregate of 1,644,100 warrants.  The warrants can only be exercised in order for the 
warrant holder to maintain their pro-rata interest in the common shares of the Company.  
As the warrants vest immediately, the entire fair value of $460,348 was charged to stock-
based compensation expense in 2005.  The warrants expire at the earliest of 15 days 
subsequent to the exercise of the financing warrants and 

                                                  

1 158,161 shares were issued to a director of the Company in exchange for promissory notes with a 
carrying amount of $142,345.  The notes are due upon the liquidation of the Company and carry 
interest at 6% per annum.
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9. Share Capital (Continued)
December 2, 2013.  In 2007, Nil (2006 – 316,322) warrants were exercised and 
1,325,524 expired (2006 – 467,489).  There are no remaining warrants.

The total warrants and financing warrants outstanding at December 31, 2007 is Nil
(2006 – 12,612,766).

On September 29, 2006, 5,312,000 performance warrants were issued to certain 
employees and management of the Company.  The warrants vest immediately and are 
exercisable upon a change in control.  As the performance warrants vest immediately, 
the entire fair value of the $265,600 was charged to stock-based compensation 
expense in 2006.  On June 1, 2007, 2,668,816 performance warrants were granted, the 
fair value of these warrants was determined to be Nil.  The exercise price is dependent 
on the main investor earning a 12% return and has been estimated to be $1.08 for the 
fair value estimation assuming a liquidation date of early 2008.  The performance 
warrants expire on September 29, 2016.  

The fair value of each performance warrant granted in 2007 was estimated on the date 
of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with a risk-free interest rate of 
4.55%, a one year (2006 - two year) expected term, an expected volatility factor of 20% 
and a Nil% dividend yield.  The weighted average fair value is $Nil (2006 - $0.05).

Number
(000s)

Warrants
Balance – December 31, 2005 1,174
Exercise of warrants (316)
Expiry of warrants (468)
Balance – December 31, 2006 390
Exercise of warrants -
Expiry of warrants 390
Balance – December 31, 2007 -

Financing Warrants
Balance – December 31, 2005 30,556
Exercise of warrants (18,333)
Expiry of warrants -
Balance – December 31, 2006 12,223
Exercise of warrants (12,223)
Expiry of warrants -
Balance – December 31, 2007 -

Total Warrants and Financing Warrants -
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9. Share Capital (Continued)

Performance Warrants
Balance – December 31, 2006 5,312
Issue of warrants 2,669
Expiry of warrants (7,077)
Balance – December 31, 2007 904

Total Warrants, Financing Warrants and Performance Warrants
December 31, 2007 904

(d) Contributed Surplus

Consideration
($000s)

Contributed Surplus

Balance – December 31, 2005 9,211
Compensation cost – options and warrants 447
Exercise of warrants (88)
Exercise of financing warrants (5,148)
Repurchase of shares (8)
Balance – December 31, 2006 4,414
Compensation cost – options and warrants 69
Exercise of warrants -
Exercise of financing warrants (3,422)

Balance – December 31, 2007 1,061

The Company repurchased 180,000 shares in 2006 at a cost of $0.85 per share.

10. Stock-Based Compensation
(a) Stock Option Plan 

The Company has established a stock option plan whereby officers, directors, 
employees and service providers may be granted options to purchase common shares, 
at a fixed price not less than the fair market value of the stock on the day preceding the 
grant date.  Vesting and expiry provisions are determined at the date of grant.  At 
December 31, 2007, shareholders have authorized 3,890,000 stock options or 5.10% of 
outstanding common shares, of which 2,125,000 (2006 – 3,315,000) are outstanding 
and 1,765,000 (2006 - 48,851) are available for future grants.
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10. Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

The following tables summarizes information about the Company’s stock options 
outstanding at December 31, 2007:

Number of
Options

Weighted 
Average

Exercise Price 
($)

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 2,405,000 0.63

   Granted 1,160,000 0.90
   Expired (250,000) 0.90
Outstanding at December 31, 2006 3,315,000 0.70
   Granted 300,000 0.90
   Expired (1,490,000) 0.79
Outstanding at December 31, 2007 2,125,000 0.67

Exercisable on December 31, 2007 1,953,191 0.65

(a) Stock Option Plan (continued)

The following table summarizes information about options exercised and outstanding 
at December 31, 2007:

Exercise Price
$

Options
Outstanding 

Remaining
Contractual 

Life
(Years)

Options
Exercisable

Remaining
Contractual 

Life
(Years)

0.50 - 0.75 1,355,000 2.9 1,355,000 2.9
0.76 – 1.00 770,000 4.5 598,191 4.5
0.50 – 1.00 2,125,000 1,953,191

All remaining options vest in 2008 with the exceptions of 50,000 which vest Jan 31, 
2009 and 17,000 which vest April 30, 2009.

The following table summarizes information about options exercised and outstanding 
at  December 31, 2006:

Exercise Price
$

Options
Outstanding 

Remaining
Contractual 

Life
(Years)

Options
Exercisable

Remaining
Contractual 

Life
(Years)

0.50 - 075 1,805,000 2.9 1,744,398 2.9
0.76 – 1.00 1,510,000 4.3 817,490 4.3
0.50 – 1.00 3,315,000 2,561,888

The remaining options vest at 1/3 per year.
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10. Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

 (b) Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The fair value of each option granted in 2006 and 2007 is estimated on the date of 
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with weighted average 
assumptions and resulting values for grants as follows:

Year ended 
December 31, 

2007

Year ended 
December 31, 

2006

Risk free interest rate (%) 4.55 3.96
Expected life (years) 1 2
Expected volatility (%) 20 20
Dividend yield (%) - -

Weighted average fair value per option ($) 0.00 0.13

11. Loss Per Share
Loss per share figures have been calculated using the treasury stock method.  The 
weighted average basic and dilutive shares outstanding at December 31, 2007 are 
63,351,998 (2006 - 42,444,259).  There are 2,632,441 (2006 - 19,592,927) anti-dilutive 
stock options and warrants outstanding.

12. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes differs from the result that would have been obtained by 
applying the combined federal and provincial income tax rates to the Company’s loss before 
income taxes.  This difference results from the following items:

Year ended 
December 31, 

2007

Year ended 
December 31, 

2006

Net loss before income taxes (20,815) (2,766)

Expected tax recovery at the statutory rate of 32.12% 
(2006 – 33.6%) (6,686) (929)

Increase (decrease) in income tax effect of:
Crown charges (10) 455
Interest accretion - 23
Other 95 (80)
Rate reduction 647 172
Stock-based compensation 22 150

Valuation allowance 6,066 -
Income tax expense (recovery) 134 (209)

The components comprising the future income taxes are as follows:
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12. Income Taxes (Continued)
Year ended 

December 31,
Year ended 

December 31,
2007 2006

Non-capital loss carry forwards 4,729      983
Share issue costs 440     605
Petroleum and natural gas interests 897   (1,454)
Valuation allowance (6,066) -

-     134

At December 31, 2007, the Company had approximately $16,323,000 (2006 - $2,225,000) of 
losses available to reduce future taxable income, expiring in 2027. 

13. Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital

Year ended 
December 

31,

Year ended 
December 

31,
2007 2006

Accounts receivable 1,195 (2,082)
Other assets 51 42
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (10,238) 8,696

(8,992) 6,656
Change in non-cash working capital relating to:

Operating activities 799 600
Financing activities 3 34
Investing activities (9,794) 6,022

(8,992) 6,656

14. Financial Instruments

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying value of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and 
bank debt approximates their fair value due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.  

Credit Risk
A substantial portion of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers in the energy 
industry and are subject to normal industry credit risk at December 31, 2007.  65% of accounts 
receivable is with one joint venture partner (Note 15).  The Company routinely assesses the 
financial strength of its customers and partners.

Interest Rate Risk
The Company is subject to floating interest rate risk on its credit facilities (Note 7). 

Commodity Price Risk
The nature of the Company’s operations results in exposure to fluctuation in commodity prices.
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15. Commitments and Contingencies
The Company has obligations under operating leases for office space, which expire between 
June 30, 2008 – May 30, 2010.  The total obligation, excluding operating costs over the next 
29 months is $146,990:

$

2008 85,620
2009 43,320
2010 18,050

146,990

At December 31, 2007, the Company had two wrongful dismissal claims filed against them.  In 
late February one claim was settled and payment was accrued for in the 2007 year.  The 
second claim is still under review.  It is management’s belief that no liability will arise regarding 
the second claim.

16. Subsequent Events
On January 25, 2008, Onefour Energy filed a statement of claim against Berkley Resources 
Inc. (“Berkley”), a 20% joint venture partner in the Senex area.  The claim indicated that if 
Onefour Energy did not receive payment of the full amount of the arrears within the specified 
time period, the Company would petition the courts to sell the Berkley interest in the Senex 
property through a court appointed receiver.  On March 11, 2008, Onefour Energy filed and 
served a notice to request the courts to allow Onefour Energy to sell Berkley’s interest.  
Onefour Energy believes Berkley’s interest will sell for more than the amount outstanding.

Effective February 1, 2008, Onefour Energy sold certain unproved properties in Montana for 
proceeds of $250,000.

On September 11, 2008, the Company entered into a purchase and sale agreement to sell the 
majority of the Company’s producing assets.
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ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.
Balance Sheets (unaudited)

($000s)
As at

June 30,
As at

December 31,
2008 2007

Assets

Current
Accounts receivable 1,327 1,597
Other assets 45 51

1,372 1,648

Petroleum and natural gas interests (note 3) 10,577 32,452

11,949 34,100

Liabilities

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,214 1,196
Bank debt (note 4) 3,849 5,075

5,063 6,271

Asset retirement obligations 675 653
5,738 6,924

Commitments, contingencies and subsequent events
(notes 9 and 10)

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital (note 5) 51,364 51,508
Contributed surplus (note 5) 1,185 1,061
Deficit (46,338) (25,393)

6,211 27,176

11,949 34,100
See accompanying notes to the financial statements.



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.
Statements of Operations and Deficit (unaudited)

($000s except per share amounts)

6 Month 
Period ended 
June 30, 2008

6 Month 
Period ended 
June 30, 2007

Revenue
Oil and natural gas 3,133 2,533
Royalties (429) (374)
Interest and other income, net 85 71

2,789 2,230
Expenses
Operating 831 883
Transportation 144 191
Administrative 725 947
Bad debt 330 -
Depletion, depreciation, accretion and impairment (note 3) 21,687 13,016
Stock-based compensation 17 7

23,734 15,044

Net loss and comprehensive loss (20,945) (12,814)

Deficit, beginning of period (25,393) (4,444)
Deficit, end of period (46,338) (17,258)

Loss per share (note 6)
Basic and diluted (0.32) (0.21)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.



ONEFOUR ENERGY LTD.
Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited)

($000s)
6 Month 

Period ended 
June 30, 2008

6 Month 
Period ended 
June 30, 2007

Cash flows from the following:

Operating activities
Net loss for the period (20,945) (12,814)
Items not affecting cash

Depletion, depreciation, accretion and impairment 21,687 13,016
Stock-based compensation

      Bad debt
17

330
7
-

1,089 209
Settlement of asset retirement obligations - -
Changes in non-cash working capital (note 7) (36) 814

1,053 1,023

Financing activities
Issue of common shares, net of issue costs (note 5) - 10,450

   Increase/(decrease) in bank indebtedness (1,226) 1,872
   Changes in non-cash working capital (note 7) (37) -

(1,263) 12,322

Investing activities
Petroleum and natural gas expenditures (46) (3,527)
Petroleum and natural gas disposals 256 -
Changes in non-cash working capital (note 7) - (9,863)

210 (13,390)

Net decrease in cash - (45)

Cash, beginning of period - 45

Cash, end of period - -

Supplementary information
Cash interest paid 128 104
Cash income taxes paid - -

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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- 1 -

1. Description of Business
Onefour Energy Ltd. (“the Company” or “Onefour Energy”) was incorporated on January 23, 
2004 and commenced operations on June 1, 2004.  The Company is in the business of 
exploration, development and production of petroleum and natural gas reserves.

The Company’s continuing operations as a going concern and the underlying value and the 
recoverability of the amounts shown for oil and gas properties are dependent upon the 
existence of economically recoverable oil and gas reserves, the ability of the Company to 
obtain the necessary financing to complete the exploration and development of its oil and gas 
property interests, and on future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of the oil 
and gas property interests.  The business of exploring for and producing oil and gas reserves 
involves a high degree of risk and there can be no assurance that current exploration programs 
will result in profitable operations.  No adjustments have been recorded to carrying value of 
assets and liabilities should the Company not be able to continue as a going concern.  
Changes in future conditions could require material write downs of the carrying values of the oil 
and gas assets.  

2. Changes in Accounting Policies

Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation

Effective January 1, 2008 the Company adopted Section 3862 Financial Instruments –
Disclosures and Section 3863 Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation. These 
disclosure standards were adopted prospectively and require entities to provide information 
that enable users to evaluate: 1) the significance of financial instruments for the entity’s 
financial position and performance; and 2) the nature and extent of risks arising from 
financial instruments to which the entity is exposed during the period and at the balance 
sheet date, and how the entity manages those risks.

Capital Disclosures

Effective January 1, 2008 the Company adopted Section 1535, Capital Disclosures which 
requires companies to disclose its objectives, policies and processes for managing capital 
as well as compliance with any externally imposed capital requirements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (unaudited)
For the six month periods ended June 30, 2008 and June 30, 2007
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars, except as otherwise stated)

- 2 -

3. Petroleum and Natural Gas Interests

Cost

Accumulated 
Depletion and 
Depreciation

Net Book
 Value

June 30, 2008
Petroleum and natural gas  interests 55,790 (45,550) 10,240
Asset retirement provision 553 (393) 160
Spare parts inventory 174 - 174
Other assets 157 (154) 3

56,674 (46,097) 10,577

As at June 30, 2008, unproved Canadian properties with capitalized costs of $1,376,179
were not subject to depletion or depreciation (2007 - $21,125,709).

The Company capitalized overhead expenses of $99,165 relating to petroleum and natural 
gas exploration and development activities for the period ended June 30, 2008 (2007 -
$122,737).

Onefour Energy performed a ceiling test calculation at June 30, 2008 to assess the 
recoverable value of the petroleum and natural gas interests.  There was as an additional
impairment of $16,197,000 at June 30, 2008 (June 30, 2007 - $7,690,000).  

4. Bank Debt
As at June 30, 2008, the Company had two credit facilities from a Canadian chartered bank: a 
$2.25 million revolving operating demand facility and a $1.75 million non-revolving demand 
loan.  The revolving facility bears interest at prime plus 2.0% and is reducing by $150,000 per 
month commencing July 31, 2008, with full repayment to occur by September 30, 2008.  The 
non-revolving facility bears interest at prime plus 5.0% and to be repaid in full by September 
30, 2008.  These facilities are secured by a $10 million first floating charge over all of the 
Company’s assets.

The facilities are subject to periodic review.  
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5. Share Capital

(a) Authorized
Unlimited number of common shares
Unlimited number of preferred shares

(b) Issued
Number
(000s)

Consideration
($000s)

Common Shares

Balance – December 31, 2007 65,306 51,508
Redemption of shares to settle receivable (182) (144)

Balance – June 30, 2008 65,124 51,364

A receivable of $37,000 was settled in exchange for 182,000 Onefour shares.  

(c) Contributed Surplus

Consideration
($000s)

Contributed Surplus

Balance – December 31, 2007 1,061
Compensation cost – options and warrants 17
Repurchase of shares to settle debt              107

Balance – June 30, 2008 1,185

6. Loss per Share
Loss per share figures have been calculated using the treasury stock method.  The 
weighted average basic and dilutive shares outstanding at June 30, 2008 are 65,305,758
(2007 – 61,238,237).  All stock options and warrants outstanding are anti-dilutive in 2008
and 2007 as a result of the loss.
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7. Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital

Six month 
period ended 

June 30,

Six month 
period ended 

June 30,
2008 2007

Accounts receivable (97) 295
Other assets 6 49
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 18 (9,393)

73 (9,049)
Change in non-cash working capital relating to:

Operating activities (36) 814
Financing activities (37) -
Investing activities - (9,863)

(73) (9,049)

8. Financial Instruments and Capital Management

Overview

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its financial instruments:
 Credit risk;
 Liquidity risk; and
 Market risk.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Company’s risk management framework and establishes and monitors risk management policies to: 
identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company; to set appropriate risk limits and controls; and 
to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the Company’s activities.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is primarily related to the Company’s receivables from joint venture partners and 
petroleum and natural gas marketers and the risk of financial loss if a customer, partner or 
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. A substantial portion 
of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers in the energy industry and are subject to 
normal industry credit risk. The Company generally grants unsecured credit but routinely assesses 
the financial strength of its customers.

Receivables from petroleum and natural gas marketers are normally collected on the 25th day of 
the month following production. The Company sells the majority of its production to two petroleum 
and natural gas marketers therefore, is subject to concentration risk which is mitigated by 
management’s policies and practices related to credit risk, as discussed above.

Joint venture receivables are typically collected within one to three months of the joint venture bill 
being issued to the partner. However, the receivables are from participants in the petroleum and 
natural gas sector, and collection of the outstanding balances is dependent on industry factors such 
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8. Financial Instruments and Capital Management (continued)

as commodity price fluctuations, escalating costs, the risk of unsuccessful drilling and occasional 
disagreements between parties.  The Company attempts to mitigate the risk from joint venture 
receivables by obtaining partner approval of significant capital expenditures prior to expenditure. 
The Company does not typically obtain collateral from petroleum and natural gas marketers or joint 
venture partners; however in certain circumstances, it may cash call a partner in advance of the 
work. As well, the Company does have the ability to withhold production from joint venture partners 
in the event of non-payment.

The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts as determined by management 
based on their assessment of collection therefore the carrying amount of accounts receivable 
generally represents the maximum credit exposure. 

A substantial portion of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers in the energy industry 
and are subject to normal industry credit risk at June 30, 2008.  65% of accounts receivable is with one
joint venture partner.  The Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and 
partners.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
are due.  The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking harm to the Company’s reputation.

The Company prepares capital expenditures budgets which are regularly monitored and updated as 
considered necessary. As well, the Company utilizes authorizations for expenditures on both 
operated and non-operated projects to further manage capital expenditures. To facilitate the capital 
expenditure program, the Company has a credit facility (note 4) that is reviewed periodically by the 
lender.  

All of the Company’s financial liabilities are due within one year of the balance sheet date.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, commodity 
prices, and interest rates will affect the Company’s net earnings or the value of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to mitigate exposures within acceptable 
limits, while maximizing returns.

The Company does not use commodity price contracts to manage market risks related to 
commodity prices. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Foreign currency exchange rate risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future 
cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. Although substantially all 
of the Company’s petroleum and natural gas sales are denominated in Canadian dollars, the 
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8. Financial Instruments and Capital Management (continued)

underlying market prices in Canada for petroleum and natural gas are impacted by changes in the 
exchange rate between the Canadian and United States dollar. The Company had no forward 
foreign exchange rate contracts in place as at or during the six months ended June 30, 2008.

Commodity Price Risk
Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in commodity prices. Commodity prices for petroleum and natural 
gas are impacted by world economic events that dictate the levels of supply and demand. The 
Company has not attempted to mitigate commodity price risk through the use of financial derivative 
sales contracts. 

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
interest rates.  The Company is exposed to interest rate fluctuations on its credit facility which bears 
a floating rate of interest. The Company had no interest rate swap or financial contracts in place as 
at or during the six month period ended June 30, 2008. For the six months ended June 30, 2008, a 
difference in the interest rate of 1.0% would change net earnings by an estimated $40,000 
assuming all other variables are constant.

The Company is subject to floating interest rate risk on its credit facilities (Note 4). 

Capital Management

The Company’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base for the objectives of maintaining financial
flexibility, creditor and market confidence and to sustain the future development of the business. 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying petroleum and natural gas 
assets. The Company considers its capital structure to include shareholders’ equity, bank debt and 
working capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may from time to 
time issue shares and adjust its capital spending to manage current and projected debt levels. The 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern (see note 1) has limited the Company’s flexibility 
in regards to managing its capital structure and has placed additional pressure on the Company to 
raise additional capital through the raising of equity, additional debt or the selling of certain assets 
to remain a going concern.

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other than the 
covenants on its credit facility with its lender to maintain its adjusted ratio of current assets to 
current liabilities (working capital) at a 1.0:1.0 level. At June 30, 2008, the Company was in 
compliance with the adjusted working capital covenant.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying value of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and bank 
debt approximates their fair value due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.  
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9. Commitments and Contingencies
The Company has obligations under operating leases for office space, which expire between 
July 1, 2008 and May 30, 2010.  The total obligation, excluding operating costs over the next 
23 months is $104,690:

$

2008 43,320
2009 43,320
2010 18,050

104,690

At June 30, 2008, the Company had one wrongful dismissal claim filed against it. The claim is 
still under review. Management has recorded the estimated settlement amount at June 30, 
2008.
.

10. Subsequent Events
On September 11, 2008, the Company entered into a purchase and sale agreement to sell the 
majority of the Company’s producing assets.  
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FORM 51-101F2

REPORT ON RESERVES DATA
BY

INDEPENDENT QUALIFIED RESERVES EVALUATORS OR AUDITOR

To the board of directors of Onefour Energy Ltd. (the "Company"):

1. We have prepared an evaluation of the Company's reserves data as at December 31, 2007.  
The reserves data are estimates of proved reserves and probable reserves and related future 
net revenue as at December 31, 2007, estimated using forecast prices and costs.

2. The reserves data are the responsibility of the Company's management.  Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the reserves data based on our evaluation.

We carried out our evaluation in accordance with standards set out in the Canadian Oil and 
Gas Evaluation Handbook (the "COGE Handbook") prepared jointly by the Society of 
Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (Calgary Chapter) and the Canadian Institute of Mining, 
Metallurgy & Petroleum (Petroleum Society).

3. Those standards require that we plan and perform an evaluation to obtain reasonable 
assurance as to whether the reserves data are free of material misstatement.  An evaluation 
also includes assessing whether the reserves data are in accordance with principles and 
definitions in the COGE Handbook.

4. The following table sets forth the estimated future net revenue (before deduction of income 
taxes) attributed to proved plus probable additional reserves, estimated using forecast prices 
and costs and calculated using a discount rate of 10 percent, included in the reserves data of 
the Company evaluated by us for the year ended December 31, 2007, and identifies the 
respective portions thereof that we have audited, evaluated and reviewed and reported on to 
the Company's board of directors:

Net Present Value of Future Net Revenue
(before income taxes, 10% discount rate)

(thousand of dollars)
Independent Qualified 
Reserves Evaluator or 

Auditor

Description and 
Preparation 

Date of 
Evaluation 

Report

Location of 
Reserves 

(County or 
Foreign 

Geographic 
Area) Audited Evaluated Reviewed Total

GLJ Petroleum Consultants March 25, 2008 Canada - 9323 - 9323

5. In our opinion, the reserves data respectively evaluated by us have, in all material respects, 
been determined and are in accordance with the COGE Handbook.

6. We have no responsibility to update our reports referred to in paragraph 4 for events and 
circumstances occurring after their respective preparation dates.
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7. Because the reserves data are based on judgements regarding future events, actual results will 
vary and the variations may be material. However, any variations should be consistent with 
the fact that reserves are categorized according to the probability of their recovery.

EXECUTED as to our report referred to above:

GLJ Petroleum Consultants Ltd., Calgary, Alberta, Canada, September 22, 2008

(signed) "Neil Dell"

Neil I. Dell, P. Eng. 
Vice-President
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FORM 51-101F3
REPORT OF MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORS

ON OIL AND GAS DISCLOSURE

Management of Onefour Energy Ltd. (the "Company") are responsible for the preparation and disclosure of 
information with respect to the Corporation's oil and gas activities in accordance with securities regulatory 
requirements.  This information includes reserves data, which consist of the following:

(a) (i) proved and proved plus probable oil and gas reserves estimated as at December 31, 2007 
using forecast prices and costs; and

(ii) the related estimated future net revenue; and

(b) (i) proved oil and gas reserves estimated as at December 31, 2007 using constant prices and 
costs; and

(ii) the related estimated future net revenue.

An independent qualified reserves evaluator has evaluated the Corporation's reserves data.  The report of the 
independent qualified reserves evaluator is presented in Appendix E to the management information circular of 
Onefour Energy Ltd. dated September 29, 2008.

The board of directors of the Corporation has:

(a) reviewed the Corporation's procedures for providing information to the independent qualified reserves 
evaluator;

(b) met with the independent qualified reserves evaluator to determine whether any restrictions affected 
the ability of the independent qualified reserves evaluator to report without reservation; and

(c) reviewed the reserves data with management and the independent qualified reserves evaluator.

The board of directors has reviewed the Corporation's procedures for assembling and reporting other 
information associated with oil and gas activities and has reviewed that information with management.  The 
board of directors has approved:

(d) the content of the reserves data and other oil and gas information;

(e) the report of the independent qualified reserves evaluator on the reserves data; and

(f) the content of this report.

Because the reserves data are based on judgments regarding future events, actual results will vary and the 
variations may be material.

September 29, 2008

(signed) "Barry Borak"
Name: Barry Borak
Title:  Director and Acting President 

(signed) "Rick D'Angelo"
Name: Rick D'Angelo
Title: Director

(signed) "Lane McKay"
Name: Lane McKay
Title: Director

(signed) "Eric L. Schnur"
Name:
Title:



B-6




